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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 15 OCTOBER 2020  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Myburgh ,  good  

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Good morn ing  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  see  tha t  somebody has dec ided I  shou ld  

have no bund les  here  –  I  shou ld  have no f i le  here .   Good  

morn ing  Mr  Todd  thank you fo r  coming to  the  commiss ion  

and to  ass i s t  i t .  

MR TODD:   Thank you Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson  as  you know Mr  Todd is  10 

our  next  w i tness.   He w i l l  g ive  ev idence in  re la t ion  to  Mr  

Gama’s  re ins ta tement .   H is  a f f idav i t s  a re  conta ined as  

Exh ib i t  BB17 in  Bund le  3  and he w i l l  a lso  g ive  ev idence by  

cross- re fer r i ng  to  documents  conta ined in  Bund les  1  and 2  

s im i la r  to  what  Mr  Mapoma d id .  

 Exh ib i t  BB17 you w i l l  see  conta ins  fou r  a f f idav i t s  

17 .1  th rough to  17 .4 .   17 .3  and 17 .4  dea l  w i th  GNS which  

we are  no t  go ing  to  dea l  w i th  now.   I  w i l l  a f te r  the  w i tness ’ 

has taken the  oa th  ask  h im to  conf i rm tha t  17 .1  and 17.2  

are  h i s  a f f idav i t s  and then I  wou ld  ask  you to  admi t  them 20 

fo rmer l y  as  exh ib i t s .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes p lease admin is te r  the  oa th  or  

a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR TODD:   Chr i s topher  Franc is  Nea le  Todd.  
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REGISTRAR:   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  

MR TODD:   No I  do  no t .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  to  be  b ind ing  on  

your  consc ience?  

MR TODD:   Yes I  do .  

REGISTRAR:   Do  you swear  tha t  the  ev idence you w i l l  g ive  

w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  e l se  bu t  the 

t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra i se  your  r igh t  hand and say,  so  he lp  

me God.  10 

MR TODD:   So  he lp  me God.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I f  I  hear  tha t  no ise  coming f rom there  you  

w i l l  be  k icked ou t .   I f  I  hear  tha t  no ise  aga in  you  w i l l  be  

k icked out .   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Cha i rperson.   Mr  Todd you 

have in  f ron t  o f  you Bund le  3  cou ld  I  ask  you to  tu rn  to  

Exh ib i t  BB17 and  to  page 47.  

MR TODD:   I  have i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You conf i rm tha t  tha t  i s  an  a f f idav i t  o f  

yours?  20 

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And may I  ask  you then to  tu rn  to  the  

end o f  tha t  a f f idav i t  wh ich  you f ind  a t  page 64.  

MR TODD:   Yes  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I s  tha t  your  s ignature  and do you  
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con f i rm tha t  you deposed to  th is  a f f idav i t  under  oa th  on  the  

14  Ju ly  2020?  

MR TODD:   I  con f i rm tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Todd  you wou ld  know tha t  

a t tached to  your  a f f idav i t  i s  a  ser ies  o f  annexures runn ing  

f rom Annexure  A to  8 .   Annexure  A you f ind  a t  page 65.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And the  end o f  Annexure  8  you f ind  a t  

page 155 you con f i rm tha t?  

MR TODD:   Yes I  conf i rm tha t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A to  H.  

MR TODD:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   End o f  H is  a t  155.  

MR TODD:   Cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then i f  I  cou ld  take  you p lease to  

page 156 do you conf i rm tha t  is  a  fu r ther  a f f idav i t  o f  

yours?  

MR TODD:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cou ld  you then p lease go to  the  end  

o f  tha t  a f f idav i t  wh ich  you f ind  a t  page 167 conf i rm tha t  20 

you deposed to  th is  a f f idav i t  under  oa th  on  the  29  

September  2020?  

MR TODD:   Yes I  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Th is  a f f idav i t  a lso  has a  ser ies  o f  

annexures f rom page F conf i rm tha t  those annexures 
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commence a t  page 168 as  A and Annexure  F ends a t  page  

485.  

MR TODD:   That  i s  co r rec t .   You w i l l  apprec ia te  I  have not  

been th rough the  bund le  th is  morn ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja .  

MR TODD:   But  I  conf i rm tha t  –  those a re  the  annexures to  

my a f f idav i t  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  ends a t  485 immedia te ly  be fore  

your  next  a f f idav i t .  

MR TODD:   Cor rec t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Cha i rpe rson we wou ld  t hen ask  

tha t  you admi t  Mr  Todd ’s  a f f idav i t  o f  the  14  Ju l y  2020 as  

Exh ib i t  BB17.1  and h is  a f f idav i t  o f  the  29  September.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay –  okay le t  us  dea l  w i th  one a t  a  

t ime.   The one you have jus t  asked me to  admi t  i s  i t  the 

one s tar t ing  a t  page 47?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  i s  cor rec t  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   As  Exh ib i t ?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   17  –  BB17.1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Chr is topher  Franc i s  Nea le  Todd ’s  20 

a f f idav i t  s ta r t ing  a t  page 47 is  admi t ted  and w i l l  be  marked 

as  Exh ib i t  BB17.1 .   Okay then we can go to  the  next  one.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The next  a f f idav i t  deposed to  on  29  

September  2020 Mr  Cha i rperson you w i l l  f ind  a t  page 156.  

CHAIRPERSON:   156.   And tha t  one I  –  you wan t  me to 
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admi t  i t  as  Exh ib i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   BB17.2 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   BB17.2 .   The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Chr i s topher  

Franc i s  Nea le  Todd s ta r t ing  a t  page 156 is  admi t ted  and 

w i l l  be  marked as  Exh ib i t  BB17.2 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Cha i rperson.   Mr  Todd le t  

us  then s ta r t  w i th  your  f i rs t  a ff idav i t  a t  page 47.   From 

which  f i rm o f  a t to rneys are  you and what  pos i t ion  do  you 

ho ld  the re?  

MR TODD:   I  ho ld  the  pos i t ion  o f  D i rec tor  somet imes 10 

re fer red  to  as  a  par tne r  o f  the  f i rm Bowman Gi l f i l an .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you deposed to  th is  a f f idav i t  you  

dea l  w i th  th is  a t  parag raph 3 .   What  i s  the  pu rpose  or  was 

the  purpose o f  depos ing  to  th is  a f f idav i t?  

MR TODD:   I t  was in  response to  a  request  by  the  

commiss ion  to  ass i s t  w i th  in fo rmat ion  tha t  I  had persona l  

knowledge o f  concern ing  the  mat te rs  dea l t  w i th  in  the  

le t te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We then fo l low the  chrono logy o f  

events  in  re la t ion  to  your  invo lvement  and the  invo lvement  20 

o f  Bowman Gi l f i l an .   When was  Bowman Gi l f i l lan  f i rs t  

ins t ruc ted  in  the  mat te r  re la t ing  to  Mr  Gama? 

MR TODD:   So  tha t  was in  May 2009.   We were  no t  the  

f i rs t  f i rm to  have g iven adv ise  in  re la t ion  to  the  mat te r  and  

–  bu t  some pr io r  adv ice  had been obta ined by  members o f  
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the  board  f rom another  f i rm wh ich  had recommended tha t  

d isc ip l ina ry  proceed ings be  proceeded w i th  aga ins t  Mr  

Gama.    

And when the  board  members  then passed tha t  

mat te r  on to  the  then ac t ing  Ch ie f  Execut ive  who was Mr  

Wel l s  the  ac t ing  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  he  dec ided tha t  he  

wou ld  proceed w i th  the  benef i t  o f  lega l  adv i ce  h imse l f  and 

he –  we were  then ins t ruc ted  not  spec i f i ca l l y  by  Mr  Wel l s  

he  in  tu rn  engaged another  execut ive  Mr  Mahara j  he  was 

the  person u l t imate ly  respons ib le  fo r  Human Resources  10 

w i th in  the  group.    

And we were  then engaged in  May 2009 to  adv i se  

in i t ia l l y  on  the  quest ion  whether  o r  no t  we agreed tha t  

there  was a  proper  bas is  fo r  the  –  fo r  Transnet  to  take  

d isc ip l ina ry  s teps  aga ins t  Mr  Gama.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now you  were  a t  a l l  t imes the  

a t to rney tha t  was then respons ib le  fo r  g iv ing  adv ice  and 

render ing  lega l  ass i s tance to  Transnet  in  th is  mat te r?  

MR TODD:   Yes I  was.   I  –  somet imes you re fer  to  tha t  as  a  

lead par tner  o r  lead a t to rneys.   There  were  o ther  a t to rneys 20 

invo l ved a t  d i f fe ren t  t imes and Counse l  was br ie fed  bu t  I  

remained the  pe rson respons ib le  fo r  adv is ing  Transnet .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And th roughout  the  t ime tha t  you 

dea l t  w i th  th is  ma t te r  Mr  Todd who rep resented Mr  Gama? 

MR TODD:   An  a t to rney by  the  name o f  Themba Langa and  
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h is  f i rm was Themba Langa A t to rneys.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A t  paragraph 7  o f  your  a f f idav i t  you 

dea l  w i th  the  fac t  tha t  a f te r  Transnet  had ins t i tu ted  

d isc ip l ina ry  proceed ings aga ins t  Mr  Gama and on  the  10  

September  2009 he approached the  h igh  cour t?  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  –  what  d id  tha t  l i t i ga t ion 

invo l ve?  

MR TODD:   Once d isc ip l ina ry  proceed ings were  fo rmal ly  

ins t i tu ted  and there  were  some –  there  were  some p r io r  10 

s teps.   In  fac t  what  Mr  Wel ls  in i t ia l l y  d id  was engaged w i th  

Mr  Gama on a  re la t i ve l y  in fo rmal  bas is  and then a lso  se t  

ou t  in  a  de ta i led  wr i t ten  le t te r  what  the  issues were  and  

inv i ted  h im to  respond.   And the  purpose o f  tha t  be fore  

d isc ip l ina ry  proceed ing  proceeded fo rmal ly  was in  fac t  to  

es tab l i sh  whethe r  Mr  Gama was o f  a  m ind to  ag ree tha t  

there  had been ser ious p rob lems and tha t  he  wou ld  commi t  

to  work ing  to  reso lve  them.    

Maybe he sa id  he  had ag reed tha t  he  had been 

neg l igent  o r  tha t  –  a  cont rac t  had been entered in to  20 

i r regu lar l y  and tha t  he  wou ld  work  to  reso lve  i t .   In  fac t  

un for tunate l y  Mr  Gama took the  v iew tha t  mere ly  hav ing  

those a l legat ions  ra ised w i th  h im was ind ica t ive  o f  an  

u l te r io r  pu rpose be ing  pursued by  Transnet  and i t s  g roup  

execut ives .    
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And so  tha t  –  tha t  a t tempt  to  engage on the  

d isc ip l ina ry  mat te rs  in  a  more  in fo rmal  manner  d id  no t  

succeed and a  dec i s ion  was then  taken to  –  to  fo rmal ly  

ins t i tu te  d isc ip l inary  p roceed ings aga ins t  Mr  Gama.   And 

the  h igh  cour t  p roceed ings were  e f fec t i ve ly  a  consequence  

o f  Mr  Gama’s  be l ie f  a t  the  t ime tha t  there  was no mer i t  in  

any concerns about  h i s  conduc t  and tha t  the  fac t  o f  

b r ing ing  d isc ip l inary  compla in ts  aga ins t  h im was ind ica t ive  

o f  a  consp i racy  aga ins t  h im be ing  –  and the  language 

became qu i te  f lo r id .    10 

There  was a  caba l  w i th in  Transne t  tha t  was in ten t  

on  undermin ing  h is  asp i ra t ions  to  become the  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive .   That  was in  essence the  th rus t  o f  h is  

app l i ca t ion  to  the  h igh  cour t  and he asked to  e f fec t i ve ly  –  

he  a l so  sought  to  cha l lenge the  au thor i t y  o f  Mr  Mahara j  

who had fo rmal l y  i ssued the  d isc ip l inary  charge sheet  o r  

ins t i tu ted  proceed ings.    

But  the  pr imary  t h rus t  o f  h is  compla in t  in  the  h igh  

cour t  was tha t  there  no  under ly ing  mer i t  in  concerns about  

h is  conduct  and tha t  i t  was par t  o f  a  –  there  was  u l te r io r  20 

purpose.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  Mr  Myburgh can I  take  one s tep  

back?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   O f  course  we know tha t  you know 
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d isc ip l ina ry  mat te rs  and unfa i r  d i smissa l  mat te rs  because 

you w i l l  dea l  w i th  tha t  a t  some s tage.   They fa l l  w i th in  the  

f ie ld  o f  labour  law.   How long have you been an a t to rney? 

MR TODD:   A round 25 years .  

CHAIRPERSON:   About  25  years .  

MR TODD:   Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And labour  law do you spec ia l i se  in  

labour  law?  

MR TODD:   Yes Cha i rperson th roughout  tha t  per iod  I  

p rac t iced th is .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   You prac t iced labour  law? 

MR TODD:   A spec ia l i s t  –  I  mean one evo lves and some o f  

the  work  I  do  wou ld  no t  be  character ised as  so le l y  labour  

law.   Many board  conf l i c ts  invo lve  company law and o ther  

a reas o f  law but  essent ia l l y  I  have  been a  spec ia l i s t  and a  

recogn ised spec ia l i s t  w i th in  ou r  f i rm fo r  25  years .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  happen to  know tha t  you have 

ac ted  as  a  Judge in  the  labour  cour t  as  we l l  I  th ink  a  

number  o f  t imes.   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR TODD:   That  –  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   So the  f ie ld  o f  labour  law,  un fa i r  

d ismissa ls ,  d isc ip l inary  hear ings  is  someth ing  tha t  fa l l s  

w i th in  your  spec ia l i t y  as  a  labour  law spec ia l i s t?  

MR TODD:   That  i s  so  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay.   Thank you.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Perhaps to  add  to  that  

have you pub l i shed ar t i c l es  in  books in  labour  law Mr  

Todd?  

MR TODD:   Yes I  have Cha i rpe rson .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Wel l  I  thought  tha t  you know you 

might  no t  have wanted a l l  o f  these th ings to  come out  

about  you but  i t  i s  impor tan t  fo r  –  fo r  your  ev idence to  

everyone to  know tha t  Transnet  had the  benef i t  a  spec ia l i s t  

in  labour  law –  had the  benef i t  o f  the  serv ices  o f  a  

spec ia l i s t  in  labour  law.   Ja  okay.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Todd jus t  dea l ing  w i th  the  h igh  

cour t  l i t i ga t ion .   Who were  the  respondents  in  tha t  

l i t i ga t ion?  

MR TODD:   Wel l  i t  was a  l i t t le  unusua l  fo r  me –  I  do  no t  –  

i t  may have been  a  f i rs t .   No i t  ac tua l l y  was not  the  f i rs t  i t  

does happen occas iona l l y  tha t  a  person d issa t is f i ed  w i th  

ac t ion  be ing  taken by  the  company seeks to  iden t i f y  and  

jo in  ind iv idua l  board  members  to  the  l i t iga t ion .    

I t  i s  –  ja  –  i t  does happen but  i t  i s  unusua l  because 

there  –  the  board  e f fec t i ve l y  make dec is ions on  beha l f  o f  20 

the  company.   They represent  the  company.  When they  

take  dec i s ions they do  not  do  so  in  the i r  persona l  capac i ty.  

But  Mr  Gama because o f  h is  be l ie f  in  a consp i racy  

obv ious ly  t hough t  and h is  lawyers  perhaps adv ised h im  

tha t  i t  was appropr ia te  to  jo in  a l l  o f  the  ind iv idua l  d i rec tors  
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to  the  l i t iga t ion  as  we l l  and they  in  tu rn  chose –  in  fac t  

they were  no t  in i t ia t ing  proceed ings aga ins t  Mr  Gama the  

ind iv idua l .    

They had –  they are  the  cont ro l l ing  m ind o f  the  

company but  the  proceed ings were  be ing  managed  by  the  

execut ive .   Never the less  board  members  were  jo ined and 

they sought  separa te  lega l  adv i ce  in  those proceed ings 

and sought  to  be  represented separa te l y  wh ich  in  fac t  

occu r red .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  who d id  Bowman… 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   What  –  I  am so r ry.   What  was the  bas i s  

advanced in  Mr  Gama’s  app l i ca t ion  fo r  s igh t ing  the  

ind iv idua l  d i rec to rs?   I f  you  are  ab le  to  remember.  

MR TODD:   Ja  Cha i rperson I  do  no t  remember  what  he  sa id  

and I  have not  recent ly  read those  papers .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MR TODD:   Bu t  I  have a lways be l ieved s ince  then tha t  tha t  

i s  a  m is jo inder  an  inappropr ia te .   There  was no –  there  

were  no  grounds to  ident i f y  conduct  by  ind iv idua l  d i rec tors .   

But  in  essence  i t  was par t  o f  the  a tmosphere  o f  the 20 

compla in t  a t  the  t ime was tha t  Mr  Gama be l ieved tha t  he  

was the  v ic t im o f  a  consp i racy  and Cha i rperson there  –  

some l i t igants  use tha t  m isch ievous ly  to  seek to  d iv ide  a  

board  and to  seek to  open up d i f fe rences in  a  board  by  and  

seek ing  to  ge t  board  members  to  come out  on  a f f idav i t  
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say ing  where  they s tand in  re la t ion  to  the  mat te r.    

But  p roper ly  speak ing  a l though i t  had served a t  the  

board  because a  board  sub-commi t tee  had had to  dec ide  

how to  dea l  w i th  on  the  one hand a  –  a  compla in t  tha t  had 

or ig ina l l y  come th rough.    

I  th ink  the  Pub l i c  Serv i ce  Commiss ion  v ia  the  then  

Min is te r  concern ing  locomot ives  and a  second compla in t  

had been a  wh is t leb lowing compla in t  tha t  had come 

th rough to  the  then Ch ie f  Execut i ve  who was leav ing .   A 

board  sub-commi t tee  had had to  dec ide  what  to  do ;  had  10 

sought  lega l  adv ice  and they had  then de legated tha t  as  

they shou ld  have  to the  person then ac t ing  as  the  Group  

Execut ive .    

I t  was rea l l y  a  company mat te r  no t  a  board  – no t  a  

mat te r  fo r  ind iv idua l  board  members  to  be  s ing led  ou t .   So 

I  cannot  –  I  do  no t  reca l l  exact ly  why Mr  Gama d id  i t  bu t  in  

the  c i r cumstances where  I  have seen i t  done I  am a f ra id  to  

say tha t  i t  usua l l y  rep resents  e i ther  a  de l ibe ra te  s t ra tagem 

to  undermine the  un i ty  o f  the  board  or  pe rhaps i t  i s  –  i t  to  

be  –  to  look  a t  i t  more  fa i r l y  pe rhaps a  genu ine  be l ie f  tha t  20 

ac tua l l y  board  members  wou ld  no t  agree w i th  o r  t o le ra te  

some so r t  o f  abuse tha t  i s  happen ing  and the  person who  

is  b r ing ing  the  case is  somehow seek ing  to  e leva te  i t  to  the 

a t ten t ion  o f  board  members .    

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Thank you.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Todd who d id  Bowman Gi l f i l an 

rep resent  in  tha t  h igh  cour t  app l i ca t ion?  

MR TODD:   We represented the  company Transnet .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And who rep resented the  d i rec tors?  

MR TODD:   The f i rm a t  tha t  t ime was known as Eversheds.   

They were  a  –  I  do  no t  reca l l  i f  they  are  s t i l l  ex i s t  in  the 

same shape o r  fo rm but  i t  was a  f i rm –  ja  I  th ink  i t  had 

prev ious l y  been Rout ledge Modise  and i t  was a t  tha t  t ime 

ca l led  Eversheds.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what  was the  resu l t  o f  th is  10 

l i t iga t ion?  

MR TODD:   The h igh  cour t  d id  no t  agree w i th  Mr  Gama’s  

content ions and d ismissed the  app l i ca t ion  and i t  d ismissed 

i t  w i th  costs  tha t  becomes a  re levant  cons idera t ion  la te r  

on .   In  l i t i ga t ion  o f  th is  k ind  there  is  a lways an oppor tun i ty  

fo r  the  h igh  cour t  to  perhaps i t  has  no t  h is to r ica l l y  done so  

bu t  in  some c i r cumstances i t  m igh t  say  I  am go ing  to  o rder  

l im i ted  costs  o r  f ind  tha t  I  shou ld  be  care fu l  o r  o rder  on l y  

par t ia l  cos t s  o r  someth ing  o f  tha t  na ture  bu t  in  th is  case 

the  cour t  was sa t is f ied  tha t  Mr  –  tha t  the  case shou ld  be  20 

d ismissed w i th  costs  on  bo th  s ides inc lud ing  the  costs  o f  

sen ior  counse l  on  bo th  s ides.   That  was a  re f lec t ion  o f  the  

cour t ’s  approach to  the  l i t iga t ion  and in  fac t  Mr  Gama d id  

app ly  fo r  Leave to  Appea l  bu t  tha t  was re fused.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cou ld  I… 
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CHAIRPERSON:   D id  –  was the  pos i t ion  tha t  Transnet  

opposed tha t  app l i ca t ion  and f i led  papers  to  oppose i t  as  

we l l  as  the  ind i v idua l  d i rec tors  o f  the  –  o f  Transnet  they 

a lso  f i led  papers  and a l l  opposed or  maybe some ab ided or  

some agreed w i th  Mr  Gama or  what  i s  you r  reco l lec t ion?  

MR TODD:   My reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  i f  the  tac t i c  was to  open 

a  d iv is ion  i t  succeeded to  a  very  l im i ted  ex ten t .   Two  

d i rec tors  d id  descent  as  i t  were  or  separa te  themse lves  

ou t .   Not  in  tha t  they suppor ted  the  l i t iga t ion  bu t  they were  

–  they d i ssoc ia ted  themse lves f rom the  –  f rom the  genera l  10 

pos i t ion  tha t  the  board  had adopted in  the  mat te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   From oppos ing?  

MR TODD:   And Mr  Cha i rperson I  th ink  i t  i s  bare  say ing  i t  –  

when we come to  the  change in  the  board  compos i t ion  la te r  

–  when the  board  compos i t ion  was changed approx imate l y  

–  in  any event  shor t l y  a f te r  Mr  Gama was d ismissed those  

two d i rec tors  happened to  be  two o f  the  th ree  who were  

re ta ined on the  board .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.  

MR TODD:   Bu t  the  re levance tha t  one can dec ide .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.  

MR TODD:   But  i t  –  there  were  two d i rec tors  bu t  they d id  

no t  –  they d id  no t  jo in  o r  agree w i th  Mr  Gama’s  

content ions.   They s imp ly  d is  –  they d id  no t  jo in  in  the 

genera l  body o f  d i rec tors  who  were  rep resen ted by  
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Evershed.    

And my reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  the  d i rec tors  so  

rep resented d id  de l i ver  conf i rmatory  a f f idav i t s  bu t  the  main  

answer ing  a f f idav i t  fo r  d i rec tors  i f  my reco l lec t ions  serves 

me cor rec t ly  was  Mr  Phaswana or  who had been the  –  she 

was the  Cha i r  o f  the  board  a t  tha t  t ime and Pro fessor  

Ever ingham who  I  th ink  was e i ther  the  Deputy  Cha i r  bu t  

who had a lso  been invo lved.    

And the  main  reason fo r  them de l i ver ing  a f f idav i t s  

on  the  mer i t s  was tha t  Mr  Gama’s  content ion  was tha t  he  10 

was imminent ly  to  be  appo in ted  as  the  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive .   There  was an on-go ing  process a t  the  t ime to  

appo in t  a  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive .    

My reco l lec t ion  and I  d id  consu l t  w i th  Mr  Phaswana 

and o the rs  a t  the  t ime so  I  had some persona l  knowledge  

not  o f  the  recru i tment  p rocess bu t  in  the  a f f idav i t s  they 

made i t  very  c lear  tha t  they had not  cons ide red Mr  Gama 

su i tab le .   That  the  se lec t ion  commi t tee  had not  cons ide red  

Mr  Gama su i tab le  fo r  appo in tment  to  the  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive .    20 

I  th ink  they –  the i r  a f f idav i t  sa id  a t  th is  s tage they  

d id  no t  ru le  ou t  the  poss ib i l i t y  tha t  he  m ight  a t  some po in t  

in  the  fu tu re  bu t  they cer ta in ly  d id  no t  cons ider  h im  

su i tab le  a t  tha t  t ime.   And they had recommended a  

d i f fe ren t  cand ida te  to  be  appo in ted .    
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And so  i t  was impor tan t  fo r  the  consp i racy  theory  

fo r  them to  say th is  i s  no t  a  case where  Mr  Gama i s  about  

to  be  appo in ted  or  soon to  be  appo in ted  as  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  and somehow th is  –  these d i sc ip l inary  mat te rs  

have been used to  run  in te r fe rence.   And he sa id  –  so  –  

they de l i vered a f f idav i t s  wh ich  e f fec t i ve l y  d isabused tha t  

idea.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  what  you have jus t  sa id  in  te rms o f  

what  the  pos i t ion  o f  the  board  was and what  Mr  Phaswana 

sa id  in  h i s  a f f idav i t  about  the  consp i racy  theory  i s  10 

cons is ten t  w i th  the  ev idence g i ven by  Ms Barbara  Hogan  

before  th is  commiss ion .  

MR TODD:   Yes Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   E i ther  ear l y  las t  year  o r  la te  2018 I  

cannot  remember.   I  th ink  ear ly  las t  year.   But  a lso  the  

commiss ion  t r ied  to  ge t  Mr  Phaswana las t  year  and we  

es tab l i shed tha t  o r  a t  leas t  I  was in fo rmed tha t  he  now 

l i ves  somewhere  e lse  no t  in  South  A f r i ca  bu t  v is i t s  South  

A f r i ca  f rom t ime to  t ime.    

We obta ined an a f f idav i t  f rom h im wi th  regard  to  the  20 

issue o f  Mr  Gama and the  d i sc ip l inary  hear ing  and h is  

a f f idav i t  and the  commiss ion  i s  in  possess ion  o f  h is  

a f f idav i t  and i t  i s  exact ly  to  tha t  e f fec t .   So I  thought  I  

wou ld  ment ion  to  you tha t  what  you say is  cons is ten t  w i th  

an  a f f idav i t  tha t  the  commiss ion  has ob ta ined f rom Mr  
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Phaswana.   

MR TODD:   Thank you Cha i rpe rson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you  Cha i rperson.   Mr  Todd  

perhaps I  cou ld  take  you to  the  judgment .   Cou ld  you 

p lease tu rn  to  Bund le  2  and to  page 142 now we a re  us ing  

the  b lack  numbers .    

MR TODD:   Yes have i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  you wou ld  have seen tha t  we 

downloaded th i s  judgment  o f f  Saf l i i .   Gama versus 

Transnet  L im i ted  handed down on the  7  October  2009.  10 

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   May I  take  you p lease to  page 161  

the  Cha i rperson  asked you about  the  quest ion  o f  

[00 :24 :58] .   You say tha t  you were  o f  the  v iew tha t  i t  was  

i r regu la r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Myburgh I  know tha t  I  th ink  your  vo i ce  

is  so f t  by  na ture .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes I  beg your  pardon.   I  am look ing  

down and not  [ ta lk ing  over  one another ] .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  keep on ask ing  you to  ra i se  i t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cer ta in ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Todd cou ld  we p lease go  to  page 

161.   The Judge dea ls  w i th  Sp i lg  J  dea ls  w i th  m is jo inder  a t  

parag raphs 116 and 117.    
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MR TODD:   Yes I  see he in  fac t  found there  was mis jo inder  

and he a l so  answered my quest ion  my reco l lec t ion  about  

two o f  the  d i rec tors  and he sa id  they d id  no t  oppose the  

app l i ca t ion .   He records tha t  the  10 t h  and 1 th  respondents  

d id  no t  oppose the  app l i ca t ion .   But  the  o ther  members  had 

done so .   Yes I  see tha t .   I  remember  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you w i l l  see  then a t  paragraph 

119 under  h is  conc lus ion .   He say:  

“ I  a lso  f ind  the re  has been an impermiss ib le  

jo inder  o f  the  5 t h  to  13 t h  respondents  s ince  10 

the  10 t h  and 11 t h  respondents  have not  

opposed the  app l i ca t ion  i t  i s  unnecessary  to  

dea l  w i th  any costs  i ssue in  re la t ion  to  

them. ”  

And then a t  paragraph 121 the  cour t  dea ls  w i th  cos ts :  

“The app l i ca t ion  is  d ismissed w i th  costs  

inc lud ing  the  costs  o f  the  1s t  to  3 r d  

respondents  and the  4 t h  to  13 t h  respondents  

exc lud ing  the  10 t h  and 11 t h .   Such  costs  to  

inc lude the  costs  o f  two counse l . ”  20 

And then perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  ask  you to  conf i rm a t  page  

163 there  we see  tha t  Mr  Gama was represented by  Langa 

A t to rneys.   The 1 s t  to  3 r d  respondents  by  Bowman Gi l f i l an  

A t to rneys and the  ba lance by  Eversheds as  you have sa id .  

MR TODD:   Yes.   But  there  was one o ther  s l igh t ly  unusua l  
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th ing  bu t  aga in  i t  –  i t  seems to  me tha t  i t  was a  tac t i ca l  

mat te r  o r  maybe i t  was because he be l ieved i t  app ropr ia te  

i s  tha t  in  fac t  Mr  Wel l s  and Mr  Mahara j  were  a l so  jo ined –  

they are  my reco l lec t ion  is  they were  response –  

respondent  1  was  Transnet  2  and 3  where in  fac t  the  ac t ing  

Ch ie f  Execut ive  and the  Execut ive  seek ing  to  car ry  ou t  the  

d isc ip l ine .   And tha t  a lso  be ing  jo ined in  the i r  persona l  

capac i t ies  in  the  manner  wh ich  I  thought  was unusua l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  we then go back to  your  f i rs t  

a f f idav i t  and we are  go ing  to  o f  course  come to  the  de ta i l  10 

o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing .   Perhaps I  can d i rec t  your  

a t ten t ion  to  paragraph 8  o f  your  f i rs t  a f f idav i t  a t  page 48 o f  

Bund le  3 .   You say tha t :  

“A f te r  the  h igh  cour t  p roceed ings  

d isc ip l ina ry  p roceed ings then took p lace. ”  

Who was the  cha i rpe rson o f  those proceed ings?  

MR TODD:   Yes  sen ior  counse l  a t  the  Johannesburg  Bar  

Advocate  Mark  Ant robus and I  shou ld  jus t  ment ion  there  

there  was some wrang l ing  la te r  about  whether  and  in  fac t  

qu i te  s t range ly  to  me Mr  Gama la te r  contented i t  had been 20 

unfa i r  tha t  we  d id  no t  run  th i s  as  an  a rb i t ra t ion  on ly  as  a  

d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing .    

I  have never  unders tood how tha t  cou ld  be  unfa i r  to  

a  person who e f fec t i ve l y  i s  g iven a  second b i te  a t  the 

cher ry  be ing  ab le  to  cha l lenge the  fa i rness o f  the  ou tcome.   
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Bu t  anyway the  po in t  was when  we were  a t tempt ing  to  

conduct  an  a rb i t ra t ion  process Advocate  Ant robus had  

been one o f  the  arb i t ra to rs  p roposed by  Langa A t to rneys 

on  beha l f  o f  Mr  Gama.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And we might  come to  tha t  in  a  l i t t le  

b i t  more  de ta i l  in  t ime but  dur ing  the  course  o f  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  proceed ings you say a t  parag raph 8  tha t  bo th  

par t ies  were  represented by  sen ior  counse l ,  i s  tha t  so?  

MR TODD:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You then go on to  p rov ide  a 10 

thumbna i l  ske tch  o f  what  was found and as  I  say  we w i l l  

come to  the  de ta i l  in  a  moment  bu t  what  was the  

conc lus ion  then o f  these d isc ip l ina ry  proceed ings?  

MR TODD:   Mr  Gama was found  gu i l t y  o f  m isconduct  in  

respect  o f  th ree  –  le t  us  ca l l  i t  the  th ree  main  charges.   I  

do  no t  ac tua l l y  reca l l  bu t  I  reca l l  the  cha i rperson –  we d id  

no t  s t rong ly  pers is t  w i th  a  four th  charge on the  grounds i t  

was abandoned but  i t  rea l l y  was anc i l la ry  to  the  o ther  –  to  

the  main  th ree  charges and then there  was a  sanct ion  a f te r  

the  hear ing .    20 

In  o ther  words a f te r  the  cha i rpe rson in  a  ra ther  leng thy  200 

page f ind ing  found tha t  Mr  Gama was gu i l t y  on  those th ree  

–  o f  those th ree  charges.   There  was then a  sanct ion  

process what  was  the  appropr ia te  sanct ion?  In  tha t  par t  o f  

the  hear ing  Mr  Gama chose not  to  g ive  ev idence in  
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m i t iga t ion  o f  sanct ion ,  and he elected to del iver wri t ten 

representat ion in re lat ion to sanct ion which he did and those 

were considered by the chai rperson.  

 And then he wrote a f inding on sanct ion and his  f inding 

on sanct ion was that  the appropria te sanct ion in respect  of  

each of  the three charges taken individual ly was d ismissal  

and he then made that  log ical  point ,  that  taken 

accumulat ively,  even more so.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  i t  is important  of . . .  i t  is important  to 

make sure those who are l istening know exact ly what the 10 

charges were or what the conduct  was that  he was found 

gui l ty of  that  was said to unacceptable conduct .  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So i f  we can cover that .   So.   Part icular ly,  

because later on i t  becomes important .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    To say why was the conduct  wi th which he 

was. . .  misconduct  wi th which he was found gui l ty,  so ser ious 

as to just i fy dismissal .   So that  is important  i f  we can deal  

wi th that .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Would you l ike us to  deal  wi th i t  now 

Chairperson?  I  tend to come to i t  in a moment when 

introducing Mr Todd’s report  where he then deals wi th i t ,  you 

know, in much detai l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay i f  i t  is not  going to be too far away 
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f rom now, that  would be f ine.   I t  is just  that ,  I  am thinking 

people who are l istening,  they say:   Wel l ,  we hear the 

sanct ion was dismissal  but  we do not  know what  he was 

gui l ty of ,  you know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  perhaps I  can take Mr Todd 

to h is report  so that  he can highl ight  that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then he can come back to the 

report  in more detai l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  that  is f ine.   That  is f ine.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Todd, i f  we could then fast  

forward?  I f  I  could you take you please to page 65 of  

Bundle 3.   We are going to come to this report  that  you 

provided to Transnet and Deneys Rei tz on the 2n d of  

February,  i t  being Annexure A to your aff idavi t .    

 You know that  in th is report  you deal  wi th  the f indings of  

gui l ty made by Mr Ant robus.   And perhaps I  can take you to  

page 74 where you summarised those key f indings.  

 And then to answer the Chai rperson’s quest ions,  i t  wi l l  

be apparent  f rom that  what precisely the charges were.  20 

MR TODD :    Yes.   Maybe, Chairperson I  can just  before 

referr ing to at  your  f indings,  just  descr ibe what the issues 

were.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  ja.  

MR TODD :    Ja.   The f i rst  in t ime complaint  that  had ar isen 



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 25 of 224 
 

and had ar isen Chairperson,  in i t ia l ly being referred as a 

complaint  to the Publ ic Services Commission or  a body 

outside of  Transnet and being routed through the then 

Minister Alex I rwin.    

 He was the then Minister of  Publ ic  Enterpr ises and he 

referred i t  to the Transnet Board to invest igate i t .   

Concerned a contract  for the. . .  effect ive ly to refurbish 

locomot ives and i t  became known as the Fi f ty-Like-New 

contract .  

 Meaning i t  was a cont ract  for the acquisi t ion of  50 10 

locomot ives,  t ra in  locomot ives.   And rather than buying a 

brand new locomot ives,  they were going to be refurb ishing 

and therefore sl ight ly,  I  th ink,  more cost -effect ively,  i t  was 

hoped.   

CHAIRPERSON :    So the idea being,  they are not  new but  

they are l ike new.  

MR TODD :    L ike new.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]    

MR TODD :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .  20 

MR TODD :    And the issue that  had ar isen there was that  the 

source of  the locomot ives was the or ig inal  manufacturers 

abroad but  the refurbishment would requi re signi f icant  

assemble work in South Af r ica.    

 And the proposal  that  had or ig inal ly been taken to the 
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board was,  that  there would be an ent i ty in South Afr ica 

outside of  Transnet that  would become involved in the 

assembly of  these locomot ives.    

 And there was a whole d iscussion at  the board at  the 

t ime which said:   We do not  want  to  create a new middleman,  

for want of  a bet ter word,  or a new ent i ty that  we cannot hold 

accountable.   We want to cont ract  di rect ly wi th the or ig inal  

manufacturer so that  that  is c lear and nobody can say:   Oh, 

i t  is somebody else’s faul t .    

 And the second important  th ing was,  they said:   We can 10 

do this assemble work ourselves.   But  what was then cal led 

Transnet Rai l  Engineering.    

 Transnet has i ts own engineer  d iv is ion in workshops in 

var ious places.   And i t  was very important  to the board that  

actual ly i t  ut i l ise i ts own and bui ld and extended i ts own 

product ive capaci ty.    

 And so there was. . .  when that  contract  was approved 

and i t  was roundabout R 800 mi l l ion contract .   When i t  was 

approved by the board,  a part icular condi t ion af ter  th is point  

was discussed and there was st rong. . .  Mr Gama’s. . .  the 20 

Transnet,  the team.. .   

 The Freight  Rai l  Team were proposing a st ructure which 

the board pushed back against  i t  and said:   We do not  want 

that .   We want th is manufacture work to  be done within 

Transnet Road Engineering.    
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 And what then happened was that  Mr Gama effect ively  

concluded a cont ract  and i t  was implemented on the other 

basis that  that  th is ent i ty,  STS which was then a jo int  

venture wi th an overseas manufacturer,  set  up i ts own 

manufactur ing operat ion at  old Iscor premises and exact ly  

what the board did not  want to happen then happened.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes,  yes.  

MR TODD :    And i t  happened.. .  that  involved corrupt ion.   I  

say that  qu i te  simply because the project  manger wi thin. . .  

under Mr Gama, he was responsible for execut ion.    10 

 Yet  i t  turned out  had a personal  in terest  or he and his  

wi fe had a personal  interest  in  th is ent i ty which was being 

set  up to manufacture in compet i t ion or in  paral le l  to 

Transnet. . .  oh,  to assemble in paral le l  to  Transnet ’s own 

operat ions.    

 And so that  was c lear ly. . .  and he was dismissed for that  

reason.   But  the accountabi l i ty for  Mr Gama came because 

the point  was:   We discussed this,  Mr Gama.   

 And we speci f ical ly said i t  must  not  happen l ike that  and 

yet  i t  happens l ike that .   You concluded a cont ract  on that  20 

basis which undermined the company’s interest .    

 And Transnet,  in  fact ,  had to  go to great  lengths to  

dismant le the contractual  arrangements.   They then had to 

compensate this th i rd party for the costs i t  had incurred in 

set t ing up i ts own assembly faci l i t ies and so on.    
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 So i t  had very signi f icant  consequences and Mr Gama’s 

ro le  was regarded by the board as having fai led in  his  

responsibi l i ty to  conclude the cont racts and oversee 

execut ion consistent  wi th the board ’s resolut ion.   So that  

was the locomot ive cont ract .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Before you go to the other  one.   I  

just  want to say.   I  am grateful  that  you have decided this  

informat ion because i t  is qui te important  in regard to what 

were the facts,  what was happening.    

 So in regard that  t ransact ion,  because there was a 10 

charge l inked to i t ,  the idea was s imply that  Mr Gama and 

his team had been told in speci f ic terms by the board that :   

When you do this t ransact ion,  you must  use a Transnet  

faci l i ty and not  an outside service provider.   And he went  

against  that .  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And used an outside ent i ty instead of  

using an internal  Transnet faci l i ty.  

MR TODD :    Yes,  that  is correct .   Chai r,  and Mr Gama said:   

Oh, I . . .  a l l  the documents are a bi t . . .  I  d id not . . .   20 

 The lawyers were responsible for  the legal  documents 

which faci l i tated this and my project  manager was 

responsible for the implementat ion.    

 But  ul t imately the board and the chai rperson said those 

are not  good explanat ions to defer  a responsibi l i ty.   You 
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knew the issue.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    I t  had been speci f ica l ly discussed.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    And i t  was under your  di rect  author i ty,  both to  

sign the contract  and to see that  under your. . .  that  your  

management team execute i t  accordingly.   And this was a 

complete deviat ion which was exact ly what the boar had said 

must  not  happen.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  And he was CEO of  TFR.  10 

MR TODD :    CEO of  Transnet  Freight  Rai l ,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay al r ight .   Then the next  one? 

MR TODD :    The second charge Chai rperson related to  

another procurement t ransact ion.   This t ime I  th ink there is 

no doubt that  i t  was. . .  i t  can be character ised as a 

f raudulent . . .  exact ly what words you use to descr ibe but  i t  is 

highly i r regular.  

 A procurement contract  under which Transnet Freight  

Rai l  engaged secur i ty  services f rom a contractor who at  the 

t ime, an ent i ty at  the t ime was known as Genera l  Nyanda 20 

Securi ty or GNS.   

 The i r regular i ty was stock.   The manner in which this 

contract  was entered into.    

 Because everybody agreed,  inc luding Mr Gama, that  th is 

kind of  contract  should only be engaged on an open publ ic 
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tender process because there are many securi ty companies 

out  there who can do the work.    

 And in fact ,  Mr Gama himsel f  had speci f ical ly instructed 

his team af ter approving an ear l ier,  what is cal led a 

conf inement,  to a single service provider and a year  ear l ier 

had said this must  not  cont inue.    

 We need a publ ic tender process.   And the publ ic tender 

process was underway to appoint  a securi ty provider.   And 

in. . .  i t  was in i t ia l ly 11 contractors had put  in thei r  b ids for  

serv ices.    10 

 That  had been whi t t led down to four  who were the sor t  of  

four in the running for serv ice providers who were in the 

running for th is contract .    

 None of  those were general ly under securi ty.   I t  was not  

on the scene.  I t  was not  in the publ ic procurement process 

and i t  was not  one of  the four,  you could refer to a 

short l isted bidders.    

 What then happened.  For some reason that  no one was 

ever  able to  give a sensible explanat ion for.   That  process 

was terminated.    20 

 The explanat ion that  was given by off ic ia ls in Transnet 

Freight  Rai l  Securi ty was that  one of  those four had been 

appointed on a d i f ferent  cont ract  wi th Transnet in the inter im 

and therefore was now disqual i f ied f rom winning this  

contract .    
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 Nobody could real ly explain why winning another  

contract  would disqual i fy  f rom this contract  but  most  

obviously,  assuming they were disqual i f ied,  i t  d id not  prevent  

the procurement process f rom cont inuing wi th the other three 

short l isted bidders.    

 So nobody ever gave a rat ional  explanat ion for why that  

process was stopped.  But  what is apparent  f rom the 

sequence of  events wi thin almost  at  the same t ime that  i t  

was stopped, General  Nyanda Secur i ty  made an unsol ic i ted 

pi tch.  10 

 And there were var ious documents on the computers of  

the Transnet  off ic ia ls managing this whole procurement 

process which showed that  they were actual ly  helping 

General  Nyanda Securi ty to  draf t  their  submission to 

Transnet.    

 And they then made a submission to say,  and this was in  

September/October  2007.   And General  Nyanda Securi ty 

made a submission.    

 I t  was rapidly approved by the off ic ia ls inside the 

Transnet Freight  Rai l  Securi ty Divis ion on the basis that  20 

General  Nyanda Securi ty wi l l  be appointed on consignment 

and that  meant,  a single source procurement and on the 

grounds that  i t  was urgent .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR TODD :    And so this was then. . .  i t  went  through var ious 
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commit tees wi thin the Transnet Freight  Rai l  Secur i ty  to  

off ic ia ls who were most  inst rumental  where named Ms 

Khanya and Mr Senamela.    

 And I  ment ion them because they were both dismissed 

for  thei r  role in  th is affai r  in  proceedings that  are in the 

papers here.    

 But  Ms Khanya and Senamela and others put  th is  

through var ious hoops.   The last  leg of  which was approval  

by Mr Gama as the Chief  Execut ive of  Freight  Rai l .    

 This could not  proceed without  his approval  of  th is 10 

conf inement and he had delegat ive author i ty to approve a 

single source conf inement of  th is kind up to an amount of  

R 10 mi l l ion.   So that  was then presented.    

 That  document was then presented for Mr Gama’s 

approval  on the 5 t h of  December that  year,  2007.   And Mr 

Gama signed i t  and approved i t .    

 Right  in the beginning,  in i t ia l ly,  i t  was thought  that  wel l  

what  Mr Gama has done wrong and many people that  what  

Mr Gama had done wrong is  that  he had exceeded his  

author i ty because the annual  va lue of  the contract  was on a 20 

proper calculat ion R 18 mi l l ion.    

 And whereas his  delegat ive author i ty was R 10 mi l l ion 

and so i t  was said:   Wel l ,  you have exceeded your author i ty  

by R 8 mi l l ion.    

 That  was not  the real  problem here and that  is not  why 
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Mr Gama was actual ly dismissed.   He was dismissed 

because the ci rcumstances in which that  happened could 

only be character ised and my submission to you Chairperson 

is that  the chai rperson of  that  inquiry,  Advocate Ant robus 

was ext remely generous to Mr Gama by character is ing that  

conduct  as ser ious negl igence.    

 But  the way i t  panned out  is  the fol lowing.   F irst ,  in Mr 

Gama.. .  in the course of  the hear ing,  speci f ical ly  put  i t  

through his counsel  to Transnet ’s wi tnesses that  he had no 

personal  relat ionship wi th General  Nyanda.  And he did not  10 

l ike any inference that  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    . . . that  th is could have any. . .  could have resul ted 

f rom any personal  relat ionship that  he had wi th General  

Nyanda.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR TODD :    Transnet  then presented to him a ser ious of  

te lephone records which showed a ser ies of  te lephone cal ls 

between Mr Gama and General  Nyanda in the weeks leading 

up to the conclusion of  th is conf inement.    20 

 Mr Gama then were conf ronted and then said to the 

chairperson of  the hearing:   I  must  apologise to you.   I  have 

given incorrect  instruct ions to my counsel .   I  do have a 

personal  relat ionship wi th General  Nyanda.   

 And he said so on. . .  and he said:   The reason I  l ied 
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about  i t  was that  I  thought too much was being made of  i t .   I  

thought that  inferences were being drawn that  were not  

warranted.   So I  downplayed i t .    

 And so he said:   My t rue relat ionship wi th Genera l  

Nyanda is that  we are not  c lose f r iends but  I  occasional ly  

play gol f  wi th him and we cal l  each other  when there is a  

fami ly event  and so on.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR TODD :    The most  recent  cal l  between then was on the 

1s t  of  December 2007, four days before Mr Gama signed the 10 

contract  in favour of  General  Nyanda Securi ty.    

 So that  was the deeply disturbing part  of  what emerged.   

Not  just  R 128 mi l l ion over R 10 mi l l ion.    

 The second deeply disturbing part  of  the contract  was 

that  i t  should never. . .  Mr Gama himsel f  and he said in the 

hearing:   This contract  of  th is  kind should never  have been 

approved on a conf inement.   So why was i t?   

 Mr Gama aff ixed his signature to a document which,  as 

the Chai rperson pointed out ,  in 15 places,  said th is is a 

conf inement.   That  is what the document was.    20 

 Mr Gama said:   Wel l ,  I  d id not  real ise i t  was a 

conf inement.   And he was asked how that  could possibly be?  

And he said there was an off ic ia l  who brought in a document 

to sign together wi th a pack of  what he thought were tender 

documents.    
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 And he said this off ic ia l ,  who was now the Mr Khanya,  

Norma Senamela.   His name was Beatt ie(?).   And Mr Gama 

said that  Mr Beatt ie had explained that  i t  was urgent ,  

important .   That  is had been through a ful l  tender process.   

And so l ied to  Mr Gama.  Misrepresented what was 

happening.    

 And said al l  that  is requi red is,  you sign i t .   Because i t  

has been a ful l  tender process,  as you know i t  should be.   

And we selected a bidder.    

 And Mr Gama said took Mr Beatt ie ’s word for i t  and so 10 

did not  even look at  the document .   He just  appended his  

signature to the last  page without  in any way paying 

at tent ion to the document.    

 Now that  was a lso unsat isfactory and deeply t roubl ing in 

the discipl inary hearing for a number of  further reasons.   

One of  which wi th  Mr Beatt ie.    

 You would not  be able to get  him to th is Commission 

because he immigrated to Aust ral ia and he immigrated af ter  

receiving a large severance package which Mr Gama also 

signed on the 5 t h of  December 2007. 20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  i t  was r ight  before that ,  ja.  

MR TODD :    But  we were never able to speak to Mr Beatt ie 

about  that .   But  the second th ing that  was deeply worrying is 

what reason would Mr Beatt ie  have to fundamental ly  

misrepresent  to Mr Gama and construct  an ent i re ly fa lse 
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explanat ion for the document that  Mr Gama was being asked 

to sign.    

 There has never been provided any rat ional  reason why 

Mr Beatt ie would have sought to mislead Mr Gama in that  

way.    

 Thi rdly,  Mr Gama had said previously in dur ing the 

invest igat ion that  al l  he was shown by Mr Beatt ie was the 

document.    

 I t  ment ioned three names and this  is  the contractor  you 

are going to appoint .   Now that  was completely inconsistent  10 

wi th the proposi t ion that  he just  s igned the last  page.    

 But  in  the discipl inary hearing,  af ter  admit t ing his  

personal  relat ionship wi th General  Nyanda, he then said he 

did not  even know who was being appointed when he signed 

that  document which was also inconsistent  wi th what he said 

previously.    

 But  wi th  respect  Chairperson,  he had put  himsel f  in a 

corner because having had h is personal  re lat ionship 

exposed, he now fel t  i t  necessary to deny that  he even knew 

that  th is conf inement which should not  have been granted in 20 

the f i rst  p lace was in fact  being granted to a person with 

whom he had a personal  relat ionship.    

 The i r regular i t ies in the tender processes,  just  to f in ish 

off  Mr Chai rperson,  include one further one.   And that  is  

. . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  before you do that .   You said that  

the chai rperson of  the discipl inary inqui ry was qui te 

generous to him in regard to a certain matter,  I  th ink under 

the f i rst  charge.  

MR TODD :    Yes,  what . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I . . .  reading his judgment,  rul ing.   I  thought 

that  he was qui te  generous in not  concluding that  Mr Gama 

had actual ly  mis lead the discipl inary hearing about his  

personal  relat ionship wi th General  Nyanda.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  thought he was qui te generous to him. 

MR TODD :    Chairperson,  i t  was qui te unusual .   A l l  of  the 

points I  have made are included in the chairperson’s 

reasoning in his 200 pages.    

 And one would logical ly have expected into conclude 

that  th is was just  a completely unsat isfactory explanat ion.   In  

the end,  when he whi t t led al l  of  h is reasoning down, he said:   

I  wi l l  decide this  on the basis that  I  accept  Mr Gama’s 

statement that  he simply looked at  one page.   

 He did not  even know i t  was General  Nyanda Securi ty.   20 

And so he did not  seek to draw adverse inferences f rom a 

ser ies of  di ff icul t ies wi th Mr Gama’s evidence that  were 

manifest  in the proceedings.    

 So wi th  respect ,  i t  was very generous but  he said,  i f  I  

accept ing that  vers ion.   And he made a number of  
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statements.   L ike,  i t  may wel l  be that  th is is a fa lse vers ion 

of  Mr Gama but  he did not  go a step further.    

 But  he then makes the point  and this was always 

apparent  that  even on Mr Gama’s own vers ion:   I  am the 

Chief  Execut ive of  TFR signing a secur i ty  contract  for  

R 18 mi l l ion.   And you can just  put  anything in f ront  of  me.  

You say anything and put  anything in f ront  of  me and I  wi l l  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    And you sign,  you do not  even know who 

this cont ract  is go ing to.   I  mean.. .  10 

MR TODD :    How long i t  was for.   How much i t  was.   And that  

was the approach that  Mr Gama took because once he said:   

I  only saw the last  page.   I t  a lso fol lowed that  he did not  

even know how much i t  was for.   And that  also . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  that  is qui te t roubl ing.   I  mean, you 

can sign and give somebody an R 18 mi l l ion cont ract  wi thout  

even checking who are you giving that  cont ract  to.   Is that  

person sui table for that  k ind of  contract?  Have there been 

proper processes fol lowed?   

MR TODD :    I  mean, a l l  of  th is  is relevant  Chai rperson 20 

because Transnet  accepted the discipl inary chai r ’s  f inding 

but  when that  discipl inary chai rperson says this is 

dismissible  misconduct  because i t  is ser ious and he explains 

why.    

 Even on his analyses i t  was ser ious and warranted 
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misconduct .   You are not  deal ing wi th a discipl inary 

chairperson who was going off  i r ra t ional ly or aggressively to  

f ind against  Mr Gama.   

 In fact ,  he think he was,  i f  anything,  extremely generous 

in his assessment of  the evidence.   But  Chairperson,  I  was 

going to  say,  the other  ser ious problem with this  

procurement process was that  as i t  t ranspi res,  General  

Nyanda Securi ty had no pr ior t rack record.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Of  course . . . [ intervenes]   

MR TODD :    I t  was not  registered . . . [ intervenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . these kind of  serv ice.  

MR TODD :    No,  not  rendering this  kind of  serv ice.   Had i ts 

pi tch document was fu l l  of  language appropriate to American 

companies.   Jury tampering and things l ike that  i t  c la imed to 

be experts in.   I t  had no pr ior t rack record and i t  was not  

even registered wi th the Regulatory Author i ty which is ca l led 

SIRA that  pr ivate . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Securi ty . . . [ intervenes]   

MR TODD :    . . . regulatory securi ty body.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  20 

MR TODD :    Which is a necessary requirement for del iver ing.   

In fact ,  i t  was only registered in June the fo l lowing year  but  

only appl ied in June the fol lowing year.   And i t  t ranspired 

that ,  more important ly,  i t  had no employees.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  
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MR TODD :    And what i t  was engaged to do was to supply 

securi ty  services through employees.   One sees the invoices 

which show we are supplying so many employees,  so many 

employees,  so many employees.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR TODD :    And i t  is said. . .  i t  is sa id when pressed on that ,  

he said:   Oh, we procure those form other service providers.   

And so what real ly infur iated the chairperson who presided 

over the hear ings of  Khanya and Senamela is he sa id th is,  

and he did not  use the word f ront ing.  10 

 But  he descr ibed and was clear ly very conf ronted by the 

fact  that  th is was a crude f ront ing t ransact ion which in  the 

procurement document said th is is  a b lack owned securi ty 

company want ing to do business wi th Transnet  but  i t  

t ranspi red that  i t  had no abi l i ty to do i t .    

 And as one sees when Transnet sued for the money,  the 

company said:   Wel l ,  we were never. . .  i t  was never us 

contract ing.    

 Actual ly,  i t  was consort ium involv ing others and so on 

and so forth.   But  ul t imately,  th is was a fundamental ly  f lawed 20 

procurement process and Mr Gama’s version on which,  for a 

want of  a bet ter word,  he was convicted of  misconducted,  

was that  he paid no at tent ion to any of  the deta i l  and simply 

signed the last  page when i t  was shown to him without  even 

knowing that  i t  was a cont ract  in favour of  General  Nyanda.   
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 In my respect ful  v iews,  those that  was very improbable 

but  that  was t rue.   But  even on that  version which Mr Gama 

maintained,  he was very ser iously negl igent  in his dut ies as 

a Chief  Execut ive of  Transnet ’s largest  div is ion.   That  is  

ul t imately what the chai rperson said.    

CHAIRPERSON :    So.   I  mean, I  am grateful  you explain th is 

because i t  is important  that  when later on your evidence 

deals wi th the quest ion of  his  reinstatement and the 

set t lement agreement.    

 I t  is known exact ly what i t  is that  he has. . .  he had been 10 

found involved in because later on when the board,  the new 

board reinstates him, one is  bound to look at  what. . .  at  h is  

conduct  for which he had been dismissed.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    To say,  what is i t  on the part  of  th is board 

that  made them think i t  was f ine to re instate somebody who 

has been found gui l ty of  th is? 

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    At tached of  misconduct .   And of  course,  

much later on the Commission wi l l  look at  the fact  that  he 20 

ends up being appointed as Group CEO of  Transnet .  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  is l ike a promot ion despi te al l  of  th is.   

And of  course,  the Commission is looking at  i t  w i th in the 

context  that  Ms Barbara Hogan gave evidence which said Mr 
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Gama was a candidate for the posi t ion of  Group CEO 

together wi th other candidates in 2009/010.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And of  course,  as you sa id,  he was making 

al legat ions that  he was being robbed f rom being appointed to  

th is posi t ion.   A candidate who was recommended by the 

board,  Mr Sipho Maseko,  against  whom I  have not  had any 

wi tness saying anything adverse,  was made to wai t .  

 Was not  appointed and ul t imately had to abandon the 

whole th ing and move on in his l i fe.   And the posi t ion of  10 

Group CEO for Transnet was lef t  un f ie ld for more than a 

year.   Maybe a year and a hal f .    

 And then Mr Brian Molefe was. . .  who was appointed.   

But  three years or so af ter Mr Gama had come back,  then 

had been reinstated at  TFR.  Mr Br ian Molefe was seconded 

to Eskom and Mr Gama was appointed to Group CEO.   

 And Ms Barbara Hogan’s evidence had been that  when 

she presented the case to the then President ,  Mr Zuma to 

say,  the board has recommended Mr Mkhize as a candidate.    

 She said Mr Zuma had said:   No,  his only choice for the 20 

posi t ion of  Group CEO for Transnet was Mr Gama.  As I  said 

yesterday,  Mr Zuma has denied that .    

 So we do not  know at  th is stage exact ly what the 

posi t ion is but  we are explor ing al l  avenues to  see what 

happened.   
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 But  in the end,  Mr Gama does end up being Group CEO 

of  Transnet  against  al l  of  th is background.   

 So the informat ion you have provided as the at torney 

was represent ing Transnet,  has been very helpful .   Thank 

you.   Thank you,  Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Todd, there was a thi rd  charge 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR TODD :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . . that  Mr Gama was found gui l ty of .   

Could you just  summarise that  for us? 10 

MR TODD :    In essence,  that  was a sequel  to the l i t igat ion 

he brought against  the company.   And i t  pr imari ly went l ike 

this.   I t  says i f  you are being. . .   

 I f  you are approached by execut ives who were act ing in  

accordance with their  dut ies and they raise wi th in i t ia l ly in  a 

very col legial  and informal way concerns about your conduct  

and then ul t imate ly charge you wi th misconduct  and you go 

on the at tack and you accuse them of  al l  sorts of  improper 

mot ives and you. . .   

 And that  became very publ ic and very charged and i t  20 

was very di rected at  the execut ives and that  they were 

involved,  effect ively,  in the dishonest  conspiracy against  

them.  When you do that ,  i f  you do not  have grounds to do i t ,  

you – be tween execut ives .   You cannot  conduct  you rse l f  in  

a  way wh ich  say ra the r  than say ing  I  w i l l  –  I  do  no t  be l ieve  
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I  shou ld  be  charged but  I  w i l l  dea l  w i th  the  inqu i ry  as  

qu ick l y  and exped i t ious l y  as  I  can  and I  w i l l  show you why 

I  be l ieve  I  am not  gu i l t y.   That  i s  what  –  tha t  i s  ac tua l l y  the  

s ta te  o f  m ind tha t  an  execut ive  ought  to  demonst ra te .   

 Of  course ,  Mr  Gama be l ieved,  apparent ly,  tha t  he  

was be ing  persecuted.   He c lea r ly  be l ieved i t  wrong ly,  

u l t imate ly  accep ted tha t  ac tua l l y  he  was gu i l t y  o f  

m isconduct  in  a l l  o f  the  respects  a l leged.    

 So u l t imate ly  –  bu t  tha t  th i rd  charge was rea l l y  a  

seque l  to  a  k ind  o f  l i t i ga t ion  be  b rought  aga ins t  the  10 

company and i t s  execut ive  in  an  a t tempt  to  avo id  hav ing  to  

answer  these charges.   I  may jus t  say,  Cha i rperson,  one 

th ing  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  jus t  –  I  wanted to  say,  you are  

say ing  Mr  Gama be l ieved,  maybe he d id  be l ieve  bu t  maybe  

he d id  no t  be l ieve  there  was a  consp i racy,  maybe  i t  was 

conven ien t  tha t  he  shou ld  pu t  up  th is ,  I  do  no t  know,  bu t  

somet imes peop le  say –  pu t  up  consp i racy  theor ies  

knowing tha t  they  have no bas i s .    

Somet imes they pu t  up  consp i racy  theor ies  because 20 

they genu ine ly  be l ieve  tha t  there  is  a  consp i racy.   So we 

…[ in tervenes]  

MR TODD:    I t  i s  un for tunate ,  Cha i rperson,  as  a  –  you 

know,  you ment ion  my exper ience,  I  have -  un for tunate ly,  

lawyers  are  engaged and end up do ing  an enormous 
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amount  o f  work  a t  g rea t  cos t  to  employers  because 

execut ives  do  not  s i t  down and say  show me what  i t  i s  you  

are  concerned about ,  I  w i l l  engage and dea l  w i th  bu t  

ins tead b r ing  a l l  sor t s  o f  cases to  t ry  and –  and l i t iga t ion  o f  

th is  k ind  un for tunate ly,  f rom sen io r  execut ives  is  –  I  wou ld  

no t  say  pervas i ve  bu t  i t  i s  ve ry  common and i t  i s  rea l l y  

b rought  by  execu t ives  who are  no t  agree ing  to  fo l low the  

ru les  and say show me what  I  am sa id  to  have done and I  

w i l l  do  my best  to  answer.   I  hope I  w i l l  show you tha t  I  

have done noth ing  wrong.   You know,  ins tead o f  adopt ing  10 

tha t  sor t  o f  approach they adopt  an  approach wh ich  

a t tempts  to  pu t  an  obstac le  in  the  way o f  a  company f rom 

actua l l y  dea l ing  w i th  a  concern .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    Bu t  tha t  was what  happened here .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    Cha i r,  jus t  on  your  po in t  about ,  i f  I  may,  

Cha i rperson,  about  the  governance po in t  about  pu t t ing  Mr  

Gama back in  h is  job  la te r.   A l though the  Cha i rpe rson o f  

th is  hear ing  was,  I  have suggested,  generous  in  h is  20 

conc lus ions,  he  is  very  c lear  i n  the  end as  when he  

imposes the  sanc t ion  o f  d ismissa l  tha t  he  is  dea l ing  w i th  a  

person who has to  be  en t rus ted  w i th  Transnet  w i th  a  ve ry  

h igh  leve l  o f  d i l i gence,  care  and  in tegr i t y  in  dea l ing  w i th  

major  p rocu rement  and,  fo r  tha t  reason,  he  says  what  I  
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have seen leads  me to  the  conc lus ion  tha t  ac tua l l y  Mr  

Gama cannot  be  t rus ted  or  re l ied  on  by  Transne t  in  that  

contex t .    

I  ment ion  tha t  jus t  because I  read Min i s te r  –  

p rev ious fo rmer  Min is te r  Hogan ’s  t ranscr ip t  o f  her  ev idence 

on Monday,  i t  i s  in  one o f  these  bund les ,  and I  saw tha t  

she sa id  when she was a t tempt ing  to  appo in t  a  new board  

o f  Transnet  and when she was a t tempt ing  to  recommend a  

Ch ie f  Execut ive ,  one o f  the  key th ings in  he r  m ind was,  as  

the  s ta te ,  we have an ambi t ious  cap i ta l  expend i tu re  10 

programme tha t  we a re  go ing  to  d r ive  and use to  d r ive  

economic  g rowth  and she says we were  go ing  to  spend R84  

b i l l i on  in  f i ve  years  us ing  Transnet ’s  ba lance sheet  to  d r ive  

economic  growth  th rough cap i ta l  expend i tu re  and we  

needed to  have the  r igh t  board  members  who wou ld  be  

u l t imate ly  the  custod ians or  g ive  the  r igh t  overs igh t  and  

over  a  programme o f  tha t  impor tan t  and se l f -ev ident ly,  

s im i la r ly,  you need execut ives  who have demonst ra ted  the  

ab i l i t y  to  ove rsee  th ings o f  tha t  k ind .    

And when one sees the  Gama charges and the  20 

reasons why the  Cha i rman thought  d ismissa l  was  

appropr ia te  in  tha t  contex t ,  i t  i s  rea l l y  exact ly  why the  

Cha i rperson sa id ,  o f  the  hear ing ,  sa id  Transnet  cannot  be  

expected to  to le ra te  and ent rus t  these k inds o f  

respons ib i l i t i es  to  an  execut ive  who has been shown to  
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have conducted h imse l f  as  Mr  Gama d id .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  Mr  Todd,  there  were  then 

f ind ings o f  gu i l t  in  re la t ion  and misconduct  in  re la t i on  to  50  

l i ke  new locomot i ves  GNS and cr i t i c i sm o f  the  execut ives .   

The Cha i rperson  o f  the  d isc ip l inary  enqu i ry,  d id  he  

recommend d i sm issa l  on  a  cumula t ive  bas is  o r  d id  he  

recommend i t  in  re la t ion  to  each o f  the  charges in  our  

summat ion?  

MR TODD:    He  recommended in  each.   He sa id  hav ing  10 

looked a t  each  charge and what  sanct ion  wou ld  be  

appropr ia te ,  fo r  each he went  th rough i t  in  a lo t  o f  de ta i l  

and i t  was inc luded in  the  repor t  tha t  you have re fe r red  me 

to  bu t  he  conc luded tha t  d i smissa l  was war ran ted on each  

one ind iv idua l l y  so  tha t  had I  found h im gu i l t y  on ly  o f  

charge 1  I  wou ld  have recommended h is  d i smissa l .   Had I  

found h im gu i l t y  on ly  o f  the  second and on ly  o f  the  th i rd ,  

each one,  in  h is  v iew,  was dest ruc t i ve  o f  the  employment  

re la t ionsh ip  and  he then made  the  po in t  tha t  taken  

cumula t ive ly  i t  goes w i thout  say ing  tha t  d i smissa l  –  I  20 

recommend d ismissa l  as  the  appropr ia te  sanct ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  we w i l l  come then to  your  

repor t  in  t ime.   Cou ld  I  take  you back p lease to  page 49 o f  

bund le  3  and to  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry.   As  you g i ve  ev idence,  Mr  
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Todd,  about  the  fac t  tha t  the  Cha i rperson o f  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  enqu i ry  conc luded tha t  on  each charge he  

wou ld  have recommended d i smissa l ,  my mind th inks  about  

in  the  contex t  o f  c r ime,  c r im ina l  cour t s ,  about  the  pass ing  

o f  th ree  l i fe  sentences on somebody or  who may have been  

found gu i l t y  o f  some ser ious cr ime  each t ime,  you know,  so  

in  th is  case i t  seems,  there fore ,  based on what  you are  

say ing  and my unders tand ing  o f  the  Cha i rpe rson ’s  dec i s ion  

tha t  in  e f fec t  when Mr  Gama was  d ismissed he cou ld  be  

taken to  have car r ied  th ree  separa te  th ree  separa te  10 

d ismissa ls  each o f  wh ich  cou ld  s tand on i t s  own.   But ,  o f  

course ,  a  d ismissa l ,  a  d ismissa l .   I s  my th ink ing  more  or  

less  in  l ine  w i th  what  the  Cha i rperson was say ing?  

MR TODD:    Yes,  Cha i rperson,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  –  i f  you  put  i t  

s l igh t l y  d i f fe ren t ly  and sa id  when Mr  Gama cha l lenged h is  

d ismissa l ,  the  fa i rness o f  i t ,  and sa id  he  is  cha l leng ing  the  

appropr ia teness o f  the  sanct ion ,  he  wou ld  need  -   a  

barga in ing  counc i l  a rb i t ra to r  wou ld  need to  ac tua l l y  f ind  

tha t  d ismissa l  was not  appropr ia te  fo r  any one o f  the  th ree  

or  fo r  a l l  th ree  taken cumula t ive ly.    20 

 So,  in  o ther  words,  i t  was u l t ima te ly  they – i f  you  

showed tha t  d i smissa l  fo r  the  a t tack  on  your  fe l low 

execut ives ,  unwarranted a t tacks  on  your  fe l low execut ives ,  

I  wou ld  no t  have d ismissed,  I  wou ld  have g iven you  a  f ina l  

warn ing  because  apo log ised.   That  wou ld  no t  render  
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d ismissa l  and inappropr ia te  sanct ion  never the less  because 

there  are  s t i l l  two charges wh ich  ind iv idua l l y  wou ld  car ry  a  

d ismissa l  sanct i on  and by  the  same token,  even i f  on 

another  one,  the  barga in ing  counc i l  a rb i t ra to r  were  to  say  

fo r  tha t  charge,  I  a lso  th ink  you  cou ld  have had  a  f ina l  

wr i t ten  warn ing .    

S t i l l  go t  to  dea l  –  you f i rs t  o f  a l l  wou ld  have to  

conc lude tha t  fo r  a l l  th ree  and then he wou ld  a lso  have to  

conc lude tha t  cumula t ive ly  even though –  because what  

can happen,  i s  i f  somebody commi ts  a  ser ies  o f  conduct  10 

wh ich  each o f  wh ich  war ran ts  –  i s  ser ious enough to  

war ran t  a  f ina l  warn ing ,  fo r  example ,  you might  say  

cumula t ive ly  there  is  jus t  too  much go ing  on here ,  I  cannot  

g ive  you -  you know,  say tha t  the re  so  many ins tances o f  

conduct  tha t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Anyth ing  e lse  wou ld  be  a  s lap  on  the  

wr is t .  

MR TODD:    By  i tse l f  wou ld  fa l l  shor t  o f  d ismissa l  and then 

I  have to  take  account  o f  the  fac t  tha t  you have –  there  are  

a  se r ies  o f  p rob lems here  and  I  have to  cons ider  the  20 

cumula t ive  e f fec t  as  we l l .   So my main  po in t  there ,  no t  so 

much about  the  cr im ina l  ana lys is ,  bu t  wou ld  be  to  say th is  

i s  why,  when i t  comes to  the  prospects  o f  success  in  the  

barga in ing  counc i l  a rb i t ra t ion ,  i t  seemed to  us  tha t  Mr  

Gama had an imposs ib le  mounta in  to  c l imb.   Imposs ib le  i s  
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maybe too  s t rong ,  a  very,  ve ry  s teep mounta in  to  c l imb.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  you  see,  there  is  someth ing  tha t  i s  

common,  as  I  see i t  –  I  have not  done a  c r im ina l  case in  

the  cour ts  in  many years ,  bu t  I  see i t ,  there  i s  a  common 

fea ture  in  te rms o f  the  example  o f  a  c r im ina l  case  as  we l l  

as  d i sc ip l inary  case.   I f  you  were  sentenced to  th ree  l i fe  

impr isonments ,  te rms o f  impr isonment  fo r  rape,  murder  and 

someth ing  e lse ,  you know,  or  two rapes,  one murder  o r  two  

or  th ree  murders ,  th ree  rapes,  o r  whatever,  i f  you  then 

appea led ,  went  to  an  appea l  cou r t  seek ing  and say ing  I  10 

accept  tha t  I  was proper ly  found  gu i l t y  o f  these charges,  

my compla in t  i s  s imp ly  the  sentence,  you wou ld  have to  – 

you wou ld  have your  counse l ,  who is  a rgu ing  the  case,  

wou ld  have to  say okay,  le t  us  take  th is  cha rge and say 

we l l ,  i f  i t  s tood a lone,  the  probab le  sentence might  be  jus t  

a  f ine ,  you know?  Another  one –  and show tha t  i f  you  were  

to  look  a t  them l i ke  tha t  in  a l l  p robab i l i t y  there  wou ld  be  no  

l i fe  impr isonment  bu t  hav ing  done  tha t ,  i t  may be tha t  one  

o f  these wou ld  qua l i f y  fo r  l i fe  impr isonment .   And i f  one o f  

them qua l i f ies ,  you end up w i th  l i fe  impr isonment .  20 

MR TODD:    Yes,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  m igh t  be  tha t  i t  i s  one l i fe  

impr isonment  and not  th ree  i f  you  have been ab le  to  

persuade the  cour t  tha t  the  o ther  ones were  no t  jus t i f ied .  

 So i f  you  look a t  a  d ismissa ls  l i ke  th is ,  Mr  Gama’s  
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counse l  a t  the  arb i t ra t ion  on  the  bas is  tha t  u l t imate ly  h is  

pos i t ion  was I  am not  cha l leng ing  the  f ind ing  tha t  I  was 

gu i l t y  o f ,  these th ree  ac ts  o f  m isconduct ,  maybe he was 

go ing  to   a l so  concede tha t  these  are  se r ious m isconduct  

o r  maybe he was go ing  to  say they  were  no t  ser ious  bu t  he  

wou ld  then say I  am say ing  tha t  d ismissa l  was too  harsh ,  

he  wou ld  have to  show e f fec t i ve l y  tha t  each one o f  them 

d id  no t  deserve  to  –  d id  no t  war ran t  a  d ismissa l .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  even i f  each one o f  them were  – i f  10 

he  was lucky  and  the  arb i t ra to r  sa id  no ,  each one o f  them 

s tand ing  on i t s  own d id  no t  war ran t  d ismissa l ,  the  

arb i t ra to r  wou ld  s t i l l  have to  ask  the  quest ion ,  when taken  

together  cumula t ive ly,  was the  d i smissa l  s t i l l  no t  

war ran ted?  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now –  so  i t  i s  indeed –  I  th ink  you are  

r igh t  in  say ing  i t  was a  very  h igh  mounta in  to  c l imb i f  you  

have been e f fec t i ve l y  g iven th ree  d ismissa ls .  

MR TODD:    Ja .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    To  show tha t  each one o f  them was  

un jus t i f ied  and tha t  these th ree  ac ts  o f  m isconduct ,  even 

when taken togethe r,  wou ld  s t i l l  no t  war ran t  a  d ism issa l  fo r  

somebody who is  no t  jus t  a  lowly  worke r,  was somebody 

who was CEO of  a  d iv is ion  o f  Transnet  who was supposed  
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to ,  I  take  i t ,  admin is te r  d isc ip l ine  to  h is  own team who was 

supposed to  be  exemplary  to  h is  own team.   You know,  so  I  

jus t  ment ion  tha t  to  one,  ind ica te  how I  unders tand the  

s i tua t ion  to  be ,  hav ing  read these in  te rms o f  what  the 

s i tua t ion  was when he was go ing  to  the  arb i t ra t ion  and the  

ser iousness.   Thank you,  Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Cha i rperson,  what  t ime do you  

in tend to  take  the…? 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  d id  no t  look  a t  the  watch .   I  th ink  le t  us  

take  the  tea  ad journment  i f  tha t  i s  f ine?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    We are  a t  abou t  e igh teen minutes  past ,  

le t  us  resume a t  twenty  f i ve  to  twe lve .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t  us  cont inue.   Your  m ic ,  Mr  

Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   We go back  to  your  20 

a f f idav i t  a t  page  49 a t  paragraph 10.   You dea l  w i th  Mr  

Gama’s  re fe r ra l  o f  h is  d ismissa l  d ispute  to  the  Transnet  

barga in ing  counc i l .   Perhaps we cou ld  go  to  tha t  re fe r ra l .   

Cou ld  you p lease  tu rn  to  page 91?  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  i s  the  page number?  



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 53 of 224 
 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    N ine  one,  Cha i rperson,  91 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    N ine  one?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th i s  i s  a  re fer ra l .   I f  you  go to  97  

you see tha t  i t  i s  da ted  the  22  Ju ly.  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    O f  some impor tance  is  the 

s ta tement ,  annexure  A ,  tha t  was a t tached to  the  re fe r ra l .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cou ld  you take  the  Cha i rperson 

th rough tha t?   What  was the  case  made out  by  Mr  Gama in  

th is  s ta tement?    

MR TODD:    In  essence –  and I  do  no t  reca l l  and I  have not  

read the  s ta tement  very  recent ly  bu t  I  do  no t  th ink  he  sa id  

i t  very  exp l i c i t l y  bu t  there  was no  suggest ion  here  tha t  Mr  

Gama d isagreed  w i th  the  conc lus ions tha t  he  had been 

gu i l t y  o f  m isconduct  and pr imar i l y  i t  looked as  though he is  

rea l l y  compla in ing  about  the  process tha t  was fo l lowed and 

then he does re ly  on  what  I  wou ld  ca l l  a  substant ive  20 

unfa i rness ground in  4 .4  where  he  sa id  h is  cont rac t  a l lows  

fo r  te rm inat ion  in  the  event  he  i s  found gu i l t y  o f  ser ious 

m isconduct  and I  was charged w i th  m isconduct .   I  suppose 

the  assumpt ion  no t  ser ious m isconduct ,  P res id ing  Off i cer  

found me gu i l t y  o f  m isconduc t  and not  o f  ser ious 
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m isconduct  and there fore  I  contend Transnet  in  v io la t ion  o f  

i t s  own cont rac t  o f  employment .   So – I  mean,  i t  was a  ve ry  

nar row argument  rea l l y  wh ich  went  to  sanct ion  and then –  

ja ,  so  tha t  rea l l y  i s  where  he  se t  i t  ou t .   I t  was a  l i t t le  

surpr i s ing  because the  d isc ip l inary  p rocess had been  

fought  very  hard  on  every  po in t  and th is  re fe r ra l  seemed to  

suggest  tha t  the re  are  go ing  to  be  a  fa r  more  l im i ted 

grounds o f  compla in t  about  fa i rness than might  have been 

ant ic ipa ted .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then you ment ion  a lso  10 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  see  tha t  on  page 101  a t  the  

bo t tom i t  does submi t  tha t  –  we l l ,  he  says:  

“The d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  was both  substant ive ly  

and procedura l l y  un fa i r. ”  

I  am not  sure  what  tha t  means.   He may have in tended to  

say h is  d ismissa l  was substant ive l y  and procedura l l y  un fa i r  

bu t  he  does not  say  tha t ,  he  says  h is  d i sc ip l i nary  hear ing  

was substant ive ly  and procedura l l y  un fa i r. ”  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  I  am go ing  to  come to  tha t  r igh t  20 

now,  Mr  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay,  a l r igh t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Todd,  you say in  paragraph 10 o f  

your  a f f idav i t  tha t  the  content ions  in  the  s ta tement  were  

subsequent ly  c la r i f ied  and l im i ted  in  a  le t te r  f rom Langa  
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A t to rneys.   Cou ld  I  take  you p lease to  page 102?   

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  i s  the  le t te r  f rom Langa 

A t to rneys da ted the  14  October.  Cou ld  I  p lease d i rec t  your  

a t ten t ion  to  parag raph 3?  

MR TODD:    Yes.   Yes,  th is  i s  where  the  a t to rney  

rep resent ing  Mr  Gama c la r i f ied  and i t  was the  f i rs t  t ime 

they made i t  exp l i c i t .   I t  was a  b i t  confus ing  f rom the  in i t ia l  

re fe r ra l  because i t  d id  no t  seem to  take  square ly   -  take  on  

the  f ind ings o f  gu i l t  and he then c la r i f ied  in  th is  le t te r :  10 

“Our  c l ien t  w i l l  no t  contes t  tha t  he  was gu i l t y  o f  the  

charges 1 ,  2  and  4  as  found by  the  Cha i rpe rson o f  

the  enqu i ry.   Our  c l ien t ,  however,  w ishes to  submi t  

tha t  d ismissa l  was an inappropr ia te  sanct ion . ”  

So tha t  i s  where  he  sa id  exp l i c i t l y  how he wou ld  nar row h is  

case in  the  barga in ing  counc i l  a rb i t ra t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do they in  th is  le t te r  ind ica te  what  the  

grounds o r  bases wou ld  be  fo r  say ing  the  sanct ion  o f  

d ismissa l  was no t  appropr ia te?   I  ask  tha t  because  when I  

was look ing  a t  h is  s ta tement  re fe r r ing  the  d i spute  to  the  20 

arb i t ra t ion ,  i t  was –  I  d id  no t  –  as  I  reca l l ,  i t  was not  very  

c lea r  what  the  grounds were .   So you know whethe r  in  th is  

le t te r  they dea l t  w i th  tha t  par t  o r  no t?  

MR TODD:    No,  tha t  i s  no t  e labora ted  upon there .   There  

was –  I  mean,  there  was th i s  po in t  we had looked a t ,  a t  
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page 99,  paragraph 4 .4  where  he  ta lked about  ser ious  

m isconduct  ve rsus m isconduct ,  bu t  tha t  was a  k ind  o f  

cont rac tua l  a rgument  and …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  i t  amounted to  say ing  the  conduct  

o f  wh ich  I  was found gu i l t y  i s  no t  ser ious enough to  jus t i f y  

d ismissa l .  

MR TODD:    To  jus t i f y  d ismissa l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR TODD:    Bu t  o ther  than s ta t i ng  i t  b road ly  a long those 

l ines  there  was not  any d i rec t  exp lanat ion  now.   There  10 

were  subsequent ly  some submiss ions tha t  were  de l i vered  

in  the  ba rga in ing  counc i l  and I  do  no t  reca l l ,  I  do  no t  th ink 

I  have submi t ted  those but  e f fec t i ve ly  -  essen t ia l l y  Mr  

Gama’s  content ion  now was we l l ,  i f  you  read the  

Cha i rperson ’s  f ind ing  I  accept  I  was gu i l t y  o f  what  he  says 

I  was gu i l t y  o f  bu t  I  submi t  tha t  I  shou ld  no t  have been 

d ismissed fo r  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    I t  was not  ser ious enough to  war ran t  

d ismissa l .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Was there  in  the  s ta tement  o r  in  

the  p lead ings in  the  barga in ing  counc i l ,  as  you reca l l ,  was  

there  a  content i on  or  a l legat ion  tha t  he  had not  been 

t rea ted  cons is ten t ly?  

MR TODD:    Ja .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    In  te rms o f ,  you  know,  d isc ip l ine  had not  

been cons is ten t?  

MR TODD:    So  there  was …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  d id  tha t  come some o ther  t ime? 

MR TODD:    There  was a  s ta tement  in  4 .5  o f  the  –  aga in ,  

tha t  i s  a t  page 100 where  he  says –  i t  i s  aga in ,  i t  i s  no t  

c lea r  tha t  he  is  suggest ing  incons is tency bu t  i f  I  may,  

Cha i rperson,  he  had reason in  bo th  the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  

and the  sanct ion  submiss ions the  content ion  tha t  th is  –  h i s  

conduct  was o f  a  k ind  wh ich  there  were  o ther  peop le  who 10 

d id  the  same so r t  o f  th ing  as  he  d id  and they had not  been  

d isc ip l ined.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    Bu t  the  Cha i rperson dea l t  w i th  tha t  and sa id ,  

you know,  i f  you  are  go ing  to  say tha t ,  you wou ld  have to  

show me who those peop le  are ,  what  the i r  conduct  was fo r  

me to  assess whether  there  was ac tua l l y  some s im i la r i t y  o r  

some bas is  fo r  me to  say tha t  you have been incons is ten t ly  

t rea ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

MR TODD:    And …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And he had not  led  any ev idence to  show 

those ins tances.  

MR TODD:    No,  there  had been no suggest ion  a t  a l l  in  the  

course  o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  process tha t  Mr  Gama was aware  
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o f  s im i la r  fac ts .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    For  s im i la r  s i tua t ions or  had a l ready  s im i la r  

s i tua t ions or  the  de ta i l s  o f  s im i la r  s i tua t ions in  f ron t  o f  the 

Cha i rperson and in  fac t  the  ev idence before  the  

Cha i rperson was  tha t  o thers  had been d ismissed,  fo r  

example ,  in  re la t ion  to  the  GNS cont rac t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Who were  under  h im.  

MR TODD:    Who were  under  h im and tha t  Percy  Mosweu  

had  -  was the  ind iv idua l  who had  been d ismissed in  10 

connect ion  w i th  the  50  l i ke  new – so  there  were  o ther  

peop le  who had  been d i smissed but  he  never  sa id  i f  

somebody who is  gu i l t y  o f  s im i la r  conduct  to  what  you have  

found me gu i l t y  o f ,  then I  can show you who they  are  so  

tha t  the  Cha i rpe rson cou ld  ac tua l l y  make an assessment  

and there  was never  any ev idence l i ke  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  but  a re  you say ing  tha t  the  compla in t  

about  h im hav ing  been t rea ted  incons is ten t ly  o r  d i f fe ren t ly  

to  o thers  who may have been gu i l t y  o f  someth ing  s im i la r,  

he  ra i sed tha t  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime in  re la t ion  to  sanct ion ,  he  20 

had not  ra i sed in  re la t ion  to  the  s tage o f  the  enqu i ry  tha t  

re la ted  to  whethe r  he  was gu i l t y  o r  no t  gu i l t y?  

MR TODD:    No,  he  had ra i sed i t  in  bo th ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  he  had ra ised them both  

…[ in tervenes]  
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MR TODD:    When the  Cha i rperson …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  he  had had  fu l l  oppor tun i ty  to  b r ing  

the  ev idence tha t  wou ld  have shown those cases.  

MR TODD:    He ra ised i t  in  bo th  and the  Cha i rperson,  in  

dea l ing  w i th  i t  when he made wr i t ten  representa t i ons on  

sanct ion ,  Cha i rperson sa id  bu t  I  have a l ready dea l t  w i th  

th is  when  -  because you had an oppor tun i ty  to  b r ing  

ev idence i f  you wanted to  and I  dea l t  w i th  in  the  f ind ings 

on  gu i l t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  10 

MR TODD:    And then he made  s im i la r  submiss ions on  

sanct ion  and sa id ,  you know,  incons is tency.   And the  

Cha i rperson sa id  I  have not  go t  any in fo rmat ion  to  work  

w i th ,  i t  i s  no  d i f fe ren t  f rom what  i t  was dur ing  the  hear ing  

i t se l f .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   And I  do  no t  know –  I  mean,  the  

issue o f  –  there  i s  the  issue cons is tency,  there  is  an  issue 

o f  condonat ion  and i t  may be tha t  the  issue o f  cons is tency  

was dea l t  w i th  separa te l y  and d i scre te ly  f rom the  issue o f  

condonat ion  bu t  what  you have sa id  m ight  be  qu i te  20 

impor tan t  because I  th ink  the  board ,  the  new board  

subsequent ly  commiss ioned some invest iga t ions  to  look  

in to  whether  he  had been dea l t  w i th  incons is ten t ly  and so  

on .    

So tha t  becomes impor tan t  i f  they  were  
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invest iga t ing  someth ing  tha t  he  had had a  oppor tun i ty  to  

p resent  fu l l y  be fore  the  Cha i rperson o f  the  d isc ip l inary  

enqu i ry  and had dec ided not  to  p resent .   Okay,  a l r i gh t .  

MR TODD:    Cha i rpe rson,  to  the  best  o f  my reco l lec t ion  the  

mat te rs  tha t  were  subsequent ly  i nvest iga ted  by  the  new 

board  were  e i the r  no t  known to  Mr  Gama or  he  d id  no t  have 

any in fo rmat ion  about  them tha t   he  presented in  any way 

tha t  wou ld  suppor t  a  cons is tency argument  in  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  enqu i ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  tha t  i s  qu i te  impor tan t  because 10 

when the  board  –  or  when you have to  se t t le  any mat te r,  an  

impor tan t  i ssue tha t  you look a t  i s  how s t rong is  my  case? 

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you do tha t  by  look ing  a t  what  a re  

the  issues and what  a re  the  issues be ing  ra ised  by  the  

o ther  s ide ,  what  k ind  o f  ev idence do they have or  a re  they 

l i ke ly  to  have and there fore ,  i t  i s  impor tan t  to  look  a t  what  

were  the  issues tha t  he  was ra is ing  in  h is  p lead ings and 

what  was the  ground on wh ich  he  was subsequent ly  ra ised,  

he  res ta ted  and so  on  but  we w i l l  dea l  w i th  tha t  a t  the  r igh t  20 

t ime.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  Todd,  a t  paragraph 

11 o f  your  a f f idav i t  a t  page 49 you  then sum up rea l l y  what  

the  s ta te  o f  p lay  was fu r ther  to  the  re fe r ra l  and Mr  Langa ’s  

le t te r.   Cou ld  you  p lease dea l  w i th  tha t?  
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MR TODD:    Yes.   So th is  was the  f i rs t  t ime,  once th is  was 

c la r i f ied ,  s ince  the  very  ear l ies t  conversa t ions s ince  we  

had been invo lved in  May the  p rev ious year  and adv i sed  

Transnet  to  ra ise  the  issues w i th  h im in  a  de ta i led  le t te r  

tha t  he  cou ld  have an oppor tun i ty  to  re f lec t  on  and respond 

and h is  response  f rom outse t  had been abso lu te l y  no  mer i t  

in  any compla in t  aga ins t  me,  th is  i s  a  consp i racy  and fo r  

the  very  f i rs t  t ime now in  October  2010,  ac tua l l y  about  18  

months  la te r,  Mr  Gama sa id  fa i r  enough,  I  am gu i l t y  o f  the  

m isconduct .  10 

 That  does have consequences in  employment  law 

because one o f  the  ways when you dea l  w i th  the  quest ion  

o f  sanct ion ,  peop le  who unders tand what  has gone  wrong  

and commi t  to  redress are  much eas ie r  fo r  an  employer  to  

accept  m ight  be  su i tab le  fo r  fu tu re  employment  bu t  a t  the 

t ime tha t  Mr  Gama the  sanct ion  was app l ied ,  he  s t i l l  

v igo rous l y  res i s ted  any suggest ion  tha t  he  had ever  done  

anyth ing  wrong.    

So I  do  no t  –  I  th ink  th is  wou ld  have been an  

example  o f  say ing  okay,  I  was gu i l t y  o f  m isconduct ,  was 20 

ra the r  la te  in  the  day to  be  ab le  to  say a t  the  barga in ing  

counc i l  I  am actua l l y  accept ing  the  wrongdo ing  but  i t  was,  

in  any event ,  i t  was the  f i rs t  t ime and he now sa id  he  wou ld  

s t i l l  say  tha t  d ismissa l  was an  unfa i r  sanct ion  in  the 

c i rcumstances and he wou ld  now ra ise  procedura l  
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compla in t s .   In  o ther  words,  he  wou ld  pers is t  in  a rgu ing  

tha t  there  had been procedura l  un fa i rness.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  were  those procedura l  

compla in t s?  

MR TODD:    The f i rs t  one was one  I  a l luded to  ear l ie r  tha t  

he  sa id  you shou ld  have run  an arb i t ra t ion  and not  a  

d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing ,  a  p re-d ismissa l  a rb i t ra t ion  o f  a  

d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing .    

Apar t  f rom the  fac t  tha t  on  the  face  o f  i t  i t  i s  

d i f f i cu l t  to  unders tand what  cou ld  poss ib l y  be  un fa i r  about  10 

tha t .    The t ru th  was,  i f  one looked a t  our  repor t  and the  

h is to ry  o f  how we t r ied  to  do  i t ,  we ac tua l l y  t r ied  on 

Transnet ’s  beha l f  ex t remely  ha rd  to  ge t  an  arb i t ra t ion  

go ing  and were  met  w i th  ser ious res i s tance and oppos i t ion  

a t  eve ry  leve l  by  Mr  Gama and h is  team.   

 So in  fac t  Transnet  had conver ted  i t  to  a  

d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  wh ich  favoured Mr  Gama by no t  

mak ing  i t  f ina l  and b ind ing  in  o rder  s imp ly  to  move the  

process fo rward .   So i t  was not  a  po in t  tha t  anybody I  

thought  had –  was go ing  to  have any legs in  an  arb i t ra t ion .  20 

 And then he a lso  ra ised the  po in t  tha t  the  

Cha i rperson had  prev ious l y  pe r fo rmed work  fo r  Transnet .   

That  i s  a  cur ious  compla in t .    He had in  fac t  p roposed the  

Cha i rperson.   But ,  you know,  when you appo in t  an  

independent  ou ts ider  you do so  as  a  proxy  fo r  a  manager.   
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Ac tua l l y  you can  be employed fu l l t ime by  Transnet  and 

fa i r l y  s i t  and pres ide  over  a  d isc ip l inary  hear ing .   So the 

propos i t ion  tha t  you had to  appo in t  a  Cha i rpe rson o f  a  

d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  tha t  had never  done work  fo r  Transnet  

was a  very  weak  one.   And there  is  a  –  you know,  tha t  i s  

the  k ind  o f  a rgument  tha t  he  brought  on  a  p rocedura l  

bas is ,  we d id  no t  th ink  there  was much mer i t  in  any o f  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Even i f  Mr  Gama had succeeded in  

es tab l i sh ing  those procedura l  compla in t s  wou ld  t ha t  have  

been enough to  secure  h i s  re ins ta tement?  10 

MR TODD:    Wel l ,  no ,  in  labour  law i f  you show procedura l  

un fa i rness i t  i s  very  c lear  and fo r  good reason.   I f  you  

show p rocedura l  un fa i rness on ly,  i t  i s  apparent  tha t  there 

was good reason to  d ismiss  you but  there  is  some 

procedura l  un fa i rness,  you can expect  o f  ask  an  a rb i t ra to r  

to  g ive  compensat ion .   So your  remedies  are  l im i ted  to  

some fo rm o f  f inanc ia l  compensat ion  to  the  max imum of  12 

months  pay bu t  you cannot  ge t  re ins ta tement  fo r  a  

p rocedura l  un fa i rness.  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  wou ld  have been the  lega l  pos i t ion  20 

a t  the  t ime –  I  know tha t  there  was a  t ime when i f  

p rocedura l  un fa i rness had been shown the  employee had to 

be  awarded compensat ion  and  cou ld  no t  be  awarded  

noth ing  bu t  a t  the  t ime when th is  happened cou ld  he  have 

found h imse l f  in  a  s i tua t ion  where  there  is  a  f ind ing  o f  
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p rocedura l  un fa i rness bu t  because o f  the  spec i f i c  

c i rcumstances o f  the  case and the  ser iousness  o f  the 

m isconduct  and what  Transnet  may have los t  f inanc ia l l y  as  

a  resu l t  o f  h is  ac t ions,  cou ld  i t  have –  was i t  poss ib le  tha t  

the  arb i t ra to r  m ight  we l l  say  he  shou ld  ge t  no th ing? 

MR TODD:    Yes,  the  prov i s ion  says jus t  and equ i tab le  

compensat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    So  there  is  no  prescr ibed amount  o ther  than a 

cap a t  12  months .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    So  i t  i s  qu i te  poss ib le  –  whether,  i f  as  an  

arb i t ra to r  shou ld  say I  am f ind ing  i t  un fa i r  in  g iv ing  you  

noth ing  or  –  and  i t  i s  theore t ica l l y  poss ib le ,  he  sa id  you  

commi t ted  ex t remely  ser ious m isconduct  w i th  very  ser ious  

consequences fo r  the  company.   There  was a  p rocedura l  

i r regu lar i t y  bu t  i t  cannot  be  sa id  to  have a f fec ted  you  

mater ia l l y.   So jus t  and equ i tab le ,  you do not  ge t  any  

compensat ion ,  i t  is  poss ib le  to  do  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  because I  am jus t  th ink ing  i f ,  th rough  20 

your  conduct ,  your  employer  has los t  R100 mi l l ion ,  fo r  

example .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No i t  i s  shown tha t  the  employer,  in  

runn ing  the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing ,  you know,  has s l ipped up 
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a  b i t  so  there  was procedura l  un fa i rness bu t  when you look 

a t  what  the  employer  has los t  th rough your  conduct ,  you  

say why shou ld  we say th is  employer  must  g i ve  th is  

employee R100 000 because o f  tha t ,  you know? 

MR TODD:    Yes.   And there  a re  cases where  tha t  has 

happened and o therwise  an  arb i t ra to r  m ight  g ive  jus t  a  

nomina l  compensat ion .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR TODD:    Some arb i t ra to rs  a re  anx ious tha t  i f  there  has  

been an unfa i rness there  shou ld  be  a  consequence but  10 

jus t i ce  and equ i ty  mean tha t  you must  modera te  and take  

in to  account  a l l  re levant  fac to rs .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja ,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Perhaps,  I  cou ld  jus t  ask  you -   Mr  

Todd,  i f  you  need  to re f lec t  on  th is ,  you can,  bu t  we know 

tha t  cur ren t ly  there  is  a  s ta tu tory  ba r  to  re ins ta tement  i f  

there  i s  a  f ind ing  on ly  o f  p rocedura l  un fa i rness.   Was tha t  

a lso  the  pos i t ion  in  2010?  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  i n  o rde r  to  secure  re ins ta tement  20 

–  and you dea l  w i th  th is  in  paragraph 13 –  what  wou ld  Mr  

Gama have had to  es tab l i sh?  

MR TODD:    We l l ,  he  wou ld  have had to  have es tab l i sh  

what  in  labour  law te rms is  ca l led  substant ive  un fa i rness,  

under  the  Labour  Re la t ions Act  and in  th is  par t i cu la r  
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con tex t  h i s  on l y  content ion  tha t  cou ld  have es tab l i shed 

substant ive  un fa i rness was tha t  d ismissa l  was too  harsh  a  

sanct ion  or  tha t  -  the  proper  language is  d ismissa l  was not  

an  appropr ia te  sanct ion  fo r  the  m isconduct .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now –  I  am so r ry,  jus t  on  tha t ,  because 

tha t  i s  impor tan t  because when  Transnet  negot ia tes  a  

se t t lement  w i th  h im on the  bas i s  tha t  there  i s  th is  un fa i r  

d ismissa l  c la im pend ing  befo re  the  barga in ing  counc i l ,  one 

–  i t  needs to  be  looked a t  how s t rong h is  case is .   I s  the  

pos i t ion ,  as  you  unders tand i t ,  tha t  a t  the  ba rga in ing  10 

counc i l  a t  tha t  t ime he was on ly  compla in ing  about  

sanct ion  and he had s ta ted  the  grounds why he was say ing  

the  sanct ion  was  unfa i r  o r  inappropr ia te  qu i te  c lear ly  o r  

was th is  a  s i tua t ion  where  you knew tha t  he  was  say ing  

d ismissa l  was no t  appropr ia te  bu t  exact ly  on  what  g rounds  

he was say ing  i t  was not  appropr ia te  was not  c lear?  

MR TODD:    Cha i rperson,  he  had se t  i t  ou t  in  b road te rms  

in  some wr i t ten  submiss ions tha t  had been de l i ve red but  

th is  a rb i t ra t ion  tha t  was schedu led  in  January  2011  wou ld  

have invo lved ora l  ev idence.   So Mr  Gama was f ree  to  20 

come to  the  arb i t ra t ion  and,  as  i t  were ,  lay  ou t  h i s  s to ry  

and say,  you know,  these are  my reasons.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    And so  we d id  no t  t rea t  i t  as  though he was  

l im i ted  bu t  he  had not  in  those wr i t ten  submiss ions or  in  
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any  way sa id  anyth ing  tha t  caused the  lega l  team o f  

Transnet  to  exper ience any anx ie ty  tha t  he  m ight  have a  

po in t .   We were  -  you know,  he  had not  sa id  anyth ing  tha t  

suggested or  tha t  caused us  to  th ink  tha t  an  arb i t ra to r  was  

l i ke ly  to  be  persuaded.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes no ,  I  unders tand tha t  maybe he 

cou ld  add or  whatever  because th is  was an arb i t ra t ion ,  i t  

was not  p lead ings in  a  c i v i l  case or  anyth ing  l i ke  t ha t  bu t  

in  te rms o f  h is  known case,  known in  te rms o f  the  

documents  tha t  had been exchanged,  a re  you c lea r  o r  were  10 

you c lear  in  you r  own mind wha t  h is  g rounds were  fo r  

say ing  d ismissa l  was not  appropr ia te  or  because  o f  the 

lapse o f  t ime your  reco l lec t ion  m ight  no t  be  so  c lea r.  

MR TODD:    I  am a f ra id  I  cannot  say  in  de ta i l ,  Cha i rpe rson.   

There  were  two bas i s  th ings.   One  was the  propos i t ion  tha t  

the  conduct  was not  se r ious enough and he had in t imated 

i f  no t  sa id  tha t  exp l i c i t l y.    

 And the  second was tha t  he  fe l t  and be l ieved he 

had been s igna l led  ou t  and tha t  sor t  o f  cons i s tency theme 

s t i l l  ran  th rough h is  genera l  compla in ts .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Thank you,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank  you,  Cha i rperson.   A t  

parag raph 14 you  dea l  w i th  someth ing  tha t  you a l ready had 

and tha t  re la tes  to  the  fac t  tha t  a t  the  d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  

when i t  came to  the  sanct ion  s tage  Mr  Gama dec ided not  to  
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par t i c i pa te  in  the  lead ing  o f  ev idence.  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Jus t  exp la in  who tha t  worked?  

MR TODD:    Wel l  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    How the  hear ing  then panned out?  

MR TODD:    Wel l ,  the  way i t  worked is  tha t  a  hear ing  was  

schedu led  a t  wh ich  you were  en t i t led  –  the  par t ies ,  bo th  

par t ies ,  were  en t i t led  to  de l i ver  o ra l ,  to  lead w i tnesses and  

de l i ver  ev idence  and ra i se  any po in ts  tha t  they be l ieved 

were  re levant  to  the  quest ion  o f  sanct ion .    10 

 Transnet  led  the  ev idence o f  i t s  then Act ing  Ch ie f  

Execut ive ,  Mr  Wel l s ,  who rea l l y  dea l t  and took the  

Cha i rperson th rough pr imar i l y  the  ser iousness o f  hav ing  a  

Ch ie f  Execut ive  in  Mr  Gama’s  pos i t ion  do ing  what  had  

happened in  re la t ion  to  a l l  th ree  charges separa te ly  and  

tha t  ev idence was led  and reco rded but  Mr  Gama has  

chosen tha t  he  wou ld  no t  and he wou ld  s imp ly  make  wr i t ten 

rep resenta t ions on  sanct ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you remember  whether  Mr  Gama or  

h is  lawyers  s ta ted  what  they were  submi t t ing  wou ld  be  an  20 

appropr ia te  sanc t ion  i f  d ismissa l  was not  an  appropr ia te  

sanct ion  or  d id  they no t  commi t  themse lves to  what  the  

appropr ia te  sanct ion  wou ld  be  fo r  hav ing  been found gu i l t y  

o f  these th ree  ac t s  o f  m isconduct?  

MR TODD:    I  cannot  remember,  Cha i rperson,  i t  was in  t he  
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wr i t ten  submiss ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    Bu t  I  cannot  remember.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Todd,  you go on to  exp la in  tha t  

Mr  Gama was d ismissed a t  the  end o f  June 2010.   Th i s  i s  

a t  parag raph 16.   And then you go on to  dea l  w i th  the  

arb i t ra t ion .   You say i t  was in i t ia l l y  schedu led  dur ing  

October  2010 and  was postponed,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR TODD:    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And when was i t  then reschedu led  

fo r?  

MR TODD:    So  i t  was schedu led  and I  cannot  remember  

why i t  d id  no t  go  ahead in  October.   I t  i s  no t  uncommon 

tha t  –  and I  reca l l  tha t  i t  may we l l  be  the  ba rga in ing  

counc i l  d id  what  i t  normal l y  does ,  i s  schedu le  someth ing  

fo r  one day and the  par t ies  ag reed and sa id  le t  us  p ick  a  

week and i t  cou ld  be  th ree  or  four  o r  f i ve  days when  we are  

a l l  ava i lab le  and  nobody wanted  to  de lay  i t  so  January  

2011 was p icked  as  a  da te  when  a l l  o f  the  lega l  counse l  20 

and everybody was ava i lab le  to  run  i t  and then the  par t ies  

agreed tha t  i t  wou ld  be  se t  down and d isposed o f  in  the  

week o f  24  January  2011.  

 So tha t  i s  fa i r l y  exped i t ious ly,  barga in ing  labour  

d isputes  are  supposed to  be  reso lved qu i te  qu i ck ly,  the  
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d ispute  hav ing  been re fe r red  in  Ju ly,  i t  pushed  i t  in to 

beyond s ix  months  bu t  i t  was not  unreasonab le  per iod  and  

so  bu t  the  par t ies  cer ta in ly  in tended tha t  i t  be  d isposed o f  

conc luded in  January.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Was the  who le  week then se t  as ide  

fo r  the  mat te r?  

MR TODD:    My reco l lec t ion  is  the  who le  week,  i f  i t  was – 

m ight  have been  four  days ins tead o f  f i ve  bu t  I  th ink  the  

par t ies  had agreed tha t  they shou ld  be  ava i lab le  the  who le  

week because they wanted to  comple te  i t  in  tha t  week.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And was your  v iew tha t  th is  mat te r  

was capab le  o f  be ing  comple ted  in  tha t  t ime? 

MR TODD:    Def in i te ly.   Wi th  the  re la t i ve ly  l im i ted  issues,  

w i th  the  admiss ion  o f  gu i l t  on  the  charges,  focus on  

sanct ion ,  there  wou ld  have been a  l im i ted  number  o f  

w i tnesses requ i red  and we had no doubt  tha t  i t  cou ld  be  

d isposed o f  in  tha t  week.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You then go  on to  ment ion  tha t  in  the 

in te r im in  October  2010 a  new min is te r  was appo in ted .   

Cou ld  you dea l  w i th  tha t  p lease?  20 

MR TODD:    Yes.   And so  I  do  no t  –  I  know th is  f rom pub l ic  

s ta tements  bu t  I  have fo l lowed those pub l i c  s ta tements  

qu i te  c lose ly  because they had very  b ig  bear ing  on  our  

conduct  o f  th is  mat te r  and the  –  e f fec t i ve ly  the  pub l i c  

events  tha t  impacted on th is  were  tha t  in  October  Min is te r  
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Hogan was rep laced.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mrs  Hogan.  

MR TODD:    I  have read in  he r  ev idence tha t  she was  

appo in ted  to  be  the  ambassador  o f  F in land.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  she was d ismissed on  the  31  

October  2010.  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And Min i s te r  G igaba was appo in ted  in  

her  pos i t ion  w i th  e f fec t  f rom the  1  November  2010.   That  i s  

the  ev idence tha t  Mrs  Hogan gave.  10 

MR TODD:    Yes.   And I  th ink  I  a lso  saw f rom then Min is te r  

Hogan ’s  ev idence tha t  she had been –  I  re fe r red  to  i t  

ear l ie r,  had been fo r  some t ime  want ing  to  ge t  a  new 

board ,  there  needed to  be  rep lacement ,  you know,  te rms o f  

o f f i ce  come up and she had needed  to  ge t  a  board  in  p lace .    

And,  as  I  have sa id ,  she was obv ious l y  anx ious to  

ge t  a  board  rep laced tha t  was su i t ab le ,  b i t  fo r  purpose,  and 

so  one o f  the  th ings –  presumably  one o f  the  f i rs t  th ings on  

the  new min is te r ’s  desk was to  appo in t  new members  to  

the  board  and so  those appo in tments  happened  in  ear l y  20 

December  2010.   They were  pub l i c ly  announced then,  a t  

leas t .   

 I  do  no t  know the  de ta i l s  o f  how they were  made 

but  cer ta in ly  I  read the  pub l i c  announcements  f rom the  

min is t r y  about  who had been appo in ted .   There  were  twe lve  
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new members  and th ree  members  remained.   Three o f  the 

ex i s t ing  members  were  reappo in ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR TODD:    And then what  happened i s  because th is  

pos i t ion  o f  Group  Ch ie f  Execut ive  was s t i l l  vacant ,  I  do  no t  

know in  exact ly  what  c i rcumstances Mr  Wel l s  ceased to 

cont inue to  ac t  in  tha t  capac i ty  because he had been  

ac t ing  as  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  s ince  the  prev ious Group  

Ch ie f  Execut ive  had le f t  wh ich  was probab ly  18  months  or  

more  pr io r  to  th is .   In  fac t  i t  was p robab ly  two years  pr io r,  I  10 

have not  looked a t  i t  exact ly.  

 But  Mr  Mkhwanaz i  was appo in ted  as  Cha i r  o f  the  

board  and he assumed the  ro le  o f  ac t ing  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Off i ce r  as  we l l  and so  he  was se rv i c ing  in  bo th 

o f  those ro les  wh ich ,  f rom a  corpo ra te  governance po in t  o f  

v iew,  i s  no t  idea l  bu t  I  unders tand  i t  was in tended to  be  a  

shor t  t ime on ly  un t i l  they  had appo in ted  a  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Off i ce r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  Mr  Mkhwanaz i  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  i t  wou ld  be  in te res t ing  –  we l l ,  I  20 

assume tha t  Mr  Wel ls  must  have le f t  bu t  i t  wou ld  be 

in te res t ing  to  know whether  he  had  not  le f t  o r  i f  he  le f t  the  

c i rcumstances under  wh ich  he  wou ld  have le f t .   Ja ,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Todd,  how before  the  schedu led  

arb i t ra t ion  commencing  on the  24 t h  o f  January  was the  new 
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Board  and Mr  Mkwanazi  then appo in ted .  

MR TODD:    Yes  s i r  they  were  appo in ted  in  December  o f  

2010,  so  I  th ink  I  suggested tha t  was around s ix  weeks 

before  the  arb i t ra t ion  was due to  take  p lace,  and they – so  

i t  wou ldn ’ t  –  we l l  i t  may or  may not  have surp r ised any 

need to  know tha t  they regarded th is  as  a  h igh  pr io r i t y,  i t  

cou ld  have been  a  low pr io r i t y,  i t  cou ld  have been one 

wh ich  they dec ided or  they knew the  Ch ie f  Execut ive  sa id  

can I  jus t  check i t  i s  a l l  in  hand,  anyth ing  I  need to  know 

about .   I  p robab ly  wou ld  have sa id  to  h im no not  rea l l y,  10 

every th ing  i s  a l l  in  hand,  you don ’ t  need to  wor ry  about  i t ,  

bu t  i t  i s  apparent  and f rom the  th ing  –  f rom what  fo l lowed  

fo r  Mkwanaz i  th is  was a  ve ry  h igh  pr io r i t y  and he  had a  

very  pa r t i cu la r  des i re  to  reso lve  or  to  dea l  w i th  Mr  Gama 

le t ’s  say.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     So as  o f  January  2011 what  was the  

pos i t ion  in  re la t ion  to  the  cost  o rder  tha t  had been made 

aga ins t  Mr  Gama in  the  H igh  Cour t  app l i ca t ion?  

MR TODD:    Wel l  ja ,  i t  had not  been pa id  and we had been  

ins t ruc ted  to  recover  the  costs ,  i t  i s  a  fa i r l y  s tandard  20 

procedure ,  one has a  b i l l  o f  cos ts ,  in i t ia l l y  taxed,  you then  

request  tha t  i t  be  pa id  and se t t led  and i t  hadn ’ t  been pa id  

se t t led  and a round th is  t ime we  had been ins t ruc ted  to  

p roceed and you do by  issu ing  a  Wr i t  though your  Sher i f f ’s  

o f f i ce .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    So  there  was a  b i l l  tha t  had been  taxed,  

so  what  was the  to ta l  cos ts  tha t  Mr  Gama owed Transnet ,  

in  te rms o f  tha t  cos t  o rder?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja ,  the  cost  o rder  to  Bowman 

Gi l f i l l an  was –  i t  was taxed and a l l owed –  in  the  amount  o f  

R426 000 666,37,  R426 000.  

CHAIRPERSON:    There  were  o the r,  there  was a  second  

team,  d i rec tor ’s  team,  Eversheds a lso  had a  b i l l  and I  don ’ t  

know what ,  I  was not  respons ib le  fo r  recover ing  those  

costs .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    A l r igh t ,  so  th is  amount  re la ted  to  

seeming ly  Transnet ’s  cos ts .  

MR TODD:    Transnet ’s  tax  costs  in  the   h igh  cour t  

l i t i ga t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    In  the  H igh  Cour t  app l i ca t ion ,  exc lud ing  

the  costs  g ranted by  the  H igh  Cour t  in  favour  o f  the  

ind iv idua l  d i rec to rs .  

MR TODD :    Yes ,  tha t  was the  sub jec t  o f  a  second cost  

o rder  wh ich  wou ld  have been taxed –  prepared and  taxed,  

tha t  was the  b i l l  o f   Eversheds.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    So  how fa r  were  you w i th  t ry ing  to  

recover  tha t  amount  a t  tha t  t ime? 

MR TODD:   We had ins t ruc ted  the  sher i f f  to  a t tach  and I  

th ink  the  proper t y  they had a t tached o f   Mr  Gama was 

shares,  cer ta in  shares tha t  he  owned,  the re  a re  d i f fe ren t  
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ways in  wh ich  a  sher i f f  a t taches  proper ty  bu t  they can 

a t tach  shares he ld  in  a  company  and they had a t tached 

some shares owned by  Mr  Gama.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  Todd cou ld  we then 

tu rn  to  the  events  o f  F r iday the  21s t  o f  January,  tha t ’s  the  

Fr iday immedia te ly  p reced ing  Monday the  24 t h  when the  

arb i t ra t ion  was due to  k ick  o f f .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh,  do  you in tend to  

come back to  ask ing  h im about  what  u l t imate ly  happened 10 

to  the i r  e f fo r ts  to  recover  tha t  amount?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes I  do ,  i t ’s  par t  o f  the  chrono logy  

tha t  f lows.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH:   Mr Todd?    

MR TODD:    Wel l  on  tha t  day,  on  Fr iday,  the  Fr iday be fore  

the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  a rb i t ra t ion  was to  commence I  

rece ived f i rs t  a  te lephone ca l l  and then an emai l  f rom a  

Transnet  lega l  adv i sor  who I  knew,  Mr  Nd ip iwe Sa l inga,  

and he ve ry  s imp ly  communica ted  ins t ruc t ions,  he  sa id  the  20 

new cha i rpe rson o f  the  Board  and  Ch ie f  Execut ive  Off i ce r,  

Mr  Mkwanaz i  has  ins t ruc ted  me to  ins t ruc t  you to  postpone 

the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  A rb i t ra t ion  pend ing  se t t lement  

d iscuss ions and to  a l low se t t lement  d iscuss ions to  take  

the i r  cou rse  and inso far  as  you have a t tached,  a re  seek ing  
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to  recover  t he  costs  wh ich  –  in  wh ich  the  Sher i f f  has  made  

an a t tachment  you are  to  immedia te ly  s top  a l l  fu r the r  s teps  

to  recover  those costs ,  so  those were  in  essence t  he  two 

ins t ruc t ions g iven .   I  don ’ t  reca l l  whether  I  sa id  p lease put  

tha t  in  wr i t ing  or  whethe r  he  vo lun tee red to  pu t  i t  in  

wr i t ing ,  bu t  he  d id  immedia te ly  a f te rwards because they 

were  ser ious ins t ruc t ions tha t  had  a  b ig  impact  on  mat te rs  

tha t  had been ent rus ted  to  us  on  beha l f  o f  Transnet .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now perhaps in  re la t ion  to  the  issue  

o f  cos ts ,  cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  page 105  and to  10 

Annexure  D.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  you  look  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page 

there  is  an  emai l  f rom Mr  Sa l inga  to  you on th is  day,  the  

21 s t  o f  January.  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cou ld  you jus t  dea l  w i th  tha t ,  what  

was the  ins t ruc t ion  tha t  you rece ived in  th is  emai l .  

MR TODD:    Yes ,  tha t ’s  the  emai l  tha t  I  was re fer r ing  to  

when Mr  Sa l inga  put  i t  in  wr i t ing ,  I  see he cop ied  Zo la  20 

S tephen and S iyabu le la  Mapoma in  tha t  emai l  ins t ruc t ion  to  

me,  I  th ink  they were  and in  fac t  when I  rep l ied  I  d id  rep ly  

to  bo th  o f  them as we l l ,  bu t  the  ins t ruc t ion  was to  postpone 

the  mat te r  bu t  then as  regards the  a t tachment  o f  sha res 

and the  recovery  o f  cos ts  tha t  any sa le  in  execu t ion  be  
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cance l led  fo r thwi th ,  the  a t tachment  must  immedia te ly  be  

re leased and the  war ran t  o f  execut ion  he ld  in  abeyance  

pend ing  fu r ther  ins t ruc t ions.    

 So in  fac t  the  appea l  ins t ruc t ion  fo l lowed regard ing  

the  –  they ca l l  i t  –  peop le  ca l l  i t  appea l  bu t  ac tua l l y  i t  i s  

no t ,  i t  was an arb i t ra t ion  bu t  –  and then the  ins t ruc t ion  was  

to  postpone i t ,  s ine  d ie  us ing  the  lega lese wh ich  means 

w i thout  agree ing  a  fu r ther  da te ,  postpone i t  indef in i te ly  to  

a l low the  negot ia t ions  be tween the  par t ies  to  run  the i r  

course .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And a t  the  top  o f  page 106 as  you ’ve  

sa id  i t  says  I  con f i rm tha t  the  Act ing  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  

and Cha i rman o f  the  Board  o f  Transnet ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  has 

ins t ruc ted  as  fo l lows.    

MR TODD:    Yes,  he  spec i f i ca l l y  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then i f  we  come to  the  Monday the  

24 t h  what  d id  you  do then in  re la t ion  to  the  arb i t ra t ion?  

MR TODD:    Wel l  we postponed the  a rb i t ra t ion  as  

ins t ruc ted ,  and I  conf i rmed tha t  in  wr i t ing  to  Transnet  to  

the  same,  to  Mr  Sa l inga copy ing  Ms S tephen and Mr  20 

Mapoma by emai l ,  you have jus t  re fe r red  me to  page 105,  

and a t tached a  le t te r  wh ich  I  have prepared jus t  ve ry  

br ie f l y  and a t  th is  po in t  in  t ime rea l l y   we were  jus t  ve ry  

concerned,  I  was pe rsona l ly  very  concerned tha t  the 

incoming Cha i rpe rson and Ch ie f  Execut ive  had in i t i a ted  a  
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se t t lement  p rocess w i thout  us  even be ing  aware  o f  i t ,  

hav ing  adv i sed Transnet  th rough I  was ve ry  concerned tha t  

he  m ight  no t  have been b r ie fed  on  the  mat te r,  tha t  he  

m ight  no t  have in fo rmat ion  necessary  fo r  h im to  make – to  

en ter  in to  se t t lement  d iscuss ions and make appropr ia te  

dec is ions and nobody was ask ing  us  fo r  –  to  b r ie f  h im so  I  

thought  i t  appropr ia te  and sent  a  le t te r  to  them on the  24 t h  

o f  January  say ing  p lease can you br ing  th is  to  the 

Cha i rman ’s  a t ten t ion  and say tha t  in  essence what  was  

communica ted  in  the  le t te r  o f  tha t  da te ,  bu t  I  wanted to  say 10 

p lease don ’ t  en ter  se t t lement  d iscuss ions on  a  wrong 

assumpt ion  tha t  you have weak prospects  o f  success  in  the  

your  Barga in ing  Counc i l  mat te r  bu t  I  don ’ t  know i f  you want  

me to  dea l  w i th  tha t  now.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes perhaps we can dea l  w i th  th is  

le t te r  a t  th is  po in t ,  as  you say tha t ’s  found a t  107.   Cou ld  

you perhaps go th rough the  le t te r?  

MR TODD:    Wel l  we s imp ly  conf i rmed tha t  we had car r ied  

ou t  the  ins t ruc t ions and then sa id  in  paragraph 3 :  

“To  ensure  tha t  we car ry  ou t  our  p ro fess iona l  20 

ob l iga t ions as  lega l  adv i sors  to  Transnet  and to  

enab le  Transnet  to  make a  dec is ion  on  poss ib le  

se t t lement  . . . ”  

wh ich  we had now been made aware  o f  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime.     

“ . . .w i th  the  benef i t  o f  fu l l  knowledge o f  the  present  
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s ta tus  o f  the  d ispute  and the  l i ke ly  ou tcome o f  Mr  

Gama’s  cha l lenge to  the  fa i rness o f  h is  d ismissa l  i t  

i s  appropr ia te  fo r  us  to  record  tha t  . . . ”  

And then we record  someth ing ,  the  f i rs t  one tha t  we are  

recover ing  f rom Mr  Gama is  ac tua l l y  due under  a  cour t  

o rde r,  i t  i s  no t  someth ing  tha t  somebody jus t  dec ided to  

recover  f rom h im,  he  has been ordered to  pay tha t  amount  

to  Transnet .  

 The second th ing  was to  record  how the  issues had  

been nar rowed,  h is  compla in t  was no longer  tha t  he  hadn ’ t  10 

been gu i l t y  o f  m isconduct ,  and  to  say inso fa r  as  he  is  

cha l leng ing  the  sanct ion  we  sa id  the  na ture  and  

ser iousness o f  the  m isconduct  on  the  par t  o f  a  sen io r  

execut ive  such as  Mr  Gama,  and the  e f fec t  o f  tha t  

m isconduct  on  Transnet  a re  se t  ou t  c lea r ly  in  a  number  o f  

ex t rac ts  in  the  wr i t ten  f ind ings o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  

cha i rperson.    

 The wr i t ten  f ind ings a lso  iden t i f y  a  range o f  

concerns about  the  cred ib i l i t y  o f  Mr  Gama’s  ve rs ion  in  the 

d isc ip l ina ry  process.   Th i rd ,  the  lega l  team rep resent ing  20 

Transnet  in  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  A rb i t ra t ion ,  inc lud ing  

sen ior  counse l ,  is  sa t i s f ied  tha t  even on Mr  Gama’s  own  

cur ren t  vers ion  i t  i s  l i ke ly  tha t  the  sanct ion  and d ismissa l  

w i l l  be  uphe ld  as  fa i r  fo r  the  th ree  separa te  charges o f  

m isconduct  o f  wh ich  he  has now admi t ted  gu i l t y.  
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 The Cha i rperson  o f  the  inqu i ry  who reads the  

conc lus ion  is  a  h igh ly  respected sen io r  counse l  and labour  

a rb i t ra to r  who was in i t ia l l y  p roposed as  arb i t ra to r  by  Mr  

Gama and whose in tegr i t y  has never  been ca l l ed  in to  

quest ion .  

 Four,  in  add i t ion  Transnet  and i t s  lega l  team are  

aware  o f  and a re  ready to  p resent  in  the  Barga in ing  

Counc i l  a rb i t ra t ion  fu r ther  fac ts  and c i rcumstances tha t  

show Mr  Gama’s  cur ren t  vers ion  is  fa lse  in  mater ia l  

respects .   Th i s  s ign i f i can t ly  aggravates  the  ser iousness o f  10 

the  m isconduct  and makes i t  more  l i ke ly  s t i l l  tha t  the  

Barga in ing  Counc i l  A rb i t ra to r  w i l l  f ind  Mr  Gama’s  d i smissa l  

to  have been fa i r,  and then we acknowledge tha t  maybe 

prospects  o f  success is  no t  the  on ly  i ssue and i t  may fo r  

example  make commerc ia l  sense  to  pay a  ce r ta in  amount  

to  e l im ina te  fu r ther  lega l  cos ts  and br ing  the  d i spu te  to  an  

end.  

 There  may be o ther  cons idera t ions  and we –  bu t  we  

a lso  reminded  Transnet  tha t  the  Pub l ic  F inance  

Management  Act  i s  a lso  an  issue where  proceed ings  o f  th is  20 

k ind  a re  mandated and requ i re  where  pub l i c  funds had  

been used or  abused or  improper ly  spent ,  and so  we sa id  

tha t  i s  a lso  someth ing  the  Board  must  take  in to  account .   

P lease br ing  i t  to  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  Cha i rman and Act ing  

Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  and we  sa id  we are  w i l l i ng ,  i f  
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requ i red ,  to  meet  to  d iscuss the  issues ra i sed in  th is  le t te r  

and the  fac ts  and  c i rcumstances re levant  to  the  d ispute .  

 So I  wanted to  make sure  tha t  the  Cha i rman 

rea l i sed there  is  a  channe l  to  b r ie f  you i f  you  want  to  use  

i t ,  bu t  I  d id  no t  want  h im to  proceed w i thout  know ing tha t  

there  i s  a  s to ry  here  wh ich  shou ld  impact  on  se t t lement .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And in  par t i cu la r  you make i t  qu i te  c lear  

in  paragraph 3 .3  page 108 tha t  there  is  –  was every  reason  

to  be l ieve  tha t  the  arb i t ra to r  wou ld  upho ld  the  d ismissa l .  

MR TODD:    Yes,  we were  very  c lear  on  tha t  po in t ,  and we 10 

t r ied  to  communica te  i t  as  c r i sp l y  –  you know Cha i rperson 

we accept  lawyers  can be over l y  op t im is t i c  about  the i r  

cases.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR TODD:     So  one has to  be  a  b i t  care fu l  bu t  on  the  

o ther  hand i f  you learn  in  a  case tha t  you had adv ised your  

c l ien t  i t  i s  most  l ike l y  to  w in  tha t  your  c l ien t  w i thout  te l l ing 

you is  p ropos ing  to  se t t le  you ge t  a  b i t  wor r ied  tha t  they 

m ight  be  se t t l ing  on  a  wrong assumpt ion  about  the  s t rength  

o f  the i r  case and tha t  was what  happen ing  here  and we  20 

were  ve ry  concerned to  make su re  tha t  i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  

no  such mis take shou ld  be  made.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  o f  course  i t  seems to  me tha t  th is  

was an easy case fo r  a  lawyer  to  adv i se  on ,  compared to  

many cases tha t  lawyers  in  p rac t ice  have to  dea l  w i th  and  
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g ive  adv i ce  on ,  s imp ly  because by  tha t  t ime you  had a  

s i tua t ion  where  Mr  Gama had –  was admi t t ing  gu i l t y  in  

regard  to  the  m isconduct ,  ac ts  o f  m isconduct  tha t  he  had  

been found gu i l t y  o f  so  you knew tha t  there  was  no r i sk  

tha t  a t  the  arb i t ra t ion  the  arb i t ra to r  cou ld  f ind  tha t  he  was 

not  gu i l t y.  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you know whereas in  o ther  s i t ua t ions 

you might  have tha t  k ind  o f  s i tua t ion  to  say we l l  there  

m ight  be  a  change o f  the  f ind ing  o f  gu i l t  bu t  th is  was a  10 

case where ,  tha t  he  was gu i l t y  o f  these th ree  ac ts  o f  

m isconduct  was not  in  i ssue any more ,  i t  was adm i t ted ,  so 

a l l  tha t  was le f t  was h im be ing  gu i l t y  o f  these th ree  ac ts  o f  

m isconduct .    

 Was there  any th ing  un fa i r  about  h im be ing  

d ismissed?  

MR TODD:  That ’s  co r rec t  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Todd you ment ion  in  pa rag raph 

3 .4  tha t  you were  ready to  p resent  ev idence tha t  wou ld  20 

es tab l i sh  tha t  Mr  Gama’s  vers ion  was fa lse  in  mater ia l  

respects ,  you have exp la ined the  impact  o f  tha t  in  re la t ion  

to  sanct ion ,  bu t  can you reca l l  what  ev idence you are  

re fer r i ng  to  he re?   

MR TODD:    I  cannot ,  I  can ’ t  reca l l  exact ly  what  i s  be ing  
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re fe r red  to  bu t  cer ta in l y  a  mater ia l  o f  our  p repara t ion  fo r  

the  arb i t ra t ion  was the  po in t  tha t  I  ra ised ea r l ie r  tha t  the  

Cha i rperson had  been generous w i th  Mr  Gama,  because 

there  were  a  number  o f  respects  in  wh ich  h is  ev idence 

apar t  f rom the  admi t ted  fa lse  ev idence about  h is  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Genera l  Nyanda there  were  a  number  o f  

o ther  a reas in  wh ich  on  h is  own ve rs ion  he  had  

cont rad i c ted  h imse l f  to  an  ex ten t  tha t  i t  s imp ly  wasn ’ t  

poss ib le  tha t  he  had been te l l ing  the  t ru th ,  and when you 

dea l  w i th  whether  d ismissa l  i s  an  appropr ia te  sanct ion  i t  i s  10 

very  impor tan t  to  dea l  –  to  know whethe r  o r  no t  a  person  

who is  say ing  i t  i s  no t  appropr ia te  i s  ac tua l l y  a  t ru th fu l  

w i tness arb i t ra t ion  and we were  conf ident  tha t  we shou ld  

show tha t  Mr  Gama was not  a  t ru th fu l  w i tness.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  in  o ther  words are  you say ing  even 

though he admi t ted  gu i l t  in  respect  o f  f ind ings tha t  d idn ’ t  

go  to  h i s  honesty  and so  on  as  made by  the  Cha i rperson o f  

the  d isc ip l inary  inqu i ry  your  approach as  the  lega l  team for  

Transnet  was tha t  you wou ld  see to  show tha t  h is  

ev idence,  o r  some par ts  o f  h is  ev idence in  the  d isc ip l inary  20 

inqu i ry  had been d ishonest?  

MR TODD:    Yes,  yes  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR TODD:   In  s imp le  te rms i f  somebody is  gu i l t y  o f  

ser ious neg l igence,  bu t  in  dea l ing  w i th  i t  they  have to ld  
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l i es ,  even d ishonest  o r  f a lse  or  m is lead ing  ev idence about  

the i r  neg l igence in  an  a t tempt  to  concea l  o r  cover  i t  up  i t  

becomes a  mate r ia l  aggravat ing  fac to r,  and you assess 

whethe r  shou ld  you d ismiss  somebody fo r  tha t  neg l igence 

and  you are  compar ing  tha t  to  a  person who says I  see  

what  has gone wrong,  I  am rea l l y  sor ry  about  tha t ,  I  w i l l  do  

whatever  I  can w i th in  my power  to  f i x  i t .  

 They a re  two ve ry  d i f fe ren t  t ypes  o f  s i tua t ion  and 

Mr  Gama we were  very  conf ident  was the  fo rmer,  the  

person who had  to ld  many unt ru ths  i n  an  a t tempt  to  10 

concea l  the  conduct  tha t  he  had now admi t ted  he  was  

gu i l t y  o f .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Todd d id  you ever  rece ive  a  

response to  your  le t te r  o f  the  24 t h  o f  January?  

MR TODD:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Pa rag raph  24 o f  you r  a f f idav i t  a t  

page 53 you go on to  exp la in  tha t  you were  contac ted  by  

Mr  Gu lay,  cou ld  you dea l  w i th  tha t  p lease.  

MR TODD:    Yes so  no  response to  the  le t te r  bu t  i t  became 20 

apparent  to  us  what  Transnet  and  i t s  cha i rman were  do ing  

fo r  whatever  reason they had dec ided,  the  Cha i rman had 

dec ided to  appo in t  a  new law f i rm and perhaps le t ’s  

assume to  br ing  a  f resh  se t  o f  eyes to  the  prob lem.   I  don ’ t  

take  these sor t  o f  th ings persona l ly,  fee l  pe rsona l l y  
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a f f ron ted ,  the  Cha i rman might  have h is  own  t rus ted  

adv isors  or  peop le  tha t  he  fee l s  tha t  wou ld  be  bet te r  and 

so  –  be t te r  su i ted  to  adv ice  in  th is  ins tance or  he  jus t  

wanted a  f resh  pa i r  o f  eyes,  so  what  we learn t  be tween 

th is  le t te r  and over  the  next  few days is  tha t  the  law f i rm,  

Deneys Re i tz ,  had been appo in ted  to  adv i se  Transnet  and 

the  Cha i rman on  a  se t t lement  d iscuss ions e f fec t i ve l y  on  

dea l ing  w i th  the  Transnet  mat te r  and the  se t t lement  

d iscuss ions.  

 We were  no t  to ld  tha t  they wou ld  be  tak ing  ove r  the  10 

conduct  o f  the  arb i t ra t ion  so  in  my  mind i f  they  had adv ised  

the  Cha i rman tha t  se t t lement  was not  a  good idea o r  

se t t lement  hadn ’ t  been poss ib le  i t  i s  qu i te  –  i t  was qu i t e  

poss ib le  s t i l l  a t  tha t  s tage tha t  we  wou ld  have cont inued to  

run  the  mat te r,  bu t  I  unders tood  Deneys Re i tz  had been  

br ie fed  to  adv ise  the  Cha i rman on the  mat te r  and so  I  

communica ted ,  and I  don ’ t  remember  whether  the  a t to rney 

a t  Deneys Re i tz  phoned or  whether  I  was asked to  ca l l  h im,  

bu t  cer ta in ly  I  subsequent ly  sent  h im an emai l  w i th  as  

much in fo rmat ion  as  I  cou ld ,  and  sa id  t ha t  i f  he  had any 20 

quest ions o r  needed to  be  br ie fed  o r  to  unders tand  

anyth ing  about  the  mat te r  p lease to  le t  me know.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  a t  tha t  s tage your  mandate  had not  

been te rm inated to  conduct  the i r  –  o r  to  p resent  Transnet  

a t  the  arb i t ra t ion .  
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MR TODD:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  bu t  o f  course  i t  was  

s t range,  was i t  no t ,  tha t  wh i le  you were  rep resent ing  

Transnet  in  re la t ion  to  the  arb i t ra t ion  and you were  the  law  

f i rm tha t  had been invo lved fo r  a  f ew  years  in  the  mat te r,  

maybe two years  or  whatever,  f rom the  t ime o f  the 

d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  when there  were  se t t lement  

negot ia t ions  you  were  no t  asked  fo r  anyth ing  about  the  

se t t lement .  

MR TODD;    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    You were  no t  to ld  anyth ing ,  you jus t  

heard  tha t  anothe r  law f i rm wou ld  adv i se  on  se t t lement  that  

must  have been s t range.  

MR TODD:   Chai rpe rson i t  was ve ry  s t range  to  us  tha t  we 

weren ’ t  even aware  tha t  se t t lement  negot ia t ions  had been 

in i t ia ted  w i thout  recourse  to  us .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:  Now lawyers  don ’ t  have a  monopo ly  o r  cont ro l  

o r  the  r igh t  to  say I  must  cont ro l ,  bu t  the  reason I  had 

wr i t ten  to  the  Cha i rman spec i f i ca l l y  was –  or  wr i t ten  the  20 

le t te r  ask ing  to  be  brought  to  h is  a t ten t ion  was a t  the  very  

leas t  we wou ld  have expected to  be  asked to  b r ie f  the  

company or  whoever  was go ing  to  be  look ing  a t  se t t lement  

so  tha t  they unders tand whatever,  whatever  we know about  

the  mat te r  Transnet  has the  r igh t  to  know,  and so  i t  wou ld  
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be  very  –  i t  i s  ve ry  s t range not  to  take  the  benef i t  o f  what  

your  adv isors  who have rep resented the  company 

th roughout  have learn t  and can te l l  you  about  the  mat te r  

and not  to  even engage w i th  i t  o r  whatever  your  v iews a re  

about  who you wou ld  pre fer  to  engage w i th  and  I  meant  

here  was no way in  my v iew tha t  Deneys Re i tz  cou ld  adv i se  

w i thout  a  fu l l  b r ie f ing  e i ther.  

 How cou ld  they adv ise  Transnet  as  f resh  pa i r  o f  

eyes w i thout  a  fu l l  b r ie f ing  f rom the  lawyers  who had been 

respons ib le  fo r  manag ing  the  mat te r,  bu t  so  e f fec t i ve ly  10 

Transnet  hadn ’ t  contac ted  us ,  they had appo in ted  Deneys 

Re i tz  to  look  a t  the  mat te r  and then I  rea l l y  jus t  t r ied  to  

ass is t  to  b r ie f  them wi th  as  much  in fo rmat ion  as poss ib le  

so  tha t  they cou ld  execute  the i r  –  you know tha t  they cou ld  

adv ise  Transnet  appropr ia te l y  whatever  they were  be ing  

asked to  do .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  ask  you in  tha t  

regard  how long had the  d isc ip l ina ry  inqu i ry  gone on fo r?  

MR TODD:    Wel l  the  process had been ins t i tu ted ,  I  mean i f  20 

you inc lude the  pre-charg ing  engagement  i t  da tes  back 

roundabout  June  the  prev ious year,  so  June 2009 ,  I  th ink  

Mr  Gama was fo rmal ly  charged in  about  August  and then  

the  inqu i ry  even tua l l y  resu l ted  i n  h is  d ismissa l  in  June 

2010,  so  i t  had been go ing  on fo r  tha t  per iod  and then th i s  
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per iod  o f  the  d ispute ,  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  d ispute  had  

s t re tched f rom June unt i l  i t  was about  to  be  f ina l i sed in  

January  2011.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And Mr  Todd  can you reca l l  how many  

days the  d i sc ip l inary  inqu i ry  ran  fo r?    

MR TODD:    Wel l  I  know tha t  the  f ind ing  records 14  days  

on  hear ing ,  I  don ’ t  reca l l  a l l  14  days bu t  i t  was a  long  

inqu i ry  w i th  lo ts  o f  w i tnesses,  s t re tch ing  over  14  days o f  

hear ings over  a  per iod  o f  a  few months,  s t re t ched over  a  

per iod  o f  a  few months.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  your  impress ion  tha t  i t  took  longer  

than 14 days or  less  than 14 days? 

MR TODD:    No  I  th ink  14  days  as  i t  were  in  hear ing  o f  

ev idence ja  i t  wou ld  be  about  r igh t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  we saw yeste rday f rom some 

o f  the  taxed  b i l l s  tha t  there  were  14  days o f  hear ing ,  so  

your  ev idence has been tha t  you p rov ided Mr  Gu lay  w i th  as  

much in fo rmat ion  as  you cou ld ,  amongst  the  th ings tha t  

you prov ided h im  was Annexure  A re fer red  to  in  pa ragraph 

25 o f  your  f i rs t  a f f idav i t  and tha t  you f ind  a t  page 65,  i t  i s  20 

headed “Repor t  fo r  Transnet  on  d i sc ip l inary  process. ”  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Invo lv ing  Mr  Gama prepared on 2  

February  2011.   Now as you know Mr  Todd th is  i s  an  

impor tan t  document  because a t  leas t  some o f  the  d i rec to rs  
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accept  tha t  they had s igh t  o f  i t  and i t  in  fac t  served before  

the  Board  a t  a  po in t .   What  caused  you to  wr i te  th is  repor t ,  

a  lengthy  repor t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  page is  tha t  repor t  aga in?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    65.  

CHAIRPERSON:    65 ,  okay.   

MR TODD:    In  fac t  I  be l ieve  tha t  I  –  tha t  Mr  Mapoma had 

sa id  can I  p repare  a  br ie f ing  no te  o f  some k ind  fo r  the  

Board  and I  was de l igh ted  to  have  an oppor tun i ty  to  do  tha t  

because fo r  the  same reason I  had sent  the  l e t te r  on  the  10 

24 t h  say ing  p lease don ’ t  take  s teps here  w i thout  fu l l  

in fo rmat ion  and had heard  no th ing  be tween then and the  

2 n d  o f  February,  so  by  the  2 n d  o f  February  the  oppor tun i ty  

to  communica te  in  more  de ta i l  I  wanted to  take  aga in  to  

d ischarge what  I  thought  were  our  respons ib i l i t i es  as  

lawyers  to  Transnet  to  ensure  tha t  they were  proper ly  

b r ie fed ,  so  i t  may have some imper fec t ions bu t  what  I  

wanted to  do  was to  make sure  tha t  I  dea l t  w i th  mat te rs  

tha t  had found the i r  way in to  Mr  Gama’s  compla in ts  in  the  

Barga in ing  Counc i l  a rb i t ra t ion ,  the  procedura l  compla in t s ,  20 

the  way,  the  reason why we ran  a  d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  and  

not  an  arb i t ra t ion ,  and so  e f fec t i ve l y  I  sent  them what  –  

and I  a l so  had the  fee l ing  tha t  a l though our  mandated  

hadn ’ t  been te rm inated our  serv ices  d idn ’ t  appear  to  be  

any longer  requ i red ,  so  i t  was qu i te  impor tan t  to  g ive  a 



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 90 of 224 
 

de ta i led  you cou ld  ca l l  i t  a  handover  no te  in  the  hope tha t  

somebody wou ld  read a  de ta i led  handover  no te  on  the  

bas is  o f  p roper  in fo rmat ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  want  to  take  you th rough th is  

repor t ,  some o f  th is  s tu f f  conta ined in  i t  you  have you have  

a l ready dea l t  w i th  and I  won ’ t  then ask  you to  repeat  i t  bu t  

you s ta r t  ou t  a t  pages 65,  66 ,  67  and  68 dea l ing  w i th  the  

invest iga t ions tha t  p receded the  d isc ip l inary  ac t ion  is  the re  

anyth ing  i n  there  –  excuse me –  tha t  you wou ld  l i ke  to  

h igh l igh t?  10 

MR TODD:     My apo log ies ,  you  sa id  page –  up  to  page 

. . . [ in te rvenes]     

ADV MYBURGH SC:    65  th rough to  68 .  

MR TODD:    No I  th ink  the  reason fo r  se t t ing  up  tha t  

background was pr imar i l y  because  there  had been so  much  

no ise  a t  the  beg inn ing  o f  these proceed ings tha t  there  was 

u l te r io r  purpose and tha t  i t  was an a t tempt  to  thwar t  Mr  

Gama’s  ambi t ions  to  be  made Ch ie f  Execut ive  and i t  wasn ’ t  

c lea r  to  me tha t  the  new Board  wou ld  be  proper l y  c i ted  on  

tha t  and there  was –  there  had been a  lo t  o f  no ise  tha t  i t  20 

inc luded po l i t i ca l  fo rmat ions o r  po l i t i c ians mak ing  ve ry  

pub l i c  s ta tements  tha t  Mr  Gama had been unfa i r l y  s ing led  

ou t  and tha t  he  had been somehow the  v i c t im,  rea l l y  

re i te ra t ing  the  case tha t  he  had  brought  and los t  in  the  

H igh  Cour t ,  i t  was s t i l l  very  much a l i ve  in  the  pub l i c  o f  
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course ,  and so  I  thought  i t  necessary  to  se t  ou t  what  we  

had rea l l y  unders tood and had been put  in to  the  h igh  cour t  

p roceed ings how d id  a l l  th is  happen,  i t  wasn ’ t  a  

consp i racy.  

 So those pages rea l l y  dea l  w i th  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Can I  ask  you to  look  a t  parag raph 

16 where  you ment ion  tha t  in  March 2009 ENS was asked  

to  adv ise  on  whether  the  conduct  o f  Mr  Gama jus t i f ied  

d isc ip l ina ry  ac t ion .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And p rov ided a  lega l  op in ion .   

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    How d id  Bowman Gi l f i l l an  then come 

to  be  invo lved?  

MR TODD:    Wel l  a t  tha t  po in t  in  t ime and Mr  Ph iswana,  

who was then the  Cha i r  o f  the  Board ,  had been d iscuss ing 

w i th  o the r  –  and I  knew th is  f rom the i r  a f f idav i t s  in  the  H igh  

Cour t  l i t i ga t ion ,  had been d iscuss ing  what  to  do  about  

these compla in ts  and how they shou ld  be  managed.  

 The Ch ie f  Execu t ive ,  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  had  20 

recent ly  le f t  and  Mr  Wel ls ,  who as  an  ac t ing  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  and they d iscussed i t  and they dec ided tha t  they 

wou ld  l i ke  to  ge t  a  lega l  op in ion  on  whether  th is  

const i tu ted  m isconduct  tha t  needed to  be  dea l t  w i th .   I  

can ’ t  say  exact ly  why,  they p robab ly  were  a  b i t  caut ious  
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because Mr  Gama had put  h is  hands in  the  r ing ,  to  become 

the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  Off i cer  and they p robab ly  

wanted to  make sure  tha t  they proceeded w i th  caut ion ,  I  

am surmis ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  in  fac t  a t  paragraph 19  a t  the  

foo t  o f  page 67 you say in  d iscuss ion  w i th  ENS and o ther  

execut ives  Wel ls  dec ided to  seek h i s  own independent  

lega l  adv i ce  as  to  whether  to  p roceed w i th  d isc ip l inary  

ac t ion  aga ins t  Gama.   Bowman Gi l f i l l an  A t to rneys were  

then ins t ruc ted  in  ear ly  May . . . [ in tervenes]   10 

MR TODD:    Yes I  apo log i se  I  d idn ’ t  answer  your  quest ion  

wh ich  was when  d id  we get  invo lve ,  tha t ’s  when we got  

invo l ved yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then a t  parag raph 21 you say  

Bowman Gi l f i l l an  A t to rneys p rov ided a  lega l  op in ion  da ted 

29 May 2009.  The lega l  adv ice  conf i rmed the  ear ly  adv ice  

o f  ENS and was to  the  e f fec t  tha t  the  issues were  ser ious  

and needed to  be  dea l t  w i th  th rough an appropr ia te  

d isc ip l ina ry  process wh ich  wou ld  g ive  Mr  Gama an  

oppor tun i ty  to  respond,  i s  tha t  cor rec t .    20 

MR TODD:    Yes tha t ’s  r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  the  nex t  par t  o f  your  repor t  you 

dea l  w i th  in i t ia l  a t tempts  to  convene the  d isc ip l ina ry  

process,  I  th ink  you might  have a l ready touched on some 

o f  tha t ,  i s  there  anyth ing  you w ish  to  h igh l igh t?  
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MR TODD:    No a t  tha t  po in t  i t  was our  in ten t ion  to  fo l low  

the  cont rac t  and se t  up  a  pre-d ism issa l  a rb i t ra t ion  p rocess  

and in i t ia l l y  i t  had looked as  though tha t  wou ld  be  poss ib le  

bu t  then Mr  Gama dec ided to  a t tempt  to  in te rd ic t  the  

process,  wh ich  is  what  he  then d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  page  69 you then dea l  w i th  

Gama’s  h igh  cour t  app l i ca t ion  to  in te rd i c t  the  inqu i ry,  we  

have a l ready dea l t  w i th  th is  in  some deta i l .   I s  there 

anyth ing  tha t  you  fee l  needs to  be  h igh l igh ted  the re? 

MR TODD:    No I  th ink  we have dea l t  w i th  –  I  mean I  had  10 

dea l t  there  w i th  the  po in t  about  Mr  Phaswana ev idence in  

h is  a f f idav i t s  say ing  tha t  you know Mr  Gama was e lec ted  

fo r  the  appointment to the posi t ion of  Group Chief  Execut ive 

but  there are important  gaps react ive to the requirements of  

the posi t ion and he current ly requires greater cogni t ive 

development to handle the complexi ty of  th is posi t ion.    

 And there were simi lar points made by Mr Phaswana 

and I  th ink I  referred to them earl ier but  that  is real ly deal t  

wi th in the high court  of  proceedings.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The next  par t  of  your report  deals wi th 20 

at tempts to schedule a discipl inary inqui ry by arbi t rat ion 

through Tukeso [?]  

MR TODD:   Yes.   The contract  of  employment had provided 

for  arbi t rat ion administered by Tukeso [?]  which is a labour 

arbi t rat ion body.   Tukeso [?]  appointed in i t ia l ly one of  thei r  
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most  senior or thei r  most  senior labour arbi t rator.   He was 

in i t ia l ly accepted but  the objected to and there was qui te a 

lot  of  to ing and f roing in our at tempts to arrange an 

arbi t rat ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then you deal  wi th Gama’s subsequent 

object ion to John Myburgh SC and the proposal  of 

a l ternat ive arbi t ra tors.  

MR TODD:   Yes.   Effect ively what  happened is  he in i t ia l ly 

accepted that  John Myburgh would be the arbi t rator.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Was that  John Myburgh? 10 

MR TODD:   Yes.   Advocate John Myburgh.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MR TODD:   He was the nominator – he was the arb i t rator  

nominated by Tukeso [?]  and as we – I  pointed out  in the 

report  he was thei r  most  senior panel l ist  and former high 

court  judge former president  of  the labour appeal  court .   He 

seemed to be imminent ly sui ted to  an arbi t rat ion i f  not  rather 

over qual i f ied for an arbi t rat ion of  th is kind.  

 But  – and in i t ia l ly Mr Langa Gama’s – Mr Gama’s 

lawyer recorded that  that  was f ine and we started set t ing 20 

dates.   But  then on 5 November as I  indicate here then Mr 

Langa changed his tune and said,  actual ly we st i l l  have to  

agree on the arbi t rator and then proposed seven al ternat ive 

arbi t rators.  

 And we then – I  record a few discussions where we 
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thought wel l  we actual ly have an arbi t rator.   We do not  have 

to now agree a new one but  we eventual ly decided le t  us not  

k ick off  an arbi t rat ion wi th an argument.    

There was a point  about  recusal  that  was ra ised by 

Langa that  he had grounds to seek the recusal  of  Advocate 

Myburgh.   I t  looked tenuous as a ground for recusal.   But  we 

thought why start  off  a discipl inary process l ike this  and we 

clar i f ied wi th Mr Langa you have proposed seven 

al ternat ives can we p ick any one of  those seven?  And they 

said yes.    10 

And we said wel l  in that  case let  us avoid an 

argument and a recusal  and we wi l l  p ick one of  your  seven.   

And number 1 on the l ist  was Advocate Ant robus who was 

subsequent ly appointed.  

 So we picked Advocate Ant robus and then an 

object ion was raised to that  too.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   This you then… 

CHAIRPERSON:   He – he -   he inc luded Advocate Antrobus 

in the l ist  of  arbi t rators that  he was proposing? 

MR TODD:   That  is r ight .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   You said we are not  go ing to come with our  

own l ist .  

MR TODD:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   We wi l l  p ick one f rom your l ist?  

MR TODD:   Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  f ine and he said that  is f ine then 

you picked Mr Ant robus.  

MR TODD:   That  is r ight .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then there was an object ion to  

that .   You deal  wi th i t  at  page 72 under the heading Gama’s 

refusal  to accept  the appointment of  Advocate Ant robus SC.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could you deal  wi th that  please? 

CHAIRPERSON:   How could that  happen? 10 

MR TODD:   And this was put  here because th is had been 

ra ised as one of  Mr Gama’s grounds of  procedural  unfairness 

that  he was ent i t led to an arbi t rat ion not  a hearing.   And so I  

thought i t  important  to include this background.  So we then 

had a si tuat ion where they – as I  have descr ibed i t  –  

repudiated the appointment of  Advocate Antrobus SC and 

said no now they want us to agree – submit ted – what – we 

want th is one to be the arbi t rator and then they submit ted a 

further person.    

And we discussed this wi th Transnet and said you 20 

know we actual ly cannot go on l ike this.   We have – we are 

going to be – there is too much cloak and dagger about who 

the arbi t rator is.   A l l  of  these people are imminent ly sui tab le 

to arbi t rate and we have p icked one.   We could have stuck to  

Myburgh we did not  we said we wi l l  p ick one f rom your l ist ;  



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 97 of 224 
 

we did and he sa id i t  cannot be that  we are going to – to  

recycle these kind of  problems.   

So we then decided then instead of  cont inuing to  

change – t ry and further negot iate arbi t rators to say we wi l l  

proceed with a d iscipl inary chairperson who you chose as 

one of  your arbi t rators but  we wi l l  accept  that  his decision is 

not  f inal  and binding.    

So we wi l l  proceed with a person that  we have got  no 

doubt about  and you wi l l  then be – you wi l l  not  – because 

you have repudiated his appointment.   I  mean we could have 10 

taken a more legal ist ic approach and said,  we holding you to  

i t  being f inal  and binding.   But  we real ly  wanted to hold the 

inquiry to get  to the end of  i t  to see what the outcome was 

not  to get  involved in these kind of  procedural  – th is  kind of  

procedural  wrangl ing.    

So that  is  the basis on which we proceeded with 

Advocate Ant robus as the chairperson and Mr – Mr Gama 

then accepted that  and part ic ipated in i t ia l ly wi th a 

reservat ion of  r ights but  subsequent ly we conducted the 

whole discipl inary process wi th – chaired by Mr Ant robus – 20 

Advocate Ant robus.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  th ink you have made the point  before 

that  i f  the pre-dismissal  arbi t ra t ion process had been 

fol lowed then Mr Gama would not  have been able to  

chal lenge the fai rness of  his dismissal  he would have been 
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conf ined to a review appl icat ion.  

MR TODD:   Yes.   The reason we were not  concerned about 

that  is that  we wanted a fai r  outcome and Transnet wanted 

one.   They did not  want – they were qui te – they wanted the 

discipl inary they were not  worr ied about the prospect  of  the 

f ind – outcome of  the discipl inary chairperson being found to 

be unfa ir  later.   Because they wanted a fai r  outcome and 

were commit ted to being fai r.   They did not  th ink there was a 

big r isk that  i t  could subsequent ly be found to be unfa ir.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   At  page 73 you have a heading 10 

Decision to Proceed by way of  discipl inary inqui ry instead of  

arbi t rat ion.   I  th ink you have deal t  wi th that .  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then at  74 the discipl inary inquiry  

and i ts outcome and we know that  broadly.   But  I  would l ike 

to now focus on i f  I  may is  a summary of  the key f indings.   

And this becomes important  because what you have done is 

you have made the – the f indings of  the chai rperson which 

as you have al ready ment ioned are very long – qui te  

digest ib le.  20 

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   At  paragraph 55 you record that  the 

f inding set  out  a  very detai led – the key f indings were as 

fol lows:   Perhaps you could take the Chai rperson through 

this part  of  the report  in sl ight ly more detai l  p lease? 
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MR TODD:   Yes so this – I  d id ment ion that  there were a lot  

of  obstacles.   There were a number of  prel iminary and 

technical  po ints raised in the discipl inary process and they 

are al l  deal t  wi th  in detai l  in the f ind ing.  But  those were 

points i t  was al leged by Mr Gama that  Ms Ramos had 

actual ly al ready considered and d ismissed the al legat ions 

concerning f i f ty l ike new locomot ives that  the delay was 

unreasonable,  that  the charges were too vague and that  

there was inconsistency.    

This is where i t  was raised upfront  as a prel iminary 10 

point  that  Mr Gama said I  am being singled out  in the inquiry.  

 So they were al l  ra ised and deal t  wi th at  great  length 

by the chai rperson in the – of  the discipl inary hearing and – 

and i t  was found that  there was no meri t  in those points.  

 And then turn ing to the speci f ic charges he deals wi th  

the GNS charge and I  do not  know – I  mean these are – 

these are fa i r ly lengthy extracts f rom a very long f inding.   

But  they… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink you can just  ment ion the main 

features.  20 

MR TODD:   Yes.   So in relat ion to the GNS charge the 

chairman makes the f inding that  c lear ly Gama ought  to have 

known that  what he was signing was a conf inement.   The 

document which he signed was headed GNS conf inement.    

And i t  c lear ly ref lects in no less than f i f teen placed over 
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seven pages that  i t  is a contract  on conf inement.   Even as 

the busy CEO of  a large organisat ion Gama was negl igent  i f  

he fai led to observe that  what  was presented to him was a 

document for the approval  of  a cont ract  on conf inement.   And 

then… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  just  to interrupt  you.   Is that  one of  

the aspects where you seem to suggest  that  the – the 

chairperson of  the discipl inary inquiry may have been 

generous in accept ing that  Mr Gama may have been 

negl igent  and did not  see that  what he was signing was 10 

approving a conf inement route for the t ransact ion? 

MR TODD:   Ja.   I t  is Chai rperson and in fact  parts of  the 

f inding suggests in fact  that  the chai rperson had reached a 

more ser ious conclusion and I  extract  that  at  page 11 as wel l  

where i t  says:  

“Gama’s explanat ion for his”  

Sorry i t  is at  page 75 in the middle of  the page.  

“Gama’s explanat ion for his fa i lure to 

properly read the document was that  he 

t rusted Beatt ie ’s [?]  explanat ion.   This may 20 

of  course be a false explanat ion in that  

Gama may wel l  have known at  the t ime that  

what he was approving was a service 

contract  on conf inement etcetera,  etcetera 

and that  the value of  the cont ract  exceeded 
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i ts delegated author i ty and that  the cont ract  

was being awarded to GNS a company owned 

and control led by a person wi th whom he was 

personal ly associated General  Nyanda.  

These are al l  facts which a careful  and non-

negl igent  CEO should have known and could 

have ensured that  he was aware of  by the 

simple precaut ion of  reading the documents 

placed before him.”  

And then he says:  10 

“Gama’s explanat ion about what occurred on 

the 5 December may be a false explanat ion.   

In th is regard i t  is relevant  to consider that  

Gama was not  open about his re lat ionship 

wi th General  Nyanda.  He in i t ia l ly  

downplayed and denied the fact  that  he was 

more than merely an acquaintance of  

General  Nyanda.   Gama put  up a false 

content ion dur ing the hearing that  he knew 

General  Nyanda only as any other member of  20 

the publ ic would.”  

So these are al l  parts of  the f inding which – which show and 

tend to show that  the chai rman was heading in a conclusion 

in th is di rect ion.   But  he ul t imately pul led back f rom i t  and 

said,  you know on looking at  al l  of  th is I  am going to f ind Mr 
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Gama – I  am going to accept  effect ively that  Mr Gama did 

not  actual ly know what he was signing and I  am going to f ind 

though that  for  a  Chief  Execut ive of  a – an important  the 

largest  div is ion – operat ing divis ion of  Transnet that  is just  

not  acceptable.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Two things.    

1.  You said ear l ier on that  ahead of  the arbi t rat ion at  the 

Bargaining Counci l  the Transnet ’s legal  team intended 

to show at  the arb i t rat ion that  Mr  Gama had actual ly  

not  been t ruthful  in certain respects in his evidence.   10 

Was – was one of  those the explanat ion that  when he 

signed that  document of  conf inement he was not  aware 

that  he was approving conf inement.   Was that  one of  

the areas where? 

MR TODD:   Yes we were certainly going to show.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   To do our best  to show through proper 

quest ioning of  Mr Gama and through real ly just  an analysis 

of  what the chai rman had establ ished.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

MR TODD:   That  a bet ter conclusion was that  he did know.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   And that  that  . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   And that  by saying that  he did not  

know he was not  being t ruthful .  
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MR TODD:   Yes Mr Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

MR TODD:   And a lso that  for example in other areas he – at  

other t imes he said that  he had been shown the name of  the 

successful  b idder  and yet  he then denied i t  and said I  only 

saw the last  place.   There were a number of  points l ike that  

that  s imply were not  credible and we thought impacted very 

negat ively on Mr Gama’s t ruthful  you know percept ions of  his  

t ruthfulness.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Of  course you did say ear l ier on the other 10 

one – the other area where you intended to show that  he had 

not  been t ruthful  was in relat ion to  the relat ionship between 

himsel f  and General  Nyanda.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And I  see that  here he – you quote the 

chairperson of  the d iscip l inary inqui ry as having said that  in  

regard to that  issue Mr Gama put  up a fa lse content ion 

dur ing the hear ing.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  he knew General  Nyanda only as any 20 

other member of  the publ ic  would.   But  your  ev idence ear l ier  

on was that  once he was confronted wi th ei ther te lephone 

records or  cel l  phone records which showed that  there had 

been qui te some interact ion between himsel f  and General  

Nyanda then his – the he changed h is story.  
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MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  r ight? 

MR TODD:   Yes that  was found that  i t  was apparent  f rom the 

chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   In fact  was aware of  that  and d id make that  

point .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay al r ight .   Cont inue Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Todd unless there is something else 

that  you want to  high l ight  to the Chairperson I  thought I  10 

would take you to paragraph 55.3 where you record:   

“That  the chai rperson went on to consider 

whether i t  had been proved that  Gama’s 

conduct  in fact  const i tuted wi l fu l  misconduct  

rather than simple hear and ser ious 

negl igence.   He concluded that  i t  had not  

been shown on the probabi l i t ies that  Gama 

acted wi l fu l ly rather merely negl igent ly. ”  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then you go on to record:  20 

“The chai rperson concluded on this charge as fol lows: ”  

Perhaps you could deal  wi th – wi th that  conclusion.  

MR TODD:   Yes.   He found that  he –  

“That  Mr Gama had negl igent ly author ised 

the conclusion of  a contract  for the provision 
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of  securi ty services by GNS on conf inement 

and fa i led to  carry out  his dut ies as CEO in 

the manner expected of  him.   

 And secondly he negl igent ly fa i led to 

take appropriate steps to invest igate the 

i rregular i t ies associated wi th the hal t ing of  

the open tender process and the replacement  

thereof  wi th the GNS conf inement tender 

process and the presentat ion to  him of  a  

document for approval  which was the product  10 

of  a conf inement  process that  which was 

presented to him on the basis that  i t  was an 

open tender process. ”  

 Effect ively what the chairperson was f inding in  that  

second part  was i t  is another – i t  was another problem of  –  

that  Mr Gama faced but  h is explanat ion to the chair  was that  

he had been ser iously misled into doing something that  was 

fundamental ly wrong and yet  he showed no interest  or  

incl inat ion to f ind out  about  i t  and correct  i t  and invest igate 

i t  or to take steps.   I t  was ul t imately the only – only af ter his  20 

own discipl inary proceedings that  were in i t iated that  Mr 

Khanya and Mr Senemala for example were charged.  

Because. .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh that  is –  th is  is the one where I  th ink I  

read I  do not  know whether i t  was in the discipl inary hearing 
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– the rul ing that  one of  the issues was that  he knew on his  

own version he knew that  certain people under him had done 

wrong things.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  no disc ipl inary act ion had been taken 

against  them.  That  is one of  those things.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja.   Okay.   Did he have an explanat ion at  

the discipl inary hearing for not  taking any act ion – 

discipl inary act ion against  them in – t imeously? 10 

MR TODD:   At  one – he sa id that  i t  was only af ter the 

invest igat ion had started and he had been started to be 

shown the documents such as the conf inement document 

that  he said and in his evidence I  –  I  would – can refer to i t  

where he had said I  then real ised there was something f ishy 

and I  then started to real ise what  th is scam was a l l  about .   

But  having real ised there was something f ishy and a scam he 

did nothing.    

He did nothing and he did say once the invest igat ion 

had started he thought i t  bet ter to  just  wai t  and see what  20 

happened as an outcome of  the invest igat ion and he did not  

want to interfere.   But  effect ively that  is – we would submit  – 

certainly have submit ted in the Bargaining Counci l  Inqui ry  

indicat ive of  a state of  mind that  is not  outraged at  what you 

have discovered has been done under your watch.    
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But  indicat ive of  a state of  mind which wi l l  caut iously  

observe what emerges on the invest igat ion which was not  

what one would expect  of  a Chief  Execut ive who has been 

misled into s igning a false procurement document under a 

f raudulent  procurement process.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Todd at  page 80 paragraph 56 of  

your report  you deal  wi th the essence of  the chai rperson’s 

conclusion of  the f i f ty l ike new charge.   Perhaps you could 

read that  please – that  paragraph? 

MR TODD:   Yes.   10 

“ I  mean the chai rperson in relat ion to that  

concluded the f i f ty l ike new was an important  

contract  for a sign i f icant  amount of  money.”  

He ment ioned elsewhere that  i t  was in excess of  R800 

mi l l ion cont ract .  

“The board had la id down only one single 

condi t ion and had tasked Gama with 

execut ing the contract .   He should in the 

ci rcumstances have taken ext raord inary care 

to ensure that  he captured the import  of  the 20 

condi t ion in the contract  th is he fai led to do.   

On h is own version Gama fai led to read the 

f i f ty l ike new contract  and make himsel f  

eff ic ient ly aware of  i ts content  and 

impl icat ions in order to ensure compl iance 
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wi th the board resolut ion.   There is no doubt 

that  Transnet has establ ished that  Gama was 

negl igent  in fa i l ing to secure a contract  in  

terms which provided for TER that  is  Rai l  

Engineering to perform al l  the local  work 

even though he had conferred wi th  his legal  

department on some aspects but  not  on the 

cr i t ical  aspect  of  compl iance wi th the board 

resolut ion.   This negl igent  fa i lure does 

const i tute misconduct . ”  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then at  paragraph 57 you deal  wi th  

the key f indings made in relat ion to the cr i t ic ism charge.  

MR TODD:   Yes so that  was the –  

“The f inding that  the statements which were 

cr i t ical  of  Wel ls  in part icular but  also infer  a 

wider cr i t ic ism of  Transnet Execut ives and 

arguably even of  the Transnet  board for 

having an ul ter ior mot ive and conspi r ing in  

preferr ing the charges against  Gama.  These 

are ser ious al legat ions and a l leged dishonest  20 

conduct .   This const i tutes ser ious disrespect  

and gross insubordinat ion insofar as cr i t ic ism 

were made of  Wel ls who was then the act ing 

Group Chief  Execut ive Off icer.   Cer tain of  the 

cr i t ic isms also const i tute insul t ing behaviour  
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and conduct  which is def ined and provocat ive 

of  persons in author i ty.  TIA which was the 

Internal  Audi t  Funct ion was cr i t ic ised as was 

the previous Group CEO, the chai rman of  

Transnet and Transnet  in genera l .   The fact  

that  Gama is blatant ly prepared to apologise 

is belated prepared to apologise to Wel ls and 

discuss the issues wi th him whi lst  perhaps 

going some way to resolving thei r  personal  

di fferences does not  const i tute a reason why 10 

this conduct  should not  be regarded as being 

misconduct  as def ined in the Transnet  Code.  

In my view Mr Gama overstepped the mark 

wi th his t rench and cr i t ic ism which impugned 

the honesty of  Wel ls and other senior  

execut ives. ”  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then at  pages 81 al l  the way through 

to 88 you deal  wi th how the chai rperson deal t  wi th the 

quest ion of  sanct ion.    

MR TODD:   Yes.   And we included there an important  20 

pr inciple about  sanct ion because ul t imately  people 

somet imes th ink of  and st i l l  er roneously refer to a 

discipl inary sanct ion in a workplace context  as a 

punishment.   I t  has real ly got  noth ing to do wi th punishment 

and the chairman actual ly made that  po int  where he – in – in  
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h is approach to sanct ion is  that  – and he referred to labour 

appeal  court  author i ty.    

I t  is about  ul t imately – i t  is about  a sensible 

operat ional  response to r isk management in a part icular 

enterpr ise.   That  is why you discipl ine people because thei r  

conduct  in breach of  the rules presents a r isk to the correct  

operat ing operat ion of  the business.    

And so he says that  is the f rame work which I  have 

got  to  look at  th is.   I  have got  a Chief  Execut ive of  a – of  

Transnet ’s largest  operat ing div is ion and I  need to assess 10 

whether th is  conduct  can be tolerated by Transnet of  a  

person in that  posi t ion or whether i t  presents an unreal ist ic  

or  unreasonable r isk to the enterpr ise.   And that  is real ly  

how he deals wi th  i t .    

He talks about  then the – the negl igence on Gama’s 

part  in  signing the GNS conf inement document.   He is  

part icular ly inexcusable as he is  the author ised person wi th  

delegated author i ty on behal f  of  TFR who as such is the 

gatekeeper tasked with ensuring the cont racts of  that  nature 

can only be concluded for a value of  more than R10 mi l l ion i f  20 

an open tender process has been undergone.   

He is the key person in the procurement process 

whose duty i t  was to ensure.   And he goes on and real ly I  

mean again i t  is – there are long ext racts where the 

chairman wrest les wi th th is problem.   
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But  he says,  ul t imately th is is – I  found i t  is negl igent  

not  wi l fu l  but  i t  is – i t  goes to the heart  of  whether  th is 

person can be t rusted to do h is job for Transnet.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So this is – th is is  where on his version he 

signed the documents on a t ransact ion involv ing what R18 

mi l l ion? 

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   R18 mi l l ion wi thout  reading them? 

MR TODD:   Yes wi thout  – on his vers ion wi thout  seeing who 

i t  was in favour of .   Without  seeing i f  anything to do wi th the 10 

process that  had been fol lowed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Without  checking that  the money or the 

contract  would be going to the r ight  person who ent i ty and 

wi thout  checking that  proper processes had been fol lowed. 

MR TODD:   Right .   On his version that  they arb i t rate 

effect ive ly accepted.   He simply signed the last  page and did 

not  look at  anything else on the document.   On the st rength 

of  what Mr Beatt ie  had told him.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And that  is  qui te r isky for any company 

because somebody can s ign away R100 mi l l ion wi thout  20 

reading what they are signing at  that  level .  

MR TODD:   This is real ly what the chairperson found and as 

we – we – as we said we would have gone into the 

Bargaining Counci l  arbi t rat ion saying i t  is worse than that  

but  even i f  that  is a l l  i t  was i t  was ser ious enough for th is  
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chairman you cannot – i t  is  inconsistent  wi th the cont inu ing 

re lat ionship.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   I t  might  R10 mi l l ion or R18 mi l l ion now 

which is a lot  of  money but  tomorrow or next  week or next  

year i t  could be R100 mi l l ion and the quest ion is can you – 

can you keep a person in such a high posi t ion who does 

that?   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Todd in fact  the – the Chairperson 

Mr Antrobus makes that  very point  a t  the foot  of  page 82.  

“Transnet is placed in the posi t ion where i t  10 

can real ly  not  be conf ident  once negl igence 

of  th is nature has occurred that  Gama wi l l  in  

future be suff ic ient ly careful  to ensure that  

he knows whether what he is s igning is a  

conf inement or an open tender cont ract . ”  

So he goes on,  is that  correct? 

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then Chairperson I  see that  i t  is 

exact ly one o’clock.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay let  us take the lunch adjournment 20 

and we wi l l  resume at  two.   We adjourn.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.    

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES :     

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay let  us cont inue.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you,  Chai rperson.   Mr Todd,  

before lunch we were deal ing wi th the f inding by the 

chairperson of  the discipl inary inqui ry in relat ion to  sanct ion 

in respect  of  charge 2.    

 Could I  ask you p lease to turn to page 83 of  Bundle 3?  

And now we deal  wi th f indings on the sanct ion in respect  of  

charge 2.   Fi f ty-Like-New cont ract .    

 Can I  take you to page 84 at  the top where the 

chairperson recorded that  he was found gui l ty of  negl igent  

misconduct .    10 

“For having fai led to ensure that  the cont ract  

compl ied wi th the board resolut ion.”    

 Could you please deal  wi th the next  paragraph? 

MR TODD :    Yes,  in essence,  the chai rperson of  th is hearing,  

I  th ink was rei terat ing a point  that  we ment ioned before the 

break which is s imply that  i t  is  fundamental  to the successful  

operat ion of  a company l ike Transnet that  the head of  i ts 

largest  operat ion divis ion can be rel ied upon and t rusted to  

do what i t  is expected to do.    

 So in th is passage, the chairperson said:  20 

“One must have regard to the fact  that  the board 

needs to  be able to be conf ident  that  when i t  

delegates author i ty to a divis ional  CEO, subject  to a 

part icular condi t ion,  that  he wi l l  take speci f ic and 

re l iable steps to ensure that  condi t ion is compl ied 
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wi th.   

In fa i rness to the Transnet  Board,  i t  would be a big 

ask for  the board to be requi red to cont inue and 

t rust ing Gama with large management projects when 

he had exhibi t  negl igent  fa i lure of  th is nature and 

wi th these consequences.    

Bearing al l  these factors in mind,  the misconduct  

under th is charge,  you would in  isolat ion,  would 

probably be speci f ical ly graved to warrant  a  

sanct ion,  a severe dismissal  on the f i rst  offence.”  10 

 And that  is what he then f inds.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Is that  at  page 83,  Mr Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    84.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Sorry? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    84.  

CHAIRPERSON :    84.   Okay.   Okay.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That  then t ies in Mr Todd with the 

evidence that  you gave that  the chairperson of  the 

discipl inary inqui ry r ight  at  the beginning,  quoted that  

passage and give the chai rperson a judgment.    20 

 I  th ink i t  is f rom the NNAC’s judgment in De Beers ,  

where the point  was made that  dismissal  is not  about  

ret r ibut ion.    

 I t  is real ly  about  the sensible response to r isk 

management.  
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 And here,  the chairperson,  l ike in re lat ion to  the 

previous f inding in regard to sanct ion,  makes the point  that  i t  

would be a harder cal l  to expect  Transnet  to keep someone 

as a CEO in these sorts of  c i rcumstances.    

 Is that  correct? 

MR TODD :    Yes,  that  is essent ia l ly what he was saying.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then when we deal  wi th  charge 4,  

unwarranted cr i t ic ism of  the Transnet. . .  oh,  sorry.   Of 

Transnet and i ts execut ives.    

 I f  I  could just  di rect  your at tent ion to the top of  page 85 10 

where i t  is recorded that :  

“Gama’s publ ic statements demonstrate wi thout  

doubt  that  there has been a total  breakdown in  t rust  

and conf idence between the part ies. ”  

 Is that  correct? 

MR TODD :    Yes,  that  was the conclusion he reached.  On 

grounds,  I  th ink.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And i f  you to page 88,  just  above 

paragraph 60,  the chairperson of  the inqui ry f inds:  

“Transnet  submits that  no employment relat ionship 20 

can cont inue to exist  in the ci rcumstances of  th is  

publ ic at tack on i ts  execut ives and on Transnet  

i tsel f .    

In short ,  whi lst  i t  is his evidence on this aspect  set  

out  above,  is overwhelming and is uncont radicted.  
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This  charge goes to the heart  of  Transnet ’s loss of  

fa i th in Gama and there can be no doubt that  

dismissal  is the only appropriate penal ty  for Gama’s 

conduct  under th is fourth charge.”  

 You conf i rm that? 

MR TODD :    Yes,  that  is what he found.   And again,  you 

know, i t  is. . .  i t  seems to me to be clear that  when a senior 

person and you hold a senior posi t ion in the organisat ion,  in  

th is case not  on the board i tsel f .  

 But  typical ly managers,  a chief  execut ive off icer o f  a  10 

divis ion of  th is s ize,  ho lds judiciary responsibi l i t ies towards 

the company to launch in defence of  your own.  

 Because you feel  that  you should not  be charged with  

misconduct  onto an at tack against  the company and i ts 

leadership,  is completely at  odds wi th your DG’s to the 

employer.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    I t  is  incompat ible wi th. . .  completely 

incompat ible and at  odds wi th those dut ies.   So I  th ink i t  

would be a welcome change in our. . .   20 

 The cul ture of  our publ ic l ive i f  we found execut ive 

responding to th is  sort  of  s i tuat ion in a more measured way 

wi thout  going onto the at tack against  the employer that  they 

serve.    

CHAIRPERSON :    And I  guess when you have at tacked 
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senior execut ives,  your col leagues l ike that  for doing thei r  

job to br ing disc ipl inary charges against  you where they 

bona f ide bel ieve that  there were proper grounds to do so 

and you at tack them.   

 And you at tack them publ ic ly  as people who were not  

bona f ide in doing what they are doing but  who were part  of  

an agenda against  you to drop you f rom appointment as 

Group CEO.   

 What you are actual ly saying when you make that  

cr i t ic ism is.   They know that  they have got  no case against  10 

me.  They are doing this for other purposes,  agendas. 

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  later  on when you admit  that  you are 

gui l ty of  exact ly the acts of  misconduct  that  they brought 

against  you,  i t  ra ises quest ion about you.  

MR TODD :    Yes,  about  your judgment.  

CHAIRPERSON :    About your judgment.  

MR TODD :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  mean, you have at tacked these people,  

your col leagues as pursuing some agenda against  you in  20 

br inging these charges but  later on you actual ly accept  that  

you are gui l ty of  a l l  these three charges.    

 The only th ing that  you are complaining about  is 

sanct ion.   Ja,  i t  is  proper in  that  s i tuat ion to  ask the 

quest ion,  you know, how is your judgment?   
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 And al l  of  that  would be things that  I  would imagine 

would be relevant  i f  and when the same employer is asked to 

take you back.  

MR TODD :    Wel l ,  yes Chai rperson because that  is  one of  

the quest ions that  is always at  issue here is.   Can this 

re lat ionship cont inue?  What wi l l  happen i f  in future a board 

or  co l leagues ra ise wi th Mr Gama ser ious concerns about  h is 

conduct?   

 Is th is. . .  th is is how he appears to react  or art iculate.   

And so that  is the problem is that  you effect ively poison the 10 

re lat ionship and cause a breakdown in conf idence that  that  

is how you are going to,  you know, that  you wi l l  behave as 

an execut ive should in the future.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Actual ly,  i t  is raises other quest ions too 

even in terms of  people under you.   I f  you are tak ing back.   

I f  you want to disc ipl ine people who need to be acceptable to  

you for them to start  accusing you of  al l  k inds of  th ings,  

when al l  you are doing is,  you genuinely bel ieve there should 

be charges against  them.   

 Wi l l  you say:   Okay,  th is  is acceptable because I  have 20 

done the same thing to other people.   Okay Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you Chairperson.   Suppose 

I  just  wanted you to conf i rm this.   I t  should not  be lost  f rom 

sight  that  Mr Gama was a Divis ional  CEO and this  charge 

re lates to an at tack on the Group Execut ive and the Group 
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Board.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The chai rperson of  the disc ipl inary 

then makes his recommendat ions.   That  you f ind at  page 88.   

I  th ink Mr Todd you have al ready deal t  wi th th is.   You have 

told the Chai rperson that  he recommended dismissal  in 

respect  of  each isolated charge and more so col lect ively.  

MR TODD :    Yes,  correct .   Each of  the charges viewed in  

isolat ion and the appropriate sanct ion is dismissal .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And as we have seen,  in re lat ion to 10 

the fourth charge,  he had found that  the only appropriate 

penal ty was dismissal .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So effect ively,  was he saying.   You cannot  

real ly  impose any other  sanct ion for  th is kind of  conduct .   

Dismissal  is the only one that  would be appropriate.   Is that 

what he was saying in effect? 

MR TODD :    Yes,  i t  seems to go far  and he goes further than 

say:   I  have hesi tated.   I  am in two minds.   This could go 

ei ther way.    

 But  I  th ink on a balance,  i t  is. . .  d ismissal  would be 20 

appropriate.   I t  is not  that  k ind of  f inding.   I t  is a  f inding 

which is very unequivocal  in respect  of  each of  the charges.  

 And then very decisive as regards to accumulat ive 

consequence.   I  th ink that  is very clear f rom his decision 

making.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    In the next  part  of  your report  at  page 

89,  you wi l l  deal  wi th d ismissal  and dispute referred to the 

Transnet Bargaining Counci l .   You have a lready given that  

evidence.    

 Could I  perhaps then di rect  your at tent ion to the heading 

towards the foot  of  the page, Gama’s weak prospects of  

success in the Bargaining Counci l  and arbi t rat ion.    

 Could you please take the Chairperson through those 

paragraphs  In part icu lar,  65 and 66. 10 

MR TODD :    Yes.   I  must  just  say,  th is  largely repeats what  

I . . .  we had communicated on the 24t h of  January in the let ter 

that  I  referred to  ear l ier when we had been instructed to  

postpone the arb i t rat ion pending set t lement discussions.  

 And so i t  was again at  the end of  th is report  to  the 

board.   I  was not  sure.    

 I  had no answer to the let ter or further indicat ion that  

our let ter which we wanted the board to hear and receive 

what our views were around prospects of  success.  

 We did not  know whether they had landed and so I  20 

thought i t  important  to repeat  what  I  had said in that  let ter 

about  prospects of  success.  

 And so real ly repeat ing. . .  some of  i t  is verbat im what 

was said out  in  that  let ter that  the legal  team including 

senior counsel  be l ieves that  the sanct ion of  dismissal  wi l l  be 
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found by the agreed Bargaining Counci l  arb i t rator to have 

been a f i rst  sanct ion.  

 And in addi t ion,  the addi t ional  point  about  Gama’s 

dishonest  evidence,  we made again.   And then further  

considerat ions.   There were two addi t ional  points,  I  th ink,  

that  we made here.  

 The point . . .  oh,  sorry.   Wel l ,  actual ly,  there are some 

addi t ional  points that  we then added here and they were 

these.    

 The GNS cont ract  which had been approved by Gama 10 

had resul ted in Transnet inst i tut ing civ i l  proceedings for 

repayment of  the total  amount of  R 95 mi l l ion.  

 The fact  of  the matter is that  that  i r regular contract  

which purportedly was supposedly was author ised for 

R 18 mi l l ion,  very quickly ramped up,  doubled in  size in  

March,  two or three months later under the watchful  eye of  

Mr Senamela.  

 And a few months later in the fol lowing year,  i t  got  

ramped up again so that  the amounts being paid monthly to 

the securi ty  company had grown to and was. . .  i t  reached 20 

R 95 mi l l ion in just  over two years.    

 And Transnet had looked at  that .   We advised on i t .   We 

sought  advice f rom counsel  and bel ieved that  there were 

grounds to the cover or seek repayment.  

 And so civ i l  l i t igat ion had been inst i tuted but . . .  and 
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cr iminal  charges had been la id in respect  of  that  contract .    

 So we wanted to say to the board:   Please know there 

are consequences of  the comeback that  Mr Gama has been 

dismissed for including th is civ i l  l i t igat ion,  potent ia l  cr iminal  

proceedings,  and do not  over look that .  

 We rei terated the point  about  the PFMA.  The Publ ic 

Finance Management Act .   That  these were obl igat ions to  

take discipl inary steps in cases l ike this.  

 And then the point  about  consistency and which 

Chairperson,  I  th ink,  you raised that  just  now.  I f  you say 10 

internal ly that  for conduct  of  th is kind which this chairperson,  

Advocate Ant robus holds this view.  

 But  that  actual ly  is okay.   Then you were sending a 

message about future t reatment of  s imi lar conduct  which 

says:   We wi l l . . .   

 I  d id not  know what was being proposed at  that  point  in 

t ime.   But  whatever  you set t le,  people wi l l  then expect ,  th is 

is the standard that  Transnet  is set t ing for i ts  senior  

execut ives as they go forward.  

 And not  just  for a l l  of  them.  I  mean, that  would apply to 20 

everybody,  you know.  In part icular,  i f  you. . .  whatever 

standard you now set  for a senior person l ike th is,  he is 

going. . .  you are going to be held to  in future and expected to 

be held.   You should be held to i t .  

 So that  was a big worry about ,  let  us cal l  i t  an easy way 
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out  for Transnet  here.   That  they are react ing under the 

Publ ic Finance Management  Act .  

 They are set t ing a standard.   They got  to be careful .   

And we then made the point  that  there would have to be 

compel l ing reasons not  to  abide by the outcome of  the 

properly const i tuted disc ipl inary inqui ry.  

 I t  is also. . .  there is a publ ic law element to th is.   We 

have author ised,  delegated,  mandated and i t  has been 

conducted properly.  

 And before we decide that  we are not  going to  fo l low 10 

that ,  there have to be a very,  very good reason.   And we 

then again said that  s imi lar ly,  the outcome of  the Bargaining 

Counci l  are the impression.    

 We have not  arr ived yet  but  we fu l ly expected that  the 

Bargaining Counci l  would conf i rm the decision.   So,  yes.   

Those were just  points that  we thought i t  important  to br ing 

to the at tent ion of  the board.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So when you ul t imately. . .  I  know you st i l l  

go to the issue of  the set t lement  and the re instatement.   

When Transnet had to consider the issue of  reset t l ing the 20 

matter or reinstat ing Mr Gama.   

 One of  the things that  i t  would have had to consider  is  

how much t rouble i t  had gone to,  to t ry and make sure that  

Mr Gama had been subjected to a proper and fa i r  

d iscipl inary process.    
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 And obviously,  the money that  had been spent  on the 

lawyers and the arb i t rator to do that .   Because I  mean, i f  th is  

was an. . .  I  am saying arbi t rator,  I  mean chairperson of  a  

discipl inary inquiry.    

 I f  th is was. . .  i t  seems this inquiry took days in terms of  

the actual  hearing.   That  is almost  l ike a b ig t r ia l ,  c iv i l  t r ia l  

or cr iminal  t r ia l .   That  must  have cost  Transnet qui te  a lot  of  

money.    

 So when you decide as Transnet  not  to fo l low the 

outcome of  that  very independent  process,  you have got  10 

think careful ly about  that .    

 Because you have spent  so much money and i f  you do 

not  have. . .  i f  there is no cr i t ic ism, just i f ied cr i t ic ism of  how 

that  process was conducted,  you are going to have to 

answer why you d id not  fo l low i t .  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR TODD :    I  agree,  Chai rperson.   In simple terms.  

Transnet had gone to great  lengths and i t  was much more 

di ff icul t  than i t  should have been but  i t  had gone to. . .  i t  20 

take. . .  i t  had gone through great  lengths to establ ish the 

standard of  conduct  i t  expected.    

 And so,  to  just  over  to. . .  you have to be very careful  that 

you do not . . .  for al l  the reasons you are going chai rperson 

but  also you would have to have compel l ing reasons to  
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depart  f rom that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   H’m.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Todd, i f  we could back to your 

aff idavi t  at  page 54 of  Bundle 3.   Having now deal t  wi th  

Annexure A.   Pick up at  paragraph 26.   Did you ever receive 

any response to your report  or any enqui ry in relat ion to your 

report? 

MR TODD :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Were you involved in Mr Gama’s 

matter at  a l l  af ter that? 10 

MR TODD :    No.   Nobody came back wi th quest ions,  queries,  

points of  c lar i f icat ion or asked us just  to br ief  anybody e lse 

beyond that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you go on to say that  you then 

came to learn f rom publ ic reporters that  Mr Gama had been 

re instated? 

MR TODD :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you then say,  you have been 

provided wi th a copy of  the set t lement agreement that  you 

noted i t  was signed by Mr Mkwanazi .   You do not  know 20 

whether the board was involved in taking the decision.    

 Perhaps I  could ask you to expand upon paragraph 30 

where you talk  about  a complete capi tu lat ion in  the 

negot iat ion.  

MR TODD :    Yes.   Yes,  I  have since been provided wi th 
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documents.   Been provided by Transnet ,  the document  

showing a process under which that  decision appears to  

have been.. .  the route i t  fo l lowed.  I  just  make that  po int .   So 

when I  deposed to th is aff idavi t ,  I  have not .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    S ince then,  I  have.   But  yes,  as regards to the 

set t lement agreement i tsel f .   I  mean, I  th ink i t  is  fa i r  to 

descr ibe i t  as a complete capi tulat ion.    

 And in fact ,  as I  point  out  here,  Transnet went fur ther  

than the absolute best  case that  Mr Gama could have got  in 10 

the arbi t rat ion.  

 So in  the arbi t rat ion that  had just  been postponed.   I f  

assume I  and the rest  of  the legal  team responsible for  

advising Transnet ,  had got  th is completely wrong and Mr 

Gama had won his case at  the Bargaining Counci l .   He could 

have secured retrospect ively reinstatement.    

 So by g iving him ret rospect ive reinstatement,  Transnet  

agreed to give him the best  possib le outcome that  he could 

conceivable had got .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

MR TODD :    So even i f  one assumes that  th is is  one of  those 

hard cases that  was evenly done.   Transnet abandoned i ts 

hal f  of  the odds in  which i t  might  have prevai led and decided 

simply to give in to what Mr Gama was seeking in the 

arbi t rat ion.  
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 So that  is the f i rst  point  about  retrospect ive 

re instatement.   And then there are other  elements of  i t .   I  

mean, there are agreements to pay costs that  I  can talk 

about .    

 But  I  mean, in  essence,  in a Bargaining Counci l  

arbi t rat ion,  i t  is  most  unusual  for  a  Bargaining Counci l  

arbi t rator to award costs.  

 I t  would normal ly  on ly do so,  an arb i t rator to show real  

disapproval  of  a party in labour arbi t rat ion.   I t  is just  part  of  

the cul ture of  the dispute resolut ion that  part ies should have 10 

access and should not  be burdened unnecessar i ly wi th  

costs.  

 And the amount of  costs that  i f  you were in fact  awarded 

costs in a Bargain ing Counci l  arbi t rat ion is ext remely l imi ted.   

I t  would be. . .  i t  is. . .  they are normal ly  taxed on a 

magist rate ’s court  tar i ff  which makes the di fference.  

 And so in genera l ,  the best  case scenario for Mr Gama i f  

Transnet ’s legal  team had things completely wrong,  was that  

he would be reinstated ret rospect ively and in the most  

unusual  c i rcumstances,  get  a very l imi ted cost  order in a 20 

Bargaining Counci l .  

 But  instead,  Transnet actual ly agreed to reverse even 

the orders that  i t  had been made in  i ts  own favour in the high 

court  l i t igat ion.  

 So whereas Mr Gama had completely  unjust i f iable 
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approached the court  and cr i t ic ised and at tacked Transnet in  

the way that  he had done, completely unjust i f ied had been 

under a court  order,  ordered to pay Transnet ’s costs for 

doing so.  

 Transnet in th is agreement,  turned out  on i ts head and 

said do not  worry.   Even though i t  d id not  say i t  expressly,  I  

th ink i t  was impl ic i t .   Do not  worry.   You do not  need to pay 

our costs af ter al l .  

 And not  only that .   We wi l l  pay 75% of  yours in  the high 

court  l i t igat ion.   So we wi l l  actual ly pay for the p leasure of  10 

having had you br ing completely unjust i f ied l i t igat ion against  

us.  

 Wel l ,  that  was more than a capi tulat ion.   That  was a 

capi tu lat ion wi th  a whole lot  of  benef i ts.   And the most  

extraord inary thing about i t  to us at  the t ime when we - wel l ,  

certainly when I  learnt  of  th is – is that  there was simply. . .  i t  

seemed to suggest  a degree of  bargaining power or some 

decision making . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    . . . that  is completely unre lated to . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  to the meri ts .  

MR TODD :    . . . the mer i ts  of  the. . .  of  what. . .  of  the compet ing 

content ions in the dispute between the part ies.   And that  is a  

mystery that  I  cannot answer.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  you. . .  I  th ink you are r ight  about  that .   
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I t  is a very st range set t lement agreement.   But  before one 

goes further.   You were talk ing. . .  you were saying that .   Wel l ,  

i f  Transnet  reinstated Mr Gama with ful l  ret rospect iv i ty,  they 

would be giving him.. .  they would have given him the best  

that  he could ever th ink of .   And I  am put t ing i t  in my own 

words.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Of  get t ing in the arb i t rat ion.   You said 

something about costs or maybe you do add costs but  let  me 

ask this quest ion.   You have been a labour lawyer,  a 10 

special ist  in labour law for many years as you have 

indicated.  

 On the facts of  th is case where he himsel f  was admit t ing 

that  he had been correct ly found gui l ty of  th is three acts of  

misconduct  what I  th ink most  people would regard as ser ious 

acts of  misconduct .  

 They might  not  have regard than as ser ious.   I  do not  

know.  But  ser ious acts of  misconduct .   Was i t  even able that  

any arbi t rator even i f  he or she found that  dismissal  was not  

an appropriate sanct ion,  that  in addi t ion,  he or she would 20 

order Transnet. . .  she could order  Transnet to pay costs,  

g iven the cul ture on labour law matters and arbi t rat ion and 

dismissals on your experience? 

MR TODD :    Chai rperson,  i t  would have been a most  unusual  

outcome of  the arbi t rat ion . . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    . . . to have a ret rospect ive reinstatement order in  

those ci rcumstances.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    I t  is  di ff icul t  to. . .  that  quest ion is inf luenced of 

course by wel l  what  would the arbi t rator be f inding and what  

would be unfa irness that  the arbi t ra tor was f inding.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   H’m, h’m.  

MR TODD :    But  at  the most . . .  at  the worst ,  i t  would say:   

Transnet,  we accept  that  Advocate Ant robus. . .  we accept  al l  10 

of  his credent ia ls  and there is no legi t imate cr i t ic isms of  his 

views on this mat ter.   And we accept  that  you acted on his  

views.   But  I  am f inding that  i t  went  too far.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR TODD :    That  is al l  an arb i t rator could have done to f ind 

in favour of  Mr Gama.   

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR TODD :    I t  is most  common in c i rcumstances l ike that  for  

an arbi t rator potent ia l ly to grant  a prospect ive reinstatement.   

So i f  an arbi t rator  feels th is person should not  have lost  thei r  20 

job.    

 But  yes,  they actual ly were gui l ty  of  var ious acts of  

misconduct  which they did not  admit  at  the t ime and now 

admits.    

 Actual ly,  i t  would be most  unusual  to have a 
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re instatement in those ci rcumstances.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR TODD :    But  even i f  there was.   To reinstate 

ret rospect ively and say:   I  am going to t reat  th is as i f  th is  

never happened in i tsel f .   Chai rperson,  so the prospects of  

that  happening were very sl ight .   And the prospects of  that  

decision was smal l .   And the prospects of  that  remedy were 

even smal ler.   A f ract ion of  a f ract ion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no,  no.   That  is f ine.   I  hope Mr 

Mkwanazi  wi l l  come tomorrow and tel l  me why I  should think 10 

that  was thinking of  i t .    

 An arb i t rator in a labour matter deal ing wi th a senior  

execut ive who has been found gui l ty and accepts that  he 

was found gui l ty  of  these types of  misconduct  had the 

possibi l i ty of  not  only get t ing reinstatement but  also Transnet 

being ordered to pay costs.    

MR TODD :    But  mister. . .  w i th  respect  Mr Chai rperson,  th is. . .  

Mr Gama could not  have been reinstated because anybody 

thought that  was a l ikely outcome of  the arbi t rat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

MR TODD :    I  say that  because,  why not  let  the arb i t rat ion 

takes i ts course?   

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR TODD :    Even i f  you only bel ieve you had a smal l  chance 

of  winning,  . . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    . . .you gave i t  up for nothing.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR TODD :    So there was no. . .  i t  is very di ff icul t  to work out  

why . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    The reasoning.  

MR TODD :    . . . that . . .  i t  could have been a response.   

Because i t  was never a rat ional  response to the r isk of  the 

matter.    

CHAIRPERSON :    You see,  i t  is possible.   I  mean, you made 10 

the point  ear l ier on that .   I t  is l ike there was some power 

somewhere . . . [ intervenes]   

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .  in terms of  bargaining.   Wel l ,  i t  may be 

that  the fact  that  set t lement negot iat ions were decided upon 

by Transnet wi thout  Transnet  ta lk ing to you when you were 

the at torney. . .  thei r  at torneys who had been handl ing th is  

matter for about  two years or more.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe i t  says something about whether 20 

the issues of  the meri ts. . .  whether the meri ts  or the 

prospects of  success was a relevant  factor or not .    

 But  I  heard evidence yesterday and there is someth ing 

that  might  go towards to what you are saying.   Mr Mapoma 

said that  af ter Mr Mkwanazi  had a meet ing wi th  mister. . .  a  
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one-on-one meet ing wi th Mr Gama talking set t lements.  

 Mr Mkwanazi  reported to him that  the two of  them 

could not  agree on a set t lement because Mr Gama, instead 

of  asking for reinstatement to the posi t ion f rom which he had 

been, namely  CEO of  TFR.   He was ac tua l l y  want ing  to  be  

appo in ted  as  Group CEO of  Transnet  so  the  quest ion  tha t  

a r ises  is  how does an employee who has been d i smissed 

f rom the  pos i t ion  o f  CEO of  TFR and has re fer red  a  d ispute  

about  be ing  re ins ta ted  to  tha t  pos i t ion  to  the  ba rga in ing  

counc i l  come to  the  negot ia t ions  fo r  se t t lement  and 10 

demand even a  h igher  pos i t ion?  How is  tha t  –  what  i s  i t  

tha t  makes h im even put  tha t  on  the  tab le?     

So those quest ions a r ise  as  one seeks to  t ry  and 

make sense o f  what  the  board  o f  Transnet  d id  in  th is  case  

in  reach ing  the  se t t lement  tha t  i t  reached on these  te rms.   

When one looks a t  a l l  o f  these th ings and ask quest ions 

and answers  are  d i f f i cu l t  to  f ind .   But  Mr  Mkhwanaz i  w i l l  

come and he might  we l l  be  ab le  to  th row l igh t  on  some o f  

the  th ings tha t  a t  s tage I  m ight  have d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  and  

maybe he w i l l  be  ab le  to  exp la in  them and one  w i l l  see  20 

mat te rs  the  way they same them.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank you.   Mr  Todd,  I  jus t  want  

to  back to  the  issue o f  cos ts  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  be fore  you do  tha t ,  Mr  

Myburgh,  I  have jus t  no ted  –  you w i l l  remember  tha t  be fore  
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lunch a t  some s tage I  asked you,  Mr  Todd,  whethe r  in  the 

s ta tement ,  Mr  Gama’s  s ta tement  tha t  he  re l ied  upon a t  the  

barga in ing  counc i l  to  se t  ou t  h is  case whether  the  grounds 

o f  un fa i rness tha t  he  re l ied  on  were  ar t i cu la ted  c lear ly,  I  

ac tua l l y  see tha t  they were  ar t i cu la ted  a t  parag raphs 4 .1  to  

4 .6  o f  tha t  s ta tement .   The s ta tement  s ta r ts  a t  page 98 and  

goes up to  page 101.   I  thought  I  wou ld  jus t  ment ion  tha t   

fo r  what  i t  i s  wor th ,  tha t  I  have ident i f ied  tha t  he  d id  se t  

ou t  ce r ta in  g rounds the re .   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  Todd,  when i t  comes 10 

to  costs  in  the  CCMA or  in  a  barga in ing  counc i l ,  in  your  

exper ience how o f ten  are  they g ranted and what  i s  the 

sca le  upon wh ich  costs  a re  granted?  

MR TODD:    Very  ra re ly,  no rmal ly  on l y  in  c i rcumstances  

where  a  par t y  has behaved abus ive ly.   In  some way the  

language is  f r i vo lous ly  o r  vexat ious ly.   That  i s  normal ly  the  

on ly  t ime when  costs  a re  awarded in  those sor ts  o f  

p roceed ings and when they are  awarded on a  Mag is t ra te ’s  

Cour t  ta r i f f .   I  th ink  the re  may be  a  spec ia l  ta r i f f  now but  

essent ia l l y  a t  tha t  leve l  i t  i s  no t  cons ide red appropr ia te  to  20 

award  costs  a t  a  H igh  Cour t  leve l  most  o f ten  because the  

l i t iga t ion  is  no t  i nvo lv ing  h igh  –  i t  i s  no t  go ing  to  invo l ve  

h igh  s takes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And wou ld  those costs  run  f rom the  

t ime o f  the  re fer ra l ,  wou ld  they be  costs  in  re la t ion  to  the 



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 135 of 224 
 

a rb i t ra t ion?  

MR TODD:    Ja ,  cos ts  in  a  barga in ing  counc i l  d ispute  m ight  

inc lude comple t ing  a  re fer ra l  fo rm and serv ing  i t  bu t  tha t  i s  

–  those are  m in imal .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    So  rea l l y  the  on ly  cost  tha t  you wou ld  expect  

wou ld  be  prepara t ion  fo r  a  t r ia l ,  fo r  a  hear ing  and the  

hear ing  i t se l f .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Perhaps th i s  goes w i thout  say ing  bu t  

does a  ba rga in ing  counc i l  a rb i t ra to r  have the  power  to  10 

award  an  employee costs  o f  h is  d i sc ip l inary  hear ing? 

MR TODD:    No,  he  wou ld  have no  such power.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And presumably  your  answer  wou ld  

be  the  same i f  I  asked whether  he  or  she wou ld  have the  

power  to  d is tu rb  a  H igh  Cour t  cos ts  o rder?  

MR TODD:    He wou ld  have no such power  to  do  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ac tua l l y,  I  have  not  checked Mr  Gama’s  

s ta tement  o r  re fe r ra l  to  the  barga in ing  counc i l  in  regard  to  

th is  bu t  I  have a  susp ic ion  tha t  he  d id  no t  ask  fo r  any costs  

in  the  arb i t ra t ion  because I  th ink  i t  wou ld  be  unusua l  fo r  20 

anybody to  ask  costs  bu t  maybe he d id .   I  d id  no t  seem to  

see anyth ing  in  h is  re fe r ra l  tha t  ta lked about  h im  ask ing  

the  barga in ing  counc i l  to  award  h im costs .  

MR TODD:    Cha i rperson,  the re  is  a  document  m iss ing  

wh ich  is  a  se t  o f  submiss ions tha t  h is  counse l  made in  
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October.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR TODD:     And i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  h is  counse l  inc lud ing  a  

request  fo r  cos ts .   I  do  no t  reca l l  bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  tha t  wou ld  be  in  the  

submiss ions.  

MR TODD:    In  h is  submiss ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    As  opposed  to  the  ac tua l  re fe r ra l  

documents .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   I t  wou ld  be  l i ke  an  a f te r thought .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  assuming tha t  Mr  Gama had 

gone to  the  arb i t ra t ion  and h is  pos i t ion  was cons is ten t  tha t  

he  was prepared  to  accept  the  f ina l  w r i t ten  warn ing ,  what  

wou ld  the  prospects  have been o f  h im get t ing  any costs?  

MR TODD:    Neg l ig ib le .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    I  do  no t  know i f  one can say zero ,  I  th ink  i t  i s  

zero .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  can hear  Mr  Todd is  very  caut ious.  

MR TODD:    Zero .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    We have go t  the  zero .  

MR TODD:    Zero .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  …[ in tervenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON:    He is  no t  th ink ing  o f  ad jec t i ves  l i ke  

un th inkab le .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No,  Mr  Todd,  perhaps wh i ls t  we a re  

on  the  issue o f  a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing ,  you do dea l  w i th  

tha t  a t  page 55 o f  you r  a f f idav i t ,  parag raph 30(b ) .   Would  

you speak to  tha t  p lease?  

MR TODD:    Yes.   Wel l ,  th is  was not  in  a  barga in ing  

counc i l  bu t  th is  was the  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  tha t  the  board  

dec ided was an appropr ia te  sanct ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  10 

MR TODD:    So  e f fec t i ve l y  what  the  board  says is  there  is  

admi t ted  se r ious m isconduct ,  i t  i s  –  we have dec ided tha t  

cumula t ive ly  tha t  m isconduct  shou ld  produce a  f ina l  wr i t ten  

warn ing  f rom Mr  Gama.   A warn ing  –  a f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  

is  –  look ,  g iv ing  very  sen io r  execut ives  f ina l  wr i t ten  

warn ings i n  i t se l f  i s  qu i te  an  odd th ing  bu t  i t  i s  a  competent  

message to  send because i t  i s  bas ica l l y  say ing  you are  

ac tua l l y  on  –  bo r rowed might  be  the  wrong th ing  bu t  pu t  

another  foo t  wrong o f  th is  k ind  and you are  go ing  to  be  

d ismissed.    20 

So i t  means tha t  they must  have  done someth ing  

very  ser ious to  pu t  them in  tha t  bu t  you are  jus t  hes i ta t ing  

be fore  say ing  tha t  you a re  go ing  to  d ismiss  them but  what  

you are  t ry ing  to  do  is  in f luence the i r  conduct  go ing  

fo rward .   For  some reason what  the  board  thought  was  
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app ropr ia te  was to  g ive  a  f ina l  w r i t ten  warn ing  tha t  was 

va l id  fo r  s i x  months  as  a t  the  da te  o f  h is  d ismissa l .    

So they we lcome Mr  Gama back say ing  you have  

a l ready se rved your  warn ing  t ime.   So you are  no  longer  on  

a  f ina l  w r i t ten  warn ing .   I t  was a  very  s t range th ing  to  do ,  i t   

was very  s t range message to  send and i t  went  to  the  

quest ion  o f  cons i s tency o f  fu tu re  conduct  as  we l l .   I t  sor t  

o f  sa id  ac tua l l y  Mr  Gama is  back  in  fu l l  sway w i th  no  rea l  

consequence fo r  h is  conduct .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because i f  as  a  resu l t  o f  a  d isc ip l ina ry  10 

hear ing  an  employee is  g iven a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  and  

cont inues work ing   -  le t  us  say the  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  is  

fo r  s ix  months  or  one year,  dur ing  tha t  pe r iod  the  employee  

knows tha t  there  is  an  axe hang ing  over  the i r  head.   You 

go th rough tha t  s i tua t ion  bu t  where  you say we g ive  you a  

f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  bu t  i t  s ta r ted  work ing  the  day you le f t  

the  company and i t  lapsed wh i le  you were  ou t  o f  the  

company,  the  employee never  goes th rough – the re  is  no  

r i sk ,  never  goes th rough tha t  –  when  he  comes back as  in  

the  case o f  Mr  Gama i t  seems to  me he comes back as  an  20 

employee w i thou t  any d isc ip l ina ry  –  w i thout  any f ina l  

wr i t ten  warn ing .   I s  tha t  your  unders tand ing  as  we l l?  

MR TODD:    Yes,  Cha i r,  I  wou ld  agree,  Cha i rperson.   And 

the  o ther  po in t  i s  tha t  fo r  a  sen io r  execut ive  to  be  to ld  tha t  

your  conduct  i s  so  se r ious,  in  our  v iew,  tha t  we w i l l  d ismiss  
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you  i f  i t  occu rs  aga in  bu t  on l y  i f  tha t  i s  in  the  f i rs t  s ix  

months .   Even the  pr inc ip le  tha t  wou ld  say to  a  ch ie f  

execut ive  tha t  tha t  k ind  o f  –  tha t  message tha t  we are  

communica t ing  to  you i s  on l y  va l id  fo r  a  l im i ted  per iod  o f  

t ime,  i s  jus t  a  very  s t range th ing ,  i t  jus t  l i t e ra l l y  shows they 

wanted,  in  my v iew,  they wanted to  pu t  someth ing  down to  

say the re  was a  consequence app l ied  because o therwise ,  

shor t  o f  tha t ,  he  was admi t ted ly  gu i l t y  o f  se r ious neg l igent  

conduct  descr ibed by  the  Cha i rperson and had no  

consequence o f  whatsoever.   I  mean,  tha t  i s  the  prac t ica l  10 

e f fec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  p rac t ica l l y,  there  was no  

consequence fo r  h im.  

MR TODD:    No,  there  was no consequence ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  was imposed o ther  than tha t  fo r  the 

per iod  tha t  he  was d ismissed he was d ismissed as  in  –  bu t  

o therw ise  in  te rms o f  sanct ion .   And then,  o f  cou rse ,  when  

he was re ins ta ted  then he was g iven fu l l  back pay  and a l l  

benef i t s  tha t  k ind  o f  und id  whatever  the  d ismissa l  had 

done.  20 

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  o f  course ,  then I  suppose i t  

wou ld  fo l low tha t  inso fa r  as  he  app l ied  fo r  the  pos i t ion  o f  

Group Execut ive  o f  Transnet ,  he  wou ld  then be t rea ted  as  

someone w i th  a  c lean record .  
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MR TODD:    Yes,  tha t  i s  so .   What  the  board  was say ing  is  

we w i l l  t rea t  you as  hav ing  a  c lear  record .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    From the  date  you come back.   Qu i te ,  tha t  i s  

what  they were  suggest ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then pe rhaps before  we move on,  i f  

a  ba rga in ing  counc i l  a rb i t ra to r  had found tha t  the  sanct ion  

o f  d ismissa l  was inappropr ia te  tha t  a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  

was warran ted,  when wou ld  tha t  warn ing  have run  f rom 

typ ica l l y?  10 

MR TODD:    No,  tha t  wou ld  run  f rom a f te r  h is  

re ins ta tement  i f  he  was re ins ta ted .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Todd,  pe rhaps I  cou ld  take  you to  

page 56 o f  you r  a f f idav i t  and to  paragraph 31.   I  th ink  i t  i s  

someth ing  tha t  you have a l ready ment ioned where  you say:  

“ I t  i s  man i fes t l y  c lea r,  however,  tha t  the  te rms o f  

the  se t t lement  agreement  were  mater ia l l y  adverse  

to  Transnet  and they bore  no  resemblance  

whatsoever  to  a  proper  o r  reasonab le  assessment  

o f  the  respect ive  lega l  pos i t ions  o f  Transnet  on  the  20 

one hand and Mr  Gama on the  o the r. ”  

MR TODD:    Yes,  I  s tand by  tha t  s ta tement .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then you a t  paragraph  32 say 

tha t  the  se t t lement  agreement  was conc luded  

approx imate l y  th ree  weeks a f te r  your  repor t ,  i t  i s  poss ib le  
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tha t  lega l  adv ice  was obta ined f rom o ther  sources dur ing  

tha t  per iod  tha t  was man i fes t l y  d i f fe ren t  f rom our  adv ice  or  

a l te rna t ive ly  tha t  lega l  adv i ce  was cons idered i r re levant .  

 Have you in  work ing  up  th is  case  been exposed to  

the  documents  tha t  a re  be fore  the  Commiss ion ,  have you 

come across any mater ia l l y  d i f fe ren t  lega l  adv ice?  

MR TODD:    No,  Cha i rperson,  I  have been shown in  

consequence o f  a f te r  depos ing  to  th is  a f f idav i t  and perhaps  

because I  ra i sed  the  quest ion  seems to  me we g ive  our  

adv ice ,  hear  no th ing  and then learn  o f  a  cap i t u la t ion  10 

se t t lement .    

 So the  quest ion  is  we l l ,  was there  d i f fe ren t  adv ice  

or  was the  adv ice  regarded as  i r re levant  and  in  the 

consequence o f  tha t  we have learn t  tha t  adv ice  was g iven  

f rom –  a  very  de ta i led  p iece o f  adv ice  on  the  procedure  

tha t  was fo l lowed,  was g i ven by  anothe r  f i rm and the i r  

conc lus ion  was –  and tha t  was –  i t  does not  mat te r  whethe r  

i t  i s  a  b ig  o r  a  smal l  f i rm but  a  ve ry  reputab le  f i rm,  Webber  

Wentze l  gave lega l  adv ice  wh ich  conf i rmed tha t  the  

procedure  was fa i r  and,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  I  have seen  20 

cor respondence f rom Deneys Re i tz ,  wh ich  was the  f i rm 

most  immedia te l y  adv i s ing  Mr  Mkhwanaz i  on  th i s  quest ion  

tha t  i t  a lso  regarded the  d ismissa l  to  have been fa i r.  

 So i t  does appear  very  c lea r  to  me tha t  no  lega l  

adv ice  cont rad ic ted  what  we were  say ing  to  the  company.   I  
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d id  no t  –  I  am no t  aware  o f  anybody say ing  tha t  there  was  

any d i f fe ren t  assessment  o f  the  lega l  pos i t ion  wh ich  aga in  

seems to  ind i ca te  to  me tha t  whethe r  the  s t rength  o f  

Transnet ’s  lega l  pos i t ion  or  o therw ise  was not  cons idered 

re levant  to  the  dec is ion  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then a t  paragraph 33 you say tha t :  

“The dec i s ion  to  conc lude the  agreement  and the  

te rms upon wh ich  i t  was conc luded cou ld  no t  

ra t iona l l y  have been mot iva ted  by  Transnet ’s  lega l  

pos i t ion  in  the  arb i t ra t ion…”  10 

The po in t  you make now.    

“…by Transnet ’s  f inanc ia l  in te res t  o r  by  the  

requ i rements  o f  good governance. ”  

And then you red ress each o f  those po in t s .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  you have probab ly  dea l t  w i th  

the  prospects  o f  success issue.   I s  there  anyth ing  you want  

to  h igh l igh t  in  tha t  parag raph 33(a )?  

MR TODD:    Yes,  I  th ink  the  on ly  po in t  tha t  I  wou ld  

re i te ra te  i s  tha t  i f  peop le  were  concerned tha t  the  20 

poss ib i l i t y  tha t  a  barga in ing  counc i l  a rb i t ra to r  m ight  

re ins ta te  Mr  Gama,  why fu l f i l  tha t  poss ib i l i t y  vo lun tar i l y?    

In  o ther  words,  i f  you  feared tha t  i t  was a  poss ib l y  even o r  

p robab i l i t y,  why not  le t  the  ba rga in ing  counc i l  a rb i t ra to r  

dec ide  i t  and then say we w i l l  accept  the  ou tcome whatever  
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i t  i s?   In  o ther  words,  i t  was –  i t  ac tua l l y  c lear  to  me tha t  

the  dec i s ion-makers  d id  no t  want  the  arb i t ra t ion  to  take  

p lace because the  l i ke l ihood was tha t  h is  d ismissa l  wou ld  

be  found fa i r  and tha t  wou ld  make i t  imposs ib le  –  i f  

Transnet  won the  arb i t ra t ion ,  i t  wou ld  have been ve ry  

d i f f i cu l t  to  see on what  bas is  Gama [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing 

s imul taneous ly ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  wou ld  have been a  d isas te r.  

MR TODD:    And so  consequent ly  i t  s t rong ly  suppor ts  an  

in fe rence tha t  a  dec is ion  had been taken to  re ins ta te  Mr 10 

Gama and what  was happen ing  now were  ar rangements  to  

t ry  and make tha t  happen,  no t  the  o ther  way around .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  what  you have jus t  sa id ,  i t  i s  qu i te  

impor tan t ,  Mr  Todd,  and maybe the re  is  mer i t  in  i t  because  

when you th ink  about  the  mer i t s  o f  Transnet ’s  case i t  i s  

d i f f i cu l t  to  ra t iona l l y  conc lude tha t  a  se t t lement  tha t  

inc luded re ins ta tement ,  par t i cu la r ly  fu l l y  re t rospect ive  

re ins ta tement  was jus t i f ied  and then I  am not  even  ta lk ing  

about  the  costs ,  you know,  tha t  i s  jus t  someth ing  e l se .  

MR TODD:    Ja .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    So  …[ in tervenes]  

MR TODD:    I f  the  –  so r ry… 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  –  bu t  do  no t  fo rge t  your  po in t .   

S ince I  go t  to  know about  th is  se t t lement  I  keep on t ry ing  

to  see whether  there  is  a  way o f  see ing  th is  se t t lement  
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f rom another  ang le  and not  in  th is  manner  tha t  I  am see ing  

i t .   I  am t ry ing  to  see i f  there  i s  a  way o f  see ing  i t  f rom the  

ang le  o f  the  board  and say ing  okay,  no ,  maybe I  can see 

th is ,  I  can see  tha t ,  and i t  is  so  d i f f i cu l t .   Bu t  Mr  

Mkhwanaz i  w i l l  come here  tomorrow and maybe he w i l l  be  

ab le  to  say tha t .    

 Bu t  when you th ink  about  the  mer i t s  o f  the  case,  the  

prospect  o f  success,  i t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  unders tand i t  and then 

when you go to  the  issue o f  them pay ing  costs ,  i t  jus t  

compl ica tes  the  who le  th ing  fu r ther.    So there  may we l l  be  10 

–  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  the  quest ion  o f  the  p rospects  o f  

success,  the  s t rength  o f  Transnet  case was s imp ly  no t  a  

re levant  fac tor  fo r  the  board .    

 But  I  know tha t  yes te rday Mr  Mapoma gave  

ev idence wh ich  sa id  tha t  a t  some s tage Mr  –  a t  some 

meet ing  wh ich  invo l ved Deneys Re i tz  o r  Nor ton  Rose,  Mr  

Mkhwanaz i  sa id  tha t  i f  he  cou ld  ge t  an  op in ion ,  a  lega l  

op in ion  tha t  sa id  there  was some unfa i rness  in  the  

d ismissa l  o f  Mr  Gama,  he  cou ld  then –  he  thought  he  cou ld  

succeed in  persuad ing  the  res t  o f  the  board  members  to  20 

se t t le  o r  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama and  I  sa id  to  Mr  Mapoma i t  

g ives  me the  impress ion  o f  somebody who  is  keen to  jus t  

f ind  someth ing  to  c l ing  on to  i n  o rder  to  jus t i f y  the 

re ins ta tement .   Yes,  you wanted to  make some po in t ,  Mr  

Todd?  
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MR TODD:    Yes.   Cha i rperson,  jus t  on  tha t  po in t ,  I  have 

not  seen,  un less  I  have not  been shown any lega l  op in ion  

tha t  says the re  was some unfa i rness towards –  any lega l  

op in ion  tha t  the re  was some unfa i rness towards Mr  Gama 

tha t  cou ld  have p rompted the  board  to  make tha t  dec is ion .  

 But  the  po in t  rea l l y  i s  th is .   I f  the  board ’s  m indset  

was i f  Mr  Gama is  re ins ta ted ,  we l l ,  we can work  w i th  h im,  

we do not  m ind  h im very  much  but  le t  us  see  what  

happens,  the  log ica l  wou ld  be  to  do ,  wou ld  be  to  le t  the 

arb i t ra t ion  dec ide  and then you say we l l ,  e i ther  we w i l l  w in  10 

the  arb i t ra t ion ,  as  ou r  lawyers  say  we w i l l ,  o r  i f  we do not ,  

we w i l l  make do w i th  i t ,  i t  i s  f ine .  

 But  the  fac t  tha t  they dec ided not  to  run  arb i t ra t ion  

and then to  cap i tu la te  ind ica tes  tha t  ac tua l l y  they  wanted  

Mr  Gama to  be  re ins ta ted  i r respect ive  o f  the  ou tcome o f  

the  arb i t ra t ion .   D id  no t  ma t te r  what  ou tcome the  

arb i t ra t ion  was go ing  to  de l i ve r,  they  wanted Mr  Gama to  

be  back in  the  bus iness.   That  i s  the  on ly  log ica l  

conc lus ion  to  d raw in  these c i r cumstances,  w i th  respect .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And,  o f  course ,  once –  i f  tha t  was the i r  20 

pos i t ion ,  the  quest ion  tha t  a r ises  wh ich  ou t  to  have  

t roub led  a  board  l i ke  Transnet  board ,  wou ld  be  how wi l l  we 

ever  be  ab le  to  d isc ip l ine  any o ther  execut ive  i f  s im i la r  

th ings happen?  How wi l l  we ever  be  ab le  to  d ismiss  any  

execut ive  or  even lower- rank ing  employees and o f f i c ia ls  i f  



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 146 of 224 
 

we re ins ta te  a  sen io r  execut ive  who accepts  tha t  he  was 

cor rec t l y  found  gu i l t y  o f  these very  ser ious  ac ts  o f  

m isconduct  because every  o the r  execut ive ,  every  o ther  

employee w i l l  say  we l l ,  no  prob lem,  what  I  have done is  

less  se r ious than what  Mr  Gama d id ,  so  you cannot  f i re  me.  

MR TODD:    Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Todd,  a t  page 58 you then dea l  

w i th  f inanc ia l  in te res ts  fo l lowed by  governance.   Do you  

want  to  re i te ra te  tha t?  10 

MR TODD:    Yes ,  f inanc ia l  in te res t  rea l l y  –  jus t  the  po in t  

was the  se t t lement  was much worse  fo r  Transnet  than the  

wors t  case scenar io  in  a  l i t i ga t ion  and f inanc ia l ly.    

So i f  you  are  the  s tewards o f  -   you govern  –  i f  you  

are  on  the  board  or  you are  the  Ch ie f  Execut ive  Off i ce r,  on  

what  poss ib le  bas is  wou ld  you do  tha t?   I  do  no t  know.   I t  

was not  in  the  f inanc ia l  in te res ts  o f  Transnet .  

And th i rd ,  as  regards governance,  we have been  

th rough i t  a t  length ,  I  mean,  I  have thought  about  th is  a  lo t  

because i t  goes  back to  the  fo rmer  Min i s te r  Hogan ’s  –  20 

exact ly  what  she wanted was  leve ls  o f  governance  

appropr ia te  to  manage mass ive  cap i ta l  expend i tu re  and  

in f ras t ruc tu re  deve lopment .   Wha t  –  who were  the  peop le  

we need to  s tee r  th is  sh ip?   And a t  eve ry  leve l ,  when you 

read the  Cha i rperson ’s  f ind ings and h i s  reasons fo r  
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dec id ing  tha t  d ismissa l  i s  the  appropr ia te  sanct ion ,  i t  i s  a l l  

about  what  expecta t ions Transnet  can have o f  i t s  sen io r  

execut ives  and  e f fec t i ve ly  the  se t t lement  –  the 

re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama comple te ly  unrave l led  a l l  o f  

those cons ide ra t ions.    

So nobody cou ld  be  s i t t ing  there  say ing  I  th ink  what  

we need to  do  to  improve governance is  b r ing  Mr  Gama 

back.   I t   cou ld  no t  have been wha t  they were  t ry ing  to  look  

a f te r.   They were  no t  t ry ing  to  look  a f te r  good governance  

and how to  ge t  the  r igh t  peop le  in  the  r igh t  p laces.   That  10 

cons idera t ion  was not  there  e i the r.  

So when –  i f  you  d iscount  those  th ree ,  your  lega l  

r i sk  and your  f inanc ia l  in te res ts  and your  governance 

cons idera t ions,  I  am le f t  w i thout  th ink ing  o f  a  s ing le  reason 

why a  board  wou ld  do  th is .    

I  do  no t  –  I  cannot  th ink  o f  a  s ing le  reason o the r  

than –  I  cannot  th ink  o f  a  reason why a  board  ac t i ng  in  a 

manner  wh ich  is  in  the  best  in te res ts  o f  the  company wou ld  

ever  do  i t  wh ich  must  then,  as  mat te r  o f  log ic ,  lead to  the  

conc lus ion  tha t  the  reason l ies  e l sewhere .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   Wel l ,  i t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  look  a t  

how the  board  hand led  Mr  Gama’s  mat te r,  th is  board  tha t  

re ins ta ted  and re ins ta ted  h im and  then la te r  on  promoted 

h im to  the  pos i t ion  o f  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  Transnet .   

D i f f i cu l t  fo r  me to  l i s ten  to  a l l  o f  th is  ev idence  w i thout  
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remember ing  Mr  Ko loane in  re la t ion  to  the  Waterk loo f  

p lane land ing .   I  hea rd  the  ev idence,  I  heard  ev idence las t  

year,  I  th ink ,  where  he  –  i t  was accepted tha t  he  –  or  

ra the r,  he  had sa id  he  had been  ins t ruc ted  by  the  fo rmer  

Pres ident ,  Mr  Zuma,  o r  Mr  Zuma wanted every th ing  to  be  

done to  fac i l i ta te  the  land ing  o f  tha t  Gupta  p lane and then  

la te r  on  he  sa id  no ,  he  had l ied  to  invo l ve  –  to  say Mr  

Zuma knew about  tha t ,  Mr  Zuma d id  no t  know about  tha t .   

 But  then –  and  he had been found gu i l t y  in  a  

d isc ip l ina ry  enqu i ry.   S t range ly,  he  was not  d ismissed,  you 10 

know,  bu t  then in  a  few months t ime,  maybe n ine  months ,  

he  was p romoted to  the  pos i t ion  o f  ambassador  on  the  

recommendat ion  o f  the  Min is te r  o f  In te rnat iona l  Re la t ions 

to  Mr  Zuma and  Mr  Zuma appo in ted  h im an ambassador  

and a t  tha t  t ime my quest ion  was,  I  wou ld  have thought  

tha t  Mr  Zuma wou ld  have been very  unhappy about  th is  

person i f  th is  person had l ied  about  h im l i ke  tha t  bu t  now 

he was –  th is  person was be ing  p romoted.  

 So here  you have th is  s i tua t ion ,  Mr  Gama is  

re ins ta ted  and la te r  on  he  gets  t o  be  made Group Ch ie f  20 

Execut ive  o f  Transnet .    

 So  when you keep on t ry ing  to  unders tand some o f  

these th ings you have cha l lenges,  you t ry  to  fo l low and you 

want  to  t ry  and unders tand,  you want  to  t ry  and look a t  

th ings f rom the  po in t  o f  v iew o f  o ther  peop le  invo lved so  
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tha t  you can end up w i th  a  ba lanced and cor rec t  v iew.   

Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  Todd,  a t  paragraph 

35,  page 60,  you in  fac t  dea l  w i th  th is  i ssue and you  

ment ion  a t  (b )  tha t  Mr  Gama went  on ,  as  we know,  to  

become the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  and then in  the  ba lance 

o f  your  a f f idav i t  you dea l  w i th  the  consequences  o f  the 

dec is ion  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama.   You see a t  the  end o f  the  

tex t  a t  paragraph  37 you say:  

“ I  do ,  however,  have some knowledge o f  the  10 

consequences o f  Mr  Gama’s  subsequent ly  admi t ted  

m isconduct  in  approv ing  the  appo in tment  o f  GNS. ”  

And then you se t  ou t  some ev idence in  tha t  regard  over  the  

space o f  two pages or  so .   I  th ink  th is  i s  someth ing  you 

have a l ready ra i sed in  your  ev idence.   I s  there  anyth ing  

you w ish  to  re i te ra te  in  tha t  regard? 

MR TODD:    No –  we l l ,  I  w i l l  say  th is ,  Transnet  had 

ins t i tu ted  proceed ings,  as  I  sa id ,  fo r  jus t  ove r  R95  mi l l ion 

fo r  a  repayment  o f  the  amounts  i t  had pa id  to  GNS,  

Genera l  Nyanda Secur i t y  and  one  o f  the  consequences o f  20 

re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama –  i t  may not  be  a  consequence,  

you may say i t  was caused by  someth ing  e lse ,  was tha t  the  

management  o f  TFR,  now aga in  led  by  Mr  Gama,  became –  

lukewarm wou ld  be  p robab ly  the  wrong word ,  became 

pos i t i ve ly  unenthus ias t i c  about  pu rsu ing  tha t  l i t i ga t ion  and  



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 150 of 224 
 

in  fac t  they came up w i th  a  number  o f  d i f fe ren t  

exp lanat ions why  tha t  l i t i ga t ion  shou ld  no  longer  p roceed  

and u l t imate l y  they persuaded fu r ther  adv i sers ,  o ther  

ou ts ide  lega l  adv isers  and the  board  to  w i thdraw tha t  

l i t i ga t ion  and not  pers is t  w i th  i t .   Bu t  tha t  i s  an  example  o f  

a  consequence and I  th ink  I  dea l  w i th  tha t  in  a  separa te  

a f f idav i t  where  e f fec t i ve l y  over  a  per iod  o f  t ime 

management  make po in ts  and i t  i s  under  the  leadersh ip  o f  

Mr  Gama.    

Mr  Gama ar ranges fo r  management  to  make a  10 

presenta t ion  to  the  board  say ing  tha t  ac tua l l y,  Transnet  go t  

va lue  fo r  th is  con t rac t .   And so  whereas in  h is  d isc ip l inary  

proceed ings Mr  Gama sa id  th is  was f i shy  and a  scam,  once  

he is  re ins ta ted  the  idea o f  pers i s t ing  w i th  th is  l i t i ga t ion  to  

recover  the  95  mi l l ion  wou ld  be  deep ly  uncomfor tab le  fo r  

Mr  Gama and consequent ly,  whether  i t  i s  consequent ly  o r  

jus t  a  co inc idence,  fo r  me,  I  do  no t  accept  tha t  i t  was 

co inc identa l l y,  managers  under  Mr  Gama’s  au thor i t y  then 

se t  up  e f fec t i ve ly  obstac les  to  pursu ing  tha t  l i t i ga t ion  and 

u l t imate ly  p roduced a  dec is ion  tha t  the  l i t iga t ion  shou ld  no t  20 

be  proceeded w i th .  

But  tha t  i s  an  example  no t  jus t  about  governance 

genera l l y  bu t  tha t  dec is ions to  in  th is  case b r ing  back a  

very  sen ior  leader  and then esca la te  tha t  leader  w i th in  the  

bus iness has very,  very  fa r - reach ing  governance very  
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p rac t i ca l  consequences fo r  Transnet ’s  opera t ions.  

So in  tha t  sense  I  suppose the  on ly  po in t  I  make,  

Cha i rperson,  i s  tha t  i t  i s  a  mat te r  o f  common sense .   These 

dec is ions,  i t  i s  no t  re ins ta t ing  a  shop f loor  worke r,  no t  in  

any way to  d is respect  a  shop f loor  worker  bu t  who is  one  

o f  50  peop le  on  the  shop f loor  in  a  manufac tu r ing  fac i l i t y,  i t  

i s  the  Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  your  la rgest   d iv is ion .   So i t  has  

fa r - reach ing  consequences fo r  the  who le  bus iness.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Todd your  second a f f idav i t ,  that  

you f ind  a t  page  156;  you say a t  paragraph 4  tha t  I  have  10 

been prov ided w i th  a  copy o f  an  a f f idav i t  deposed to  by  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  on  31  August  and have been reques ted to  

comment  on  the  s ta tements  in  paragraph 9  o f  tha t  a f f idav i t  

and the  re fe rence there  to  the  concept  o f  condonat ion  o f  

p rocu rement  i r regu lar i t ies .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     Now perhaps I  cou ld  s ta r t  by  ask ing  

you to  tu rn  to  Bund le  4  and to  page 18,  one e igh t .   Bund le  

4A,18.   Now Mr  Todd you do in  your  a f f idav i t  and  we w i l l  

come to  tha t  in  a  moment  ana lyse  var ious s ta tements  made  20 

in  paragraphs 9 .4  and 9 .5 ,  th is  i s  f rom Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  

a f f idav i t .  

MR TODD:    Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And perhaps you can have regard  to  

those paragraphs and then a t  the  same t ime to  your  
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ana lys is  in  pa rag raph 5  o f  your  a f f idav i t .      

MR TODD:    Yes,  I  mean I  was  surpr i sed to  read th is  

a f f idav i t  when I  was p rov ided w i th  a  copy o f  i t  and I  no ted  

in  paragraph 9 .4  Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  says:  

“ I  persona l ly  fu l l y  agree w i th  the  d isc ip l inary  

process and f ind ings o f  the  then Transnet  board . ”  

So he persona l ly  fu l l y  agreed w i th ,  assoc ia tes  h imse l f  w i th  

every th ing  wh ich  advocate  Ant rebus has sa id  i t  i s  what  I  

unders tand h im to  be  say ing  and then he says bu t  the 

issue was tha t  t here  is  a  p rocess ca l led  condona t ion  and 10 

he then says in  9 .5  tha t  we as  a  board  had to  somehow t ry  

and dea l  w i th  the  Gama mat te r  on  the  assumpt ion  tha t  he  

wou ld  have been  granted condonat ion  had i t  been  o f fe red  

and there fo re  had to  t ry  and put  h im in  a  pos i t ion  tha t  he 

cou ld  have been  in  had a  condonat ion  been o f fe red .   So 

tha t  d idn ’ t  make any sense  to  me  fo r  a  number  o f  reasons 

wh ich  I  have exp la ined but  I  can jus t  summar i se  very  

br ie f l y.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  p lease  go ahead.   

MR TODD:    I  mean the  f i rs t  po in t  i s  tha t  condona t ion  as  20 

the  Transnet ’s  own in te rna l  document  show is  a  procedure  

tha t  i s  poss ib le  to  avo id  a  f ind ing  o f  unauthor i sed 

expend i tu re  when a  person has  exceeded h is  o r  her  

au thor i t y  bu t  the re  are  good grounds fo r  the  expend i tu re  

and he or  she approaches the  person who has the  au thor i t y  
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and says I  exceeded my author i t y  w i l l  you  agree tha t  th is  is  

good expend i tu re .    

Now tha t  i s  a  s imp le  example  o f  when the  concep t  

o f  condonat ion  go ing  to  the  leve l  wh ich  has the  au thor i t y  to  

ensure  tha t  you  regu lar i se  someth ing  wh ich  where  you  

have exceeded your  au thor i t y.   I t  i s  comple te l y  d i f fe ren t  

f rom the  quest ion  o f  how b lamewor thy  or  cu lpab le  the 

employee was who exceeded author i t y.   So i f  tha t  

employee had dec ided to  do  so  de l ibera te ly  igno r ing  

knowing tha t  he  d id  no t  have author i t y  bu t  had dec ided to 10 

ignore  i t  and ask  peop le  to  cover  i t  up  and la te r  i t  was 

found out  i t  i s  qu i te  poss ib le  tha t  expend i tu re  cou ld  be  

regu lar i sed because the  h igher  au thor i t y  agrees tha t  i t  i s  

good expend i tu re  bu t  tha t  you wou ld  d i sc ip l ine  the  person  

be low who had knowing ly  exceeded the i r  au thor i t y  and had 

t r ied  to  h ide  the  fac t  tha t  they had done so .    

So in  o ther  words the re  is  no  re la t ionsh ip  d i rec t  

re la t ionsh ip  be tween condon ing  unauthor i sed expend i tu re  

and whethe r  you  accept  o r  do  no t  accept  the  conduct  o r  

behav iou r  o f  the  person who caused tha t  expend i tu re  to  be  20 

exceeded and I  th ink  tha t  i s  abso lu te l y  c lear  f rom 

Transnet ’s  po l i c ies  and i t  i s  comple te ly  c lear.   In  fac t ,  even 

f rom Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  a f f idav i t  h imse l f  where  he  a t  some 

po in t  re fe rs  to  some procurement  wh ich  he  cons idered 

ought  to  be  condoned but  he  ins t ruc ted  tha t  the  peop le  
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respons ib le  be  d isc ip l ined in  consequence.    

So i t  rea l l y  makes no sense to  say  we have –  so  the  

f i rs t  po in t  i s  condon ing  expend i tu re  does not  have anyth ing  

to  do  w i th  how cu lpab le  or  b lamewor thy  the  conduct  was o f  

the  person who caused i t  and then the  second po in t  i s  tha t  

-  there  are  a  few po in ts  bu t  the  second one wh ich  maybe  

most  obv ious none o f  the  th ree  ins tances o f  m isconduct  

were  in  anyway su i tab le  fo r  condonat ion  because  i f  one  

s ta r ts  w i th  the  f i f t y  l i ke  new cont rac t  what  had happened  

was a  comple te  dev ia t ion  f rom the  board  au thor i sed  10 

process wh ich  ac tua l l y  had to  be  unwound.    

In  o ther  words,  the  board  fa r  f rom say ing  i t  i s  okay  

le t  us  leave th i s  as ide  tha t  you have imp lemented the  f i f t y  

l i ke  new t ransact ion  in  the  very  way tha t  we sa id  you must  

no t  and we w i l l  condone i t .   No they ac tua l l y  unwound tha t  

and went  back to  the i r  o r ig ina l  –  so  there  is  no th ing  to  

condone i r regu la r  o r  an  unauthor ised expend i tu re  in  any  

case.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because i f  you condone you then leave  

as  is ,  i s  i t  no t?  20 

MR TODD:    Yes,  you rea l l y  say ing  tha t  the  expend i tu re  

was p roper l y  incur red  and i t  was  autho r ised a t  the  wrong 

leve l  and in  fac t  f i f t y  l i ke  new misconduct  had noth ing  to  

do  w i th  exceed ing  author i t y  o r  i r regu la r  expend i tu re  in  tha t  

sense.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    I t  was l i ke  you def ied  the  ins t ruc t ion  o f  

the  board .     

MR TODD:    Cor rec t  you imp lemented…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    To  say when you do th is  job  th is  i s  the  

cond i t ion  tha t  you must  comply  w i th .    

MR TODD:    Yes ,  and i t  i s  ignored and in  fac t  d id  exact ly  

what  the  board  d id  no t  want  to  happen.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR TODD:    And so  the re  was noth ing  fo r  the  board  then to  

condone tha t  a r rangement  o r  i f  i t  had you wou ld  have  10 

expected the  board  okay you d is regarded us  bu t  we are  

happy w i th  the  a r rangements  you have se t  up  we w i l l  leave  

them in  p lace  and in  fac t  they wou ld  s t i l l  be  en t i t led  to  say  

bu t  we are  very  upset  tha t  you have put  us  in  th is  pos i t ion  

and we go ing  to  charge you w i th  m isconduct .    

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  a  conduct  l i ke  tha t  i t  i s  d isobey ing  

an ins t ruc t ion  in  some way o r  anothe r.    

MR TODD:     Yes ,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  how the  board ,  how i t  was 

character i sed and tha t  i s  what  was ser ious tha t  i s  why tha t  

f i f t y  l i ke  new con t rac t  was found to  be  se r ious m isconduct  20 

by  Mr  Gama and  Cha i rperson you  o f ten  do  not  know what  

a l l  o f  the  reasons are  tha t  under l ie  these th ings bu t  the  

Transnet  board  was a le r ted  to  the  r i sk  tha t  i f  you  in t roduce  

a  para l le l  se t  o r  yard  workshop assembl ing  our  locomot ives  

wh ich  we cou ld  be  do ing  ou rse lves,  there  is  another  who le  
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a rea  where  va lue  leaks ou t  o f  Transnet  I  am jus t  pu t t ing  i t  

in  p la in  words and tha t  i s  what  they d id  no t  want  to  happen 

and tha t  i s  what  Gama a l lowed to  happen.    

So yes there  is  no  quest ion  o f  condonat ion  a r ises  

there .   As  regards the  GNS cont rac t  I  have re fer red  to  how 

comple te l y  fundamenta l l y  f raudu len t  tha t  cont rac t  and tha t  

p rocu rement  p rocess was f rom the  outse t .    

I t  wou ld  never  have qua l i f ied  fo r  condonat ion  nor  

even d id  Mr  Gama h imse l f  be l ieve  i t  because he ca l led  i t  a  

scam.   So there  is  no  quest ion  o f  say ing  we l l  cou ld  Mr 10 

Gama have gone  and sa id  I  exceeded my author i t y  I  have 

spent  ins tead o f  R10mi l l ion  we ac tua l l y  spent  R95mi l l ion  in  

two years ,  these  put  Transnet  a t  a  h igher  leve l  approve   

tha t ,  he  sa id  i t  shou ld  never  have incu r red  in  t he  f i rs t  

p lace .   He sa id  tha t  he  wou ld  never  have approved a  

condonat ion  in  those c i r cumstances and he shou ld  no t  

have.    

So tha t  case s i tua t ion  too  so  you cou ld  no t  have 

sa id  oh  we l l  le t  us  t rea t  th is  as  expend i tu re  tha t  was 

condoned and then wave Mr  Gama cont r ibu t ion  or  20 

b lamewor thy  conduct  and the  th i rd  th ing  o f  course  had  

noth ing  to  do  w i th  p rocu rement  a t  a l l  the  a t tack  on  

Transnet  and i t s  execut ives  unwar ranted a t tacks  on  a  team 

who had noth ing  to  do  w i th  th is .    

So fo r  Mr  Mkwanaz i  to  say we were  under  a  du ty  
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e f fec t i ve l y  to  t rea t  the  conduct  as  a l l  accepted by  Transnet  

and the  board  the re  is  no  foundat ion  in  the  po l i c ies  nor  any 

fac tua l  bas i s  on  any o f  the  inc idence o f  m isconduct  to  

jus t i f y  tha t  s ta tement .   Yes,  so  I  found i t  qu i te  bewi lde r ing  

ac tua l l y  tha t  he  wou ld  suggest  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  tha t  was  the  second po in t  and we 

w i l l  come to  the  de ta i l  in  a  moment ,  i f  you  go to  page 158  

you say tha t :  

“Condonat ion  was a  procurement  p rocess en t i re l y  

d is t inc t  o f  the  dec is ion  mak ing  about  the  10 

consequences. ”  

You have dea l t  w i th  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh I  am sor ry.   

Mr  Todd le t  me go back to  your  po in t  tha t  the  th i rd  charge 

had noth ing  to  do  w i th  p rocu rement .   I f  the  board  used 

condonat ion  as  jus t i f i ca t ion  fo r  say ing  tha t  the  appropr ia te  

sanct ion  was a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  and condona t ion  d id  

no t  app ly  to  the  th i rd  charge,  does i t  seem l i ke  there fo re  

they can on ly  be  sa id  to  have app l ied  tha t  f ina l  wr i t ten  

warn ing  –  they cou ld  on l y  app ly  tha t  f ina l  w r i t ten  warn ing  20 

on whatever  charge they be l ieved re la ted  to  p rocurement  

bu t  i t  cannot  be  the  th i rd .   So even on the i r  reason ing  i t  

means they d id  no t  g ive  a  sanct ion  fo r  the  th i rd .          

MR TODD:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    So  i f  they  had g iven a  sanct ion  fo r  the  



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 158 of 224 
 

th i rd  were  they go ing  to  g ive  two f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ings or  

wou ld  they have f i red  h im?  

MR TODD:    Cha i rperson i f  condonat ion  meant  t rea t  as  i f  

we t rea t  i t  as  i t  i s  a l l  okay then you wou ld  no t  app ly  

sanct ion  a t  a l l  bu t  they d id  no t  do  tha t  they obv ious ly  

thought  tha t  Mr  Gama needed a  sanct ion .   So i t  is  no t  a  

p laus ib le  exp lana t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  exp la in .    

MR TODD:    Bu t  there  is  a l so  a  d i f fe ren t  reason I  mean 

there  is  a  more  obv ious reason why i t  i s  no t  p laus ib le  i s  10 

tha t  I  have been shown the  memorandum tha t  was 

prepared fo r  Mr  Mkwanaz i  to  submi t  to  the  board  meet ing  

when Mr  Gama when the  board  cons idered re ins ta tement  

and i t  makes no ment ion  o f  th is  top ic  a t  a l l .   So  as  a  mat te r  

o f  fac t  I  mean I  am not  sure  you  cannot  jus t  dec ide  as  a  

board  tha t  you must  g ran t  condonat ion  fo r  these th ree  ac t s  

o f  m isconduct  w i thout  th is  ve ry  d iscuss ion  tha t  we a re  

hav ing  now and w i thout  some ana lys is  and  

recommendat ion  o f  how i t  app l ies  in  Mr Gama’s  case but  

there  was not  anyth ing  l i ke  tha t .   So as  a  mat te r  o f  fac t  i t  20 

seems to  be  someth ing  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  has 

m isremembered.      

CHAIRPERSON:    Ac tua l l y  as  I  read the  Transnet  po l i c ies  

or  manua l  tha t  has go t  someth ing  on  condonat ion  i t  seems 

tha t  the  employee has to  app ly  fo r  condonat ion  or  
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somebody must  app ly  fo r  condonat ion  or  request  

condonat ion  and here  i t  does not  look  l i ke  Mr Gama ever  

requested condonat ion  in  te rms  o f  what  we have on 

records.    

MR TODD:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And I  wou ld  imag ine  and I  seem to  have  

come across someth ing  tha t  suggested tha t  even  where  

condonat ion  app l ies  you do not  ge t  i t  fo r  the  ask ing  and i f  

tha t  i s  so  i t  wou ld  mean tha t  there  wou ld  have  to  be  a 

mot iva t ion  or  why shou ld  condonat ion  be  granted in  a  10 

par t i cu la r  case and i f  tha t  i s  so  i t  does not  look  l i ke  the  

board  had anyth ing  in  f ron t  o f  i t  wh ich  mot iva ted  why 

condonat ion  shou ld  be  granted.          

MR TODD:    Ja ,  a l l  o f  tha t  i s  t rue  Cha i rperson,  a l l  to  the  

best  o f  my know ledge a l l  o f  wha t  you have jus t  sa id  i s  

cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  Mr  Myburgh.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank you.   So your  second  

po in t  i s  tha t  in  none o f  the  th ree  ins tances o f  m isconduct  

a re  capab le  o f  condonat ion .   Then you make two o ther  20 

po in ts  wh ich  you expand upon la te r  in  your  a f f idav i t .   Th i rd  

such content ions  as  Mr  Gama sought  to  make dur ing  h is  

d isc ip l ina ry  enqu i ry  p rocess concern ing  cons is tency o f  

t rea tment  were  pu t t ing  fa i r l y,  ca re fu l l y  fa i r l y  cons idered by  

the  d isc ip l ina ry  Cha i rperson as  appears  f rom h i s  lengthy  
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f ind ing .   So as  I  unders tand the  po in t  tha t  you make is  tha t  

the  Cha i rperson cons ide red th is  i ssue in  any case.         

MR TODD:    Yes,  I  mean i t  had been ra ised as  a  

pre l im inary  po in t  dur ing  the  enqu i ry  and in  re la t ion  to  

sanct ion  and what  the  Cha i rpe rson sa id  or  Mr Gama says  

there  is  incons is tency bu t  there  is  no  ev idence o f  another  

se t  o f  s im i la r  never  m ind ident ica l  c i rcumstances in  wh ich  

Transnet  made d i f fe ren t  dec i s ions  or  adopted a  d i f fe ren t  

approach to  d i sc ip l in ing  i t s  employees f rom the i r  approach  

adopted in  Gama’s  case.    10 

So tha t  i s  what  the  Cha i rperson was say ing  in  

Gama’s  case and i t  i s  inconce ivab le  tha t  a  board  cou ld  

conc lude th is  bu t  I  mean th is  i s  about  cons is tency  now,  I  

do  no t  know i t  i s  inconce ivab le  t ha t  a  board  cou ld  have 

dec ided tha t  condonat ion  is  no rmal ly  g ran ted to  o ther  

peop le  i t  was not  g ran ted to  Mr  Gama the re fore  Mr  Gama 

needs to  be  re ins ta ted  un less  somebody had put  in  f ron t  o f  

the  board  fac t s  wh ich  sa id  th is  i s  how we norma l ly  dea l  

w i th  th is  and here  are  o ther  cases where  we wou ld  dea l  

w i th  i t  in  th is  way tha t  wou ld  be  what  I  wou ld  expect  i f  the 20 

board  was go ing  to  be  ac t ing  on  tha t  in fo rmat ion .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ac tua l l y  i t  says  -  one cannot  s top  

p ick ing  up  th ings tha t  a re  d i f f i cu l t  to  fo l low he re  in  th is  

case.   I  have not  come across th roughout  a l l  these bund les  

and a  lo t  o f  documenta t ion  tha t  the  Commiss ion  ob ta ined  
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f rom Transnet  and f rom your  f i rm and f rom Deneys Re i tz  o r  

Nor ton  Rose,  I  have not  come ac ross any document  

whethe r  memo or  a f f idav i t  o r  a  le t te r  where  Mr Gama or  

somebody on beha l f  o f  Mr  Gama puts  th is  case o f  

condonat ion  dur ing  the  se t t lemen t  negot ia t ions ,  and says 

here  is  the  mot iva t ion  wh ich  one wou ld  i f  there  had been 

such a  document  then one wou ld  say the  board  in  pursu ing  

th is  i ssue o f  condonat ion  was ac t ing  as  a  resu l t  o f  th is  

documenta t ion  tha t  was fu rn ished  by  Mr  Gama o r  by  h is  

lawyers  bu t  i t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  see any th ing .    10 

I t  i s  l i ke  i t  came f rom the  board  i t  came f rom Mr  

Mkwanaz i  and then i t  was pursued .  

MR TODD:    Yes,  I  mean  Cha i rpe rson I  have  on ly  seen  -  I  

have not  seen any lega l  adv ice  tha t  suggests  tha t  th is  was  

a  prob lem and I  had seen the  board  memorandum tha t  went  

-  the  no te  tha t  was prepared by  Mr  Mapoma to  the  board  i t  

makes no ment ion  o f  th is  top ic  a t  a l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR TODD:    And then there  is  la te r  work  done by  Nkonk i  

wh ich  was on ly  commenced in  January  and had not  been 20 

repor ted  un t i l  the  m idd le  o f  the  year  on  an  in te r im bas is  

and then f ina l l y  a t  the  m idd le  o f  the  year  wh ich  cou ld  no t  

poss ib ly  have had a  bear ing  on  the  dec is ion  tha t  Mr 

Mkwanaz i  and the  board  were  tak ing  in  February,  m idd le  o f  

February  2011.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR TODD:    So i t  i s  very  hard  to  be l ieve  tha t  these are  no t  

–  i t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  as  I  say  m isremembered I  th ink  another  

board  member  a lso  says tha t  she thought  th is  was the  

issue but  i t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  see how i t  cou ld  have been i f  you  

see what  documents  were  be ing  presented to  t he  board  

when i t  made the  dec is ion  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama.   

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  course  you might  no t  be  aware  o f  th is  

bu t  I  th ink  Mr  Myburgh i s  p robab ly  aware ,  the  is  an  –  oh  in  

h is  a f f idav i t  we l l  you wou ld  be  aware  as  we l l  because i t  i s  10 

Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  a f f idav i t  to  the  Commiss ion .    

One o f  the  th ings he  says i s  tha t  he  met  w i th  Mr  

G igaba in  October  2010,  he  had a  meet ing  w i th  Mr  G igaba 

in  October  2010 and i t  i s  a t  tha t  meet ing  tha t  Mr  G igaba  

o f fe red  h im the  pos i t ion  o f  Cha i rperson o f  the  board ,  o f  the  

new board  tha t  was go ing  to  be  appo in ted  fo r  Transnet  

wh ich  he  says he  thought  about  and then la te r  accepted.   

He says in  tha t  meet ing  Mr  G igaba ment ioned  cer ta in  

mat te rs  wh ich  he  asked o r  wh ich  he  sa id  he  thought  the  

new board  must  focus on  or  the  Cha i rperson mus t  focus 20 

on.   One o f  the  i tems he puts  in  h is  a f f idav i t  i s  tha t  Mr  

G igaba sa id  he  was concerned about  p rocurement  i ssues 

a t  Transnet  and he sa id  the re  is  th is  th ing  ca l led  

condonat ion  a t  Transnet  where  dev ia t ion  f rom procurement  

can be condoned .   He ra i sed tha t  i ssue and then we see 
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tha t  i t  seems when Mr  Gama u l t ima te ly  ge ts  re ins ta ted  tha t  

i s  the  issue re l ied  upon to  jus t i f y  b r ing ing  h im back ,  bu t  we 

do have an a f f idav i t ,  a lso  tha t  the  commiss ion  o f  Mr  

G igaba say ing  he  p layed no ro le  in  the  se t t lement  

agreement  o r  re la t ing  to  Mr  Gama and h is  re ins ta tement  

a l though yesterday Mr  Mopoma gave some ev idence to  say 

tha t  the  Mr  G igaba spec ia l  adv iso r,  Mr  Mhlangu,  pu t  some 

pressure  on  h im to  say Transnet  was de lay ing  re ins ta t ing  

Mr  Gama,  so  the re  are  those issues.  

MR TODD:    Cha i rperson I  have been g i ven the  lega l  10 

op in ions and the  Board  memorandum tha t  a re  ava i lab le  

tha t  se rved befo re  the  Board  bu t  none o f  them a re  ab le  to  

exp la in  i s  how Mr  Mkwanaz i  reached the  conc lus ion  or  in  

what  conversa t ion  or  d iscuss ion  o r  meet ing  he  reached the  

conc lus ion  tha t  Mr  Gama shou ld  be  re ins ta ted ,  wh ich  l ed  

h im to  ins t ruc t  Deneys Re i tz  in  the  m idd le  o f  January  

,w i th in  a  month  o f  be ing  appo in ted  and to  o f fe r  

re ins ta tement  to  Mr  Gama.  

 So someth ing ,  there  is  s t i l l  someth ing  miss ing .    

What  I  had i s  what  he  and Deneys Re i t z  d id  a f te r  tha t ,  I  20 

have seen what  they sa id  to  the  Board  and how they – i n  

what  why they sought  to  persuade board  members  tha t  i t  

was a  good idea,  bu t  someth ing  –  you don ’ t  jus t  wake up 

one day and say Mr  Gama needs to  be  re ins ta ted .  

 I f  you  a re  a  –  i f  you  take  up the  pos i t ion  you might  
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ge t  a  b r i e f ing  f rom an in -house lega l  person or  your  

p redecessor  and tha t  leads you to  conc lude tha t  there  is  a  

b ig  r i sk  he re  or  a  reason fo r  someth ing  to  happen ,  bu t  Mr  

Mapoma says the re  was no b r ie f ing ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  doesn ’ t  

re fe r  to  any b r ie f ing  f rom anybody  and i t  i s  apparent  when  

he is  dea l ing  w i th  Deneys Re i tz  tha t  he  ac tua l l y  hasn ’ t  ye t  

been br ie fed  on  the  Gama mat te r,  bu t  ye t  he  has an  

ins t ruc t ion  fo r  Deneys Re i tz  to  o f fe r  re ins ta tement  by  

January,  so  i t  does seem,  I  mean  rea l l y  these are  mat te rs  

tha t  I  don ’ t  have persona l  knowledge o f  bu t  one jus t  has to  10 

app ly  a  mat te r  o f  log ic  and say tha t  a  conversa t ion ,  

d iscuss ion  or  ser ies  o f  d iscuss ions  caused Mr  Mkwanaz i  to  

reach the  conc lus ion  by  m id-January  tha t  Mr  Gama shou ld  

be  re ins ta ted  and where  tha t  happened i t  i s  no t  m inuted  

and I  do  no t  be l i eve  i t  i s  a t  the  Board  or  t ha t  i t  was w i th in  

Transnet  because  o therwise  you wou ld  know about  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And o f  course  I  sa id  yeste rday Mr  

Mapoma tes t i f ied  about  the  fac t  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  to ld  Mr  

Mapoma and the  lega l  team f rom Deneys Re i tz  who were  

ass is t ing  h im,  Transnet ,  to ld  them tha t  he  wanted to  have a  20 

one on one meet ing  w i th  Mr  Gama to  ta lk  se t t lement  , so  

there  is  tha t  one  on one meet ing  tha t  took p lace,  on ly  the  

two o f  them know what  they d i scussed.    Of  course  Mr  

Mapoma d id  say tha t  one o f  the  th ings tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  

to ld  h im about  tha t  meet ing  is  tha t  they cou ld  no t  reach 
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agreement  because Mr  Gama was demand ing i n  e f fec t  

appo in tment  as  Group CEO of  Transnet  as  opposed to  

demand ing re ins ta tement  as  CEO of  GFR.    

 Yes,  I  mean par t  o f  the  reason why one is  

ment ion ing  some o f  these th ings i s  because one knows Mr  

Mkwanaz i  i s  p robab ly  l i s ten ing ,  so  when he comes he  

knows what  a re  the  issues tha t  wor ry  me and he can 

exp la in ,  he  can dea l  w i th  i ssues p roper ly.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank  you  Cha i rperson.   Mr  Todd I  

am go ing  to  see i f  I  can  wa lk  you th rough your  a f f idav i t  to  10 

the  end,  because I  have got  a  lo t  o f  o ther  impor tan t  

quest ions I  want  to  ask  you wh i ls t  you a re  here  and in  

par t i cu la r  to  comment  on  the  var ious ve rs ions  o f  the  

d i rec tors ,  and cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  go  back to  page  

158 o f  your  a f f i dav i t  and then you f lesh  ou t  your  fou r  

po in ts ,  you say  condonat ion  o f  p rocurement  p rocess 

d is t inc t  f rom dec is ions on  employee conduct .  

 Now much o f  th is  you have ment ioned,  bu t  over  the  

page a t  159 you dea l  w i th  an  in te rna l  memorandum on the  

issue o f  condona t ion  and you then  exp la in  a t  parag raph 11 20 

and here  you ’ re  quot ing  f rom the  memorandum tha t  

condonat ions are  no t  there  fo r  the  ask ing ,  as  a  genera l  

ru le  condonat ion  shou ld  be  g i ven fo r  re la t i ve l y  m inor  

t ransgress ions on  procurement  ru les  and p rocedures,  

mater ia l  non-compl iance w i l l  usua l l y  no t  be  condoned 
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because these have PFMA impl ica t ions and resu l t  in  c iv i l  

c r im ina l  and d i sc ip l ina ry  s teps be ing  taken and tha t  you 

are  quot ing  f rom the  memorandum.  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Over  the  page . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  where  a re  you read ing  f rom 

Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  159,  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page,  

Bund le  3 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    On . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Todd ’s  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I ’m  sor ry  I  shou ld  have a le r ted  you 

to  the  fac t  tha t  I  was go ing  back to  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay thank,  I  have got  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then a t  page 150 s t i l l  dea l ing  

w i th  tha t  –  so r ry  160,  a t  the  top ,  s t i l l  dea l ing  w i th  the  

memorandum,  you reco rd  a  cond i t ion  submiss ion  was  

requ i red  to  s ta te  whethe r  d isc ip l inary  s teps had been taken 

because o f  non-compl iance and even where  mat te rs  have 20 

been submi t ted  fo r  condonat ion  where  ce r ta in  ind iv idua ls  

a re  found to  be  gu i l t y  o f  t ransgress ion  d i sc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  

shou ld  be  cons idered.  

 That  you a l l  take  f rom the  memorandum tha t  one 

f inds  a t  page 168 .  
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MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then i f  we go back to  160 you then  

f lesh  ou t  no  condonat ion  wou ld  or  cou ld  have been 

app l i cab le  to  Mr  Gama’s  m isconduct  and you a t  13A dea l  

w i th  the  50- l i ke  new locomot ives ,  tha t  I  th ink  you have  

covered an then a t  B  you dea l  w i th  GNS.    

 I s  there  anyth ing  there  tha t  you w ish  to  h igh l igh t  o r  

re i te ra te .  

MR TODD:     No,  o ther  than to  emphas ize  tha t  in  h is  own  

vers ion  Mr  Gama be l ieved tha t  tha t  p rocu rement  p rocess  10 

was a  f raud,  a  scam,  and so  the  idea tha t  he  wou ld  have  

asked somebody  to  condone i t  is  comple te ly,  tha t  wou ld  

make no sense.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Perhaps –  can I  ask  you is  th is  an  

accura te  descr ip t ion  o f  Mr  Gama’s  m isconduct  in  re la t ion  

to  GNS.   That  on  h is  own ve rs ion  he  s igned b l ind  a  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  tha t  a l lowed a  f raud to  be  perpet ra ted  on  

Transnet?     

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I s  tha t  h is  case?  20 

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now tha t  reminds me I  am go ing  to  pu t  a  

quest ion  to  you Mr  Todd,  jus t  th ink  i t  th rough care fu l l y,  you  

have been ve ry  care fu l  about  cer ta in  th ings,  so  cont inue in  

tha t  way,  bu t  I  jus t  want  to  see whethe r  i t  i s  your  
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unders tand ing  o f  th is  s i tua t ion .    

 Wou ld  i t  be  jus t i f ied  or  cor rec t  to  say i f  Mr  –  i f  the 

ac ts  o f  m isconduct  tha t  Mr  Gama had invo lved h imse l f  in  

tha t  led  to  h is  d ismissa l ,  were  no t  in ten t iona l  inc lud ing  

f raud,  and maybe  cor rup t ion  I  don ’ t  know,  bu t  i f  they  were  

no t  in ten t iona l ,  because the  Cha i rperson o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  

inqu i ry  sa id  he  was neg l igent ,  then tha t  k ind  o f  neg l igence 

tha t  was invo lved wou ld  show h im to  have been very  

incompetent .   Would  i t  be  jus t i f ied to  descr ibe  i t  l i ke  tha t ,  

o r  wou ld  tha t  be  go ing  too  fa r?  10 

MR TODD:    No Cha i rperson,  I  wou ld  go  as  fa r  as  to  say 

they showed h im  to  be  comple te ly  unsu i tab le  to  ho ld  the  

o f f i ce  o f  a  Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  a  d iv is ion  such as  TFR,  and I  

say  tha t  par t i cu la r ly  because  o f  the  sur round ing  

c i rcumstances.    In  o ther  words i t  i s  p resented as  –  i f  you  

present  i t  as  the  f ind ing  was jus t  mere  neg l igence .    The 

f ind ing  was neg l igence o f  a  mos t  ser ious k ind  p rec i se l y  

because i t  fe l l  comple te ly  shor t  o f  what  was expected o f  

somebody l i ke  Mr  Gama.  

 So the  lack  o f  tha t  f ind ing  o f  the  Cha i rperson does 20 

not  mean that  we now treat  i t  as something benign or 

something which we should be able to accept .   So I  st rongly 

would endorse and argue that  the chairperson’s f ind ings on 

sanct ions were ent i re ly just i f ied in al l  of  thei r  respects.   

Unless you were set t ing a completely standard for Transnet.   
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Unless the board had decided you know what let  us have 

Chief  Execut ives who do not  read documents or who do not  

mind and who t ry  and cover i t  up and who f ights l ike crazy 

when held to account.   Because that  is the bot tom l ine – that  

is what Mr Gama did.   So I  am qui te conf ident  and 

comfortable to say Mr Chai rperson that  the – the sanct ions 

were fu l ly just i f ied for  he reasons set  out  in  the 

Chairperson’s f inding and more for concluding that  a 

dismissal  was the appropriate sanct ion for negl igence.   And 

negl igence was of  such a ser ious nature that  is complete – 10 

the person – rendered Mr Gama unsui tab le to hold off ice that  

he held.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Yes Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   And then at  162 Mr Todd 

the point  you have made on mult ip le occasions that  i t  wi l l  

see of  course the thi rd  charge of  misconduct  that  had 

nothing to do wi th  condonat ion at  al l?  

MR TODD:   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then in the next  heading Gama’s own 

content ions at  page 163 on inconsistency were ful ly and 20 

fai r ly considered in the discipl inary process.   I  th ink that  is a  

point  you have al ready made? 

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you quote here f rom the f indings 

of  the chairperson where he deal t  wi th those things? 
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MR TODD:   I f  a board member was going to take a d i fferent  

v iew I  would have assumed that  they have a lo t  more 

informat ion avai lable to them than the discipl inary 

chairperson had who had sat  over  fourteen days of  hearing 

and mult ip le f i les of  relevant  documents.    

But  I  mean that  is  real ly the point  is  that  th is – to the 

extent  that  i t  is was vent i lated by Mr Gama as an issue in  

the discipl inary hearing he did h is best  – he had senior 

counsel  represent ing him and the chai rperson reached a 

conclusion that  I  th ink is ent i re ly r ight .    10 

So a board member to say oh but  actual ly I  am going 

to take a di fferent  decision for th is reason must have had 

mater ia l ly di fferent  informat ion in  f ront  of  h im to reach a 

di fferent  conclusion on this topic.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The next  th ing you deal  wi th at  page… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh d id you want to add a point  here? 

MR TODD:   No I  actual ly said that  is the next  point  that  I  

made in the document that  Mr Myburgh is going to refer me 

to.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Oh.   Now can we then deal  wi th the 

heading No Evidence of  a report  or other credible 

informat ion before the board at  condonat ion would have 

been appl icable to Mr Gama’s response.   Wel l  that  is  

respect ively the point  you have made now? 
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MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You have not  come across anything,  

no? 

MR TODD:   And on the contrary what has been shown to me 

that  was put  in f ront  of  the board says nothing about th is.   

So one can reasonably infer f rom that  that  there was not  – 

unless there is another report  that  Mr Mapoma did not  th ink 

was necessary to refer to when he did a two page 

memorandum for the board and nor did Deneys Rei tz who 

was set t l ing that  memorandum they were not  aware of  th is 10 

evidence or argument because they did not  th ink i t  

appropriate or necessary to put  i t  in f ront  of  the board.  So I  

real ly th ink one can conclude safely that  there was no such 

evidence or report  put  in f ront  of  the board when i t  made this 

decision.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then perhaps f inal ly Mr Todd on this  

aff idavi t  could I  just  ask you to deal  wi th the point  that  you 

make at  paragraph 23 and fur ther in concluding your 

aff idavi t?  

MR TODD:   Yes.   There is a  minute of  the Transnet  20 

Corporate Governance and Nominat ions Commit tee held on 

the 11 Apri l  and that  is around two months a l i t t le under two 

months af ter the Transnet board has decided to reinstate Mr 

Gama.  And one of  the things that  minute records is that  

management is requested to prepare a presentat ion to that  
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Corporate Governance Commit tee about how the system of  

condonat ion works in Transnet  two months af ter th is decision 

was supposedly taken.  

 So i t  is very di ff icul t  to bel ieve that  the board was 

properly informed and understood and knew about how 

condonat ion may or may not  have impacted on Mr Gama’s 

case – I  – back in  February.   I t  real ly makes the same point .   

There is no evidence that  any such knowledge or report  had 

been presented to the board and on the contrary i t  appears 

that  two months later the Corporate Governance Commit tee 10 

are saying can somebody educate us on this topic? 

CHAIRPERSON:   So af ter – af ter the fact .  

MR TODD:   Two months later.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja they are asking to be told how 

condonat ion is used – how i t  works.  

MR TODD:   What i t  is,  where i t  or ig inates,  where matters get  

approved and regular ised.   Very basic quest ions.  Those are 

the quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  in Annexure F? 

MR TODD:   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Can we just  go there? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Page 479 Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Page 179.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   479.  

CHAIRPERSON:   479.   Yes.   Oh no I  am sorry.   I  am now 
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looking at  the red numbers instead of  black numbers.   479.   

Are you able to guide me as to where in part icular?  Is i t  on 

page – oh is that  479 is just  where the… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   479 is where the minute starts.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Minute starts ja.  

MR TODD:   I f  I  may assist  Chai rperson there is what is 

confusing about these minutes is that  I  have referred in my 

aff idavi t  to paragraph 5.2.3.4.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR TODD:   They have got  two such paragraphs on di fferent  10 

pages of  the minute.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   But  i t  is the second one of  those.   I t  is at  page 

482.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

MR TODD:   There is a paragraph 5.2.3.4 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Oh.  

MR TODD:    

“The commit tee request  management to  

make a presentat ion covering amongst  other 20 

things the fol lowing issues:    

What is a condonat ion process?   

Where does i t  or ig inate f rom?   

Where does i t  get  approved and 

regular ised?” 
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CHAIRPERSON:   I  mean the – this commit tee – the members 

of  th is commit tee would have been – are also members – 

were also members of  the board? 

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  on Mr Mkwanazi ’s evidence in his  

aff idavi t  would have decided on the basis of  the condonat ion 

process to re instate Mr Gama and the point  you were making 

is how could they have been inf luenced by the issue of  

condonat ion in February to reinstate Mr Gama i f  in Apr i l  they 

are asking management to te l l  them what is a condonat ion 10 

process?  Where does i t  or ig inate f rom?  Where does i t  get  

approved and regular ised? 

MR TODD:   But  i t  is the – there is no doubt that  th is  was an 

important  topic for  the board the Risk Commit tee or the 

Corporate Governance Commit tee get  on top of .   But  there is 

no way that  i t  was the issue that  mot ivated them to – or  

could not  have provided a rat ional  basis for them to act  in 

February.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  Because those quest ions are 

quest ions they would have been expected to ask before they 20 

used condonat ion to br ing back Mr Gama i f  indeed they did 

use condonat ion.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  you – part  of  the point  you make is  

they could not  have used condonat ion given what we see? 
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MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.    

MR TODD:    And in fact  there is no document indicat ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And there is no document indict ing that  

they rel ied on condonat ion.   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Todd I  want to take you to the 

var ious opinions that  there are and statements how the 

company and i ts at torneys on prospects of  success in th is  

matter.   Could you please go to Bundle 2 that  is  the thinner  

bundle.   And could I  ask you to start  by going to page 13 – 10 

13.   Now this is the memorandum prepared by Mr Mapoma 

and then set t led or f inal ised by Deneys Rei tz on the 15 

September – oh sorry the 15 February 2011.   You wi l l  know 

that  the board meet ing was the next  day.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could I  take you please to  page 15 and 

ask you to direct  your at tent ion to paragraphs 10 and 11 and 

to comment on them? 

MR TODD:   Is th is  page – the paginated page 17? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  beg your pardon 17 yes.  20 

MR TODD:   Yes I  have seen these.   They referred here the 

paragraph refers to the fact  that  in the arbi t rat ion before the 

Bargaining Counci l  Mr Gama has chal lenged the 

appropriateness of  the sanct ion of  d ismissal .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.    
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MR TODD:   Now – yes that  is so.    

“The issue of  sanct ion is a very complex and 

perplex matter to which there is no clear and 

st raight forward answer. ”  

Wel l  that  real ly  is a very strange statement because any 

sanct ion what is  appropr iate depends on the facts.   You 

cannot say that  in pr inciple what is an appropriate sanct ion 

is an incredibly compl icated quest ion.   I t  a l l  depends on the 

facts.    

 This is demonst rated by the celebrated cases of  10 

Seduma and Shopr i te/Checkers cases.   What is being – 

apparent ly being pointed out  here is that  i t  is possible to 

have cases in which two qui te experienced properly careful ly 

th inking people might  reach di fferent  conclusions on the 

quest ion of  what is an appropriate sanct ion.  

 That  is undoubtedly t rue.   No doubt that  is t rue.   That  

does not  i l lustrate that  i t  is  very complex but  i t  does 

i l lust rate that  experienced people applying the ir  minds 

properly might  reach di fferent  conclusions depending on the 

facts.  20 

 I f  there is no doubt there are many cases where al l  

r ight  th inking people would reach the same conclusion.   

Serious sexual  assaul t  in the workplace.   I  do not  th ink 

anybody would say sanct ion is very complex because people 

could think – reach di fferent  conclusions fol lows.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Fraud.  

MR TODD:   Yes.   So once – so the fact  that  i t  is possible 

that  there are hard cases where r ight  th inking people might  

reach di fferent  conclusions is sel f -evident  and yes i t  has 

been conf i rmed.   

I t  was not  the pr inciple establ ished in these cases 

but  these cases i l lust rated they were about the standard of 

rev iew you should apply when a rev iewing court  does not  

agree wi th the assessment of  an arbi t rator on the 

appropriateness of  sanct ion.    10 

But  – yes so i f  you want me then to comment – so 

actual ly that  paragraph says nothing real ly intel l ig ib le or 

useful  to anybody who is want ing to  know but  what about  the 

appropriateness of  a sanct ion in Mr Gama’s case?  I t  does 

not  real ly te l l  us anything about that .  

 But  i t  seems to lead to a conclusion which is  an 

extraord inary conclusion in paragraph 11 because paragraph 

11 starts:  

“ I t  is accord ingly our view” 

So i t  cannot st i l l  – i t  appears to – that  the authors of 20 

this paragraph are saying because di fferent  people could 

reach di fferent  conclusions i t  fo l lows in our view that  there is 

a probabi l i ty that  the Bargaining Counci l  or a court  

consider ing the appropriateness of  the sanct ion of  d ismissal  

of  Mr Gama may reach the conclusion that  d ismissal  was not  
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appropriate having regard to the chal lenge on sanct ion 

advanced by him.  

 Now that  is legal ly Chai rperson i f  you wi l l  indulge me.  

You said I  have been very careful  wi th my choice of  words.   

I t  is nonsense.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   I t  does not  make any sense.   I t  f i rst  of  a l l  does 

not  fo l low f rom paragraph 10 which is merely a general  sort  

of  statement that  i t  is theoret ical ly possible.   And no person 

could express a v iew on the probabi l i t ies in Mr Gama’s case 10 

wi thout  reference to the facts of  Mr Gama’s case and why i t  

is that  there may be a possibi l i ty or a probabi l i ty that  a  

di fferent  decision maker might  reach a di fferent  conclusion 

f rom the one reached by Mr Antrobus – Advocate Ant robus.  

 So – and then there is also problems with the 

language to say there is a probabi l i ty that  someone may 

reach a decision is also not  the way a lawyer could ever ta lk 

about  assessing probabi l i t ies.    

 Because I  do not  know i f  that  means – that  certainly  

does not  mean i t  is probable.   Because probably may just  20 

means may.   Or – so there is – i t  seems to be something 

simi lar to a possib i l i ty.  

 When I  read i t  Chai rperson I  have to say i t  leads to  a 

very uncomfortable conclus ion that  th is  is de l iberate 

obfuscat ion.   I t  may be accidental  but  i t  is using a word l ike 
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probabi l i ty completely out  of  p lace wi thout  an assessment of  

the facts of  the case or  why that  conclusion would be 

reached.  Because probabi l i ty include [00:14:57]  minds 

suggests that  that  is a l ikely outcome.  

 Then qual i f ied by the word may which means i t  is not  

real ly probable at  al l .   I t  is just  a possibi l i ty and effect ively 

what these two paragraphs say is there is a theoret ical  

possibi l i ty that  one decision – a decision maker could reach 

a di fferent  conclusion [00:15:10]  says nothing more than 

that .  10 

 Whether that  is a  useful  th ing to te l l  a board or not  I  

do not  know.  I  would not  pay anybody a fee – professional  

fee to te l l  me there is a possib i l i ty that  something may 

happen.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  also there is nothing stated as to why 

the probabi l i t ies are as stated in that  paragraph -  in other 

what is the basis for that  unless – for that  conclusion – for 

that  v iew unless the idea is that  the basis for  that  v iew is 

what is said in paragraph 10.  

MR TODD:   Yes.   I t  surely does not  say on any assessment  20 

of  Mr Gama’s case there is any unfai rness.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   Or let  me even say there is a r isk.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   Of  such and such being found to be unfai r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   I t  merely says i t  creates this – i t  is obfuscatory – 

i t  is – th is is compl icated therefore you are probably going to 

lose – you probably may lose your case.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR TODD:   I  do not  know i f  you can put  i t  any higher than 

that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR TODD:   But  anyway I  do not  know i f  that  – what I  – the 

reason why I  said I  – i t  worr ies me is that  i t  is del iberate.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   The way this is worded is the – I  probably am 

thinking of  the request  that  I  have seen f rom a f i le note f rom 

these at torneys meet ing wi th Mr Mkwanazi  when Mr 

Mkwanazi  said he would need something indicat ing some 

unfai rness.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Unfairness.  

MR TODD:   Which could lead him to persuade the board.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   But  i f  th is is the paper that  went to the board 20 

whether or not  they considered our paper.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR TODD:   This would be an ext raordinar i ly – i t  would be an 

extraord inary basis on which to  reach a conclusion to 

re instate Mr Gama.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR TODD:   I  do not  know i f  I  can put  i t  any di fferent ly f rom 

that .   But  I  do not  know i f  anybody – in fact  interest ingly and 

maybe you wi l l  show me Mr Myburgh i f  there are any board 

members that  say this is what inf luenced them I  do not  know.  

Because they seem to say other th ings.   They say 

condonat ion inf luenced them, they say other  th ings 

inf luenced them nobody says this is  what inf luenced them. 

MR TODD:   Wel l  Mr Mkwanazi  –  I  do not  remember him 

saying that  th is is  what inf luenced him. What he does say in  10 

his aff idavi t  i f  I  remember correct ly is that  KPMG and Nkonki  

I  th ink who were asked to invest igate something about I  th ink 

the condonat ion issue or consistence in t reatment  he says 

they gave an inter im report  and i t  was on the basis of  that  

report  that  the board del iberated.   He says they gave thei r  

f inal  report  much later  in  the year  but  that  inter im report  I  

th ink he says in his aff idavi t  he has not  found and I  have 

been t ry ing to see i f  we have got  i t .   I  do not  th ink we have 

got  i t  and I  th ink at tempts have been made i f  I  am not  

mistaken to f ind i t  and i t  seems di ff icul t  to f ind.   Mr Myburgh.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes we made a request  for informat ion 

on KPMG and we then subsequent ly  issued a summons.  We 

have not  yet  received an answer.   I t  is something that  I  

asked the invest igators to chase up today because we would 

ideal ly l ike that  informat ion before Mr Mkwanazi  gives 
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evidence.   But… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  Chai rperson your recol lect ion is 

ent i re ly correct .   He talks about  a f i rst  and a f ina l  KPMG 

report .   He said considerat ion was given to this f i rst  stab at  

the report  and also to a legal  opinion.   He refers to that  but  

we do not  know what legal  opinion he is ta lk ing of .   He wi l l  

have to te l l  us tomorrow.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes.   I  saw that  also.   But  also I  k ind 

of  – found i t  st range that  there had been according to  I  th ink 10 

a let ter or memorandum from Deneys Rei tz/Norton Rose and 

I  th ink f rom what  Mr Todd said there had been about three 

opinions f rom law f i rms Bowmans, Webber Wentzel .   I  have 

not  seen Webber Wentzel ’s opinion – I  do not  th ink I  have 

seen i t .   I  do not  know i f  we have got  i t  here? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  i t  has been ment ioned and – and 

Deneys Rei tz opin ion about the fai rness of  the dismissal  and 

that  they al l  came to the conclusion that  the – Mr Gama’s 

dismissal  was fai r.   So i t  does seem st range to me that  you – 20 

i f  you want to – i f  you st i l l  want  an opinion you are going to 

leave law f i rm – leave lawyers and go to KPMG for a legal  

opinion on th is issue.  

 Of course KPMG might  have lawyers or would have 

some lawyers wi thin but  I  thought  that  you would st ick to  
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pract ic ing law f i rm – lawyers for such an opinion.  

MR TODD:   I f  I  may just  say Chairperson that  whatever – I  

mean I  understand one might  ask Mr Mkwanazi  for that  

report  but  i f  the internal  lawyer advising Mr Mkwanazi  was 

Mr Mapoma and the day before the board meet ing Mr 

Mapoma prepared a two page document which makes no 

reference to any prel iminary f indings or any work or any 

consistency issue raised by Nkonki ,  KPMG or anybody else.   

So Mr Mapoma who is the closest  internal  legal  advisor to  

th is and on the 22 February which is the date that  Mr 10 

Mkwanazi  s igned the agreement and he is furnished with an 

opinion or a report  by Deneys Rei tz which – which is – I  

have also been shown dated the 22 February that  document  

– so the lawyers advising Mr Mkwanazi  also makes no 

reference to any prel iminary work,  f indings,  submissions,  

representat ions on any other matters that  would affect  the 

consistency or fa i rness of  Mr Gama’s case.   In fact  they say 

on the 22 February we have advised that  the dismissal  was 

fai r.    So i t  is very hard to bel ieve that  Mr Mkwanaz i  is not  

misremembering when he got  reports f rom in – on – in the 20 

basis of  any subsequent invest igat ions of  execut ives.   I  do 

not  bel ieve i t  possible that  – that  i t  was put  – that  was put  in  

f ront  of  the board.   Because the people most  closely 

advising on the 15 … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Do not  ta lk about  such a report .  



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 184 of 224 
 

MR TODD:   15t h and the 22 February.   So on ei ther  side of  

the board meet ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR TODD:   The internal  and external  legal  advisors advising 

on set t lement make absolutely no reference to any such 

thing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Todd in fact  I  wanted to take you 

then to the Deneys Rei tz report  of  the 22 February that  being 

at  page 18 of  Bundle 2.  10 

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Could I  d i rect  your at tent ion please to 

paragraph 1.1 over the page at  page 20.   

“There are var ious opinions which have been 

obtained f rom reputable f i rms of  at torneys 

wi th regard to the prospects of  success of  Mr 

Gama in successful ly chal lenging his  

dismissal  by the company.   Al l  the opinion 

including ours which we gave af ter  perusing 

documents perta ining to the discipl inary 20 

inquiry were of  the view that  Mr Gama’s 

chances of  success be chal lenging his  

dismissal  are not  good. ”  

As you say ei ther the same day or the day before Mr 

Mkwanazi  s igned the set t lement agreement.  
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MR TODD:   I t  is  very hard to bel ieve that  there was any 

other advice being given to Transnet  at  th is point  in t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then i f  I  could direct  your at tent ion 

to page 21 under the heading Sanct ioned.   You wi l l  see that  

that  is a reproduct ion of  paragraph 10 of  the note of  the 15 

February.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And that  the advice then ends wi th 

reproduct ion of  what was paragraph 10 of  – or sorry 11 of  

the note of  15 February.  I t  is the same wording.  10 

MR TODD:   Yes unfortunately I  regret  to  say that  there is  

that  wording on the at torneys report  saying  

“ I t  is accord ingly our view that  there is a  

probabi l i ty that  the Bargaining Counci l  or a  

court  consider ing the appropriateness of  the 

sanct ion or dismissal  may reach the 

conclusion the dismissal  was not  

appropriate. ”  

I t  is i r reconci lab le as far  as I  am concerned with the 

proposi t ion that  Mr Gama’s prospects are not  good unless i t  20 

means there is a remote possibi l i ty.   But  that  I  do not  

understand … 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  i t  cannot be saying there is a remote? 

MR TODD:   But  I  – i t  is also quest ionable what the purpose 

is?  I  mean i t  says i t  is a report  but  – and what purpose i t  is 
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serv ing is set t ing out  – I  am not  sure Mr Mkwanazi  can 

explain whether i t  was considered useful  af ter the board had 

reached a decision to set t le that  there must  be a report  of  

th is kind I  do not  know.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  a lso –  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then I  would l ike… 

CHAIRPERSON:   A lso that  paragraph now i t  seems that  what  

i t  is saying is that  the view expressed there is based on the 

chal lenge on sanct ion advanced by Mr Gama.  So one goes 

back to saying what is the – what was Mr Gama’s chal lenge 10 

on sanct ion that  they are ta lk ing about?    

 Now of  course in terms of  the statement that  went to  

the Bargaining Counci l  we can look at  that  and see what that  

chal lenge was and i f  there was something else that  we know 

nothing about maybe the wri t ten submissions that  you – or 

heads of  argument that  you ment ioned Mr Todd maybe that  is  

what they are talk ing about – I  do not  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then Mr Todd I  just  wanted to take 

you to both Deneys Rei tz ’ and Mr Mkwanazi ’s response to 

the Publ ic Protector.   Just  to place that  in context  whi lst  –  20 

why they may be of  some importance is because they were 

wri t ten later in the day.   Some months later no doubt  upon a 

ful ler ref lect ion of  the facts.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Let  me take you please to page 41.   
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This is Deneys Rei tz to the Publ ic Protector on 6 Apri l .   

Could I  ask you p lease to turn to page 44 and to paragraph 

10.    

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   There i t  is  recorded to the Publ ic 

Protector.  

“ In addi t ion to the f indings made by Ant robus 

SC at  the d iscipl inary inquiry  and the 

grounds on which Mr Gama has referred the 

matter for arbi t rat ion there are legal  opinions 10 

that  have been furnished by two reputable 

f i rms of  at torneys relat ing to the procedura l  

and substant ive fai rness of  Mr Gama’s 

dismissal .   These f i rms are Webber Wentzel  

and Deneys Rei tz Incorporated.  Al l  these 

opinions conf i rm that  Mr Gama’s dismissal  

was substant ively  and procedura l ly fa i r. ”  

You conf i rm that? 

MR TODD:   Yes I  mean I  note they do not  refer to our advice 

to the company but  – which was to the same event  they 20 

could add us to the l ist  of  law f i rms that  are advis ing th is.   

But  i t  is to the same thing – same extent .  Substant ively and 

procedural ly fa i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then at  paragraph 12 they say wel l  

in any event  the d ismissal  dispute referred to the Bargaining 



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 188 of 224 
 

Counci l  has been set t led amicably.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And that  the terms of  the set t lement 

are conf ident ia l .   So let  us go then to … 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry Mr Myburgh d id you – you say 

something about whether we have obtained Webber Wentzel  

opinion? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes I  do have the opinion Chair  but  the 

point  I  wanted to  make is th is.   Webber Wentzel  were one of  

the at torneys that  were instructed at  the t ime that  the KPMG 10 

report  was prepared and they were inst ructed to advice on 

the procedural  issues that  had been ra ised by Mr Gama.  I t  

does not  relate to substance.   I  have the opinion i t  is very 

lengthy.   I  am not  sure that  i t  adds much to th is  matter 

because i t  does not  deal  wi th substance.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  i t  is in the bundles? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  is not  in the bundle I  can… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  is not  in the bundles.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  can… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No,  no that  would be… 20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Provide i t  to you tomorrow i f… 

CHAIRPERSON:   That   -  that  is f ine.   I  just  wanted to make 

sure whether that  we have got  i t .   Maybe – maybe i t  might  be 

appropriate to just  put  up the relevant  page.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Certainly.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Or pages to say this is the conclusion they 

reached.  This is  what they were looking at  namely 

procedural  fa i rness and this  is the conclusion they reached 

even i f  we do not  put  up the whole opinions.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We wi l l  do that .   The other th ing – 

another reason why i t  was not  put  up here is that  in the 

KPMG report  i tsel f  i t  actual ly refers to the Webber Wentzel  

opinion and i t  sets out  the advice.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  is how..  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh you have got  i t  somewhere? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes i t  is.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay no i f  we have got  i t  somewhere that 

is f ine.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight .  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is  f ine.   Of  course – of  course part  of 

the reason why maybe i t  might  be said that  we might  not  

need to take much t rouble to get  the whole opinion is  that  at  

the arbi t rat ion Mr Gama was not  re ly ing on procedural  

unfai rness anymore.   He was re lying on whether the sanct ion 20 

was – was appropriate.   As I  understand the posi t ion.   In the 

– in the statement that  he f i led at  the arbi t rat ion – at  the 

Bargaining Counci l  he sought to  chal lenge the substant ive 

and procedural  unfairness.   But  based on the let ter  that  h is 

at torneys sent  to Mr Todd in October 2010 i t  seems that  he 
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nai led h is colours on the past  and said i t  is just  a sanct ion 

that  I  am chal lenging.   Is my understanding correct? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  th ink I  have a d i fferent  recol lect ion 

perhaps Mr Todd can assist  us.   But  I  have always 

understood that  he had two – this is what Mr Todd I  th ink has 

in his aff idavi t .   That  he had two procedural  chal lenges.   

They were not  of  the ordinary sort  that  we might  be used to.   

The one is he contended that  there should have been a pre-

dismissal  arb i t rat ion and not  a discipl inary hearing.   And 

then there was also some reference to him being concerned 10 

about the appointment  of  Mr Ant robus.   But  Chairperson I  

wi l l  put  up the opinion I  have i t .   No problem. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   Mr Todd what  is your 

understanding of… 

MR TODD:   Yes he was raising those two.  I  d id deal  wi th 

them Chai rperson.   He did pers ist  wi th the two.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh that  is r ight… 

MR TODD:   Procedural  points.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Right  up to when your f i rm withdrew? 

MR TODD:   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay al r ight .  

MR TODD:   When the matter was – up to when the matter  

was set t led.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay then in  that  event  maybe i t  is  

important  that  – at  least  i t… 
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  w i l l  do so.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The conclusion of  that  opinion should be 

somewhere.   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then Mr Todd something that  is a – I  

d id not  deal  wi th  yesterday wi th Mr Mapona but  i t  seems an 

important  document.   I f  you go to page 48.   This is  now Mr 

Mkwanazi ’s response to the Publ ic Protector.   I f  you have a 

look at  page 55 i t  is dated the 30 June 2011 – sorry 55.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry what page? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  is at  page 48.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   48.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh we – we are at  a few minutes 

past  four.   We must ta lk about  how much more t ime we need 

just  so that  we might  take a break i f  we st i l l  need some t ime.  

But  i f  we are about to f in ish in a few minutes then obviously 

we might  not  wish to take a break.   So what is your 

indicat ion? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Chairperson I  th ink we would probably 

need not  more than another hour.    20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  do intend to take Mr Todd.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   To the ind ividual  aff idavi ts  of  the 

di rectors.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And to ask him to comment on them.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   No,  no that  is  f ine.  Then maybe we 

should take a short  break now and then return and cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   We wi l l  take a short  break and resume at  

quarter past  four.   We adjourn.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe I  must  ment ion this  for the benef i t  

of  Mr Todd and you,  Mr Myburgh.   I  th ink I  have come across 

minutes -  I  do not  know i f  they are here -  of  the Board of  

Transnet where there was reference or reference to 

condonat ion in discussing the mat ter  of  Mr Gama and h is 

possible reinstatement.    

 A l though the discussion was not  detai led,  I  th ink,  but  I  

th ink I  have come across those.   So to  the extent  that  Mr 

Todd was saying and I  may,  at  some stage,  seemed to have 

thought maybe that  is t rue i t  is unl ikely that  the board may 20 

have rel ied on condonat ion to reinstate him.   

 I  th ink there is some reference somewhere,  even though 

i t  might  not  be detai led.   But  I  th ink also,  i t  may be that  in 

the aff idavi ts of  var ious board members that  they maybe be 

saying they rel ied on that  as wel l .    
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 So I  thought I  would ment ion that  for  what i t  is worth.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you Mr Chai rman.  You are 

qui te correct .   In fact ,  i t  is ment ioned in the board minute of  

the 16t h of  February.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   Okay al r ight .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Todd, I . . .  the last  document that  I  

want  to take you to before moving to the aff idavi t  of  the 

di rectors,  is Mr Mkwanazi ’s response to the Publ ic Protector.   

That  you wi l l  f ind at  page 48 of  Bundle 2.    

 You wi l l  see at  page 55,  that  he signs this on the 10 

30t h  of  June 2011.  So i t  is a long t ime af ter  the 

re instatement of  Mr Gama.   

 I  just  want to di rect  your at tent ion please to two 

paragraphs.   At  page 55 under the heading Substant ive and 

Procedural  Fai rness.    

 I f  I  can ask you to drop down to number 2.   There i t  is 

recorded that :  

“However,  there are matters which the audi tors 

discovered where certain employees of  the company 

may have been gui l ty of  offences simi lar to the 20 

offence wi th which Mr Gama was charged with and 

yet ,  no discipl inary act ion was taken against  them.  

In such instances,  there is an argument that  

Transnet may have acted inconsistent ly. ”  

 You can now drop down to 4 at  the foot  of  the page.  
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“ I t  would therefore appear that  to the extent  that  no 

discipl inary act ion was taken in these matters.   Mr 

Gama may have been able to sustain the argument  

on inconsistent  t reatment.    

Such inconsistency may have had the bearing,  not  

only on the decision to charge Mr Gama but  also on 

the sanct ion of  dismissal . ”  

 May I  ask you for  your view on this?  Is th is a rat ional  

basis upon which to set t le a case that  fact  that  where this 

may have had an impact?  There may be an argument  of  10 

inconsistency.  

MR TODD :    Wel l ,  Chai rperson i t  looks as though 

Mr Mkwanazi  is expressing what is in June.   Just  a very 

prel iminary sense of  these matters.   Because he says there 

is a pre l iminary,  an inter im report  now in June.   And i t  is 

possible,  no doubt he says he is at taching i t .    

 And but . . .  but  there is also no indicat ion that  I  can 

comment on whether  actual ly you are deal ing wi th l ike-for-

l ike.    

 In other words,  are you comparing simi lar conduct  of  20 

which employees’ conduct  is being compared in respect  of  

what.    

 So i t  is very di ff icul t  to comment on whether what has 

been ident i f ied.   Is that  there are two examples of  matters 

where there was ser ious execut ive misconduct .    
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 I f  so,  what was i t  and so on.   But  I  have to  say,  the 

rat ional  response.   I f  a board. . .   

 I f  further invest igat ion del ivers to the board evidence of  

conduct  of  the kind commit ted by Mr Gama, the logical  th ing 

for  the board to  do,  i f  i t  is act ing in the interest  of  the 

company,  is to deal  wi th that  misconduct  of  these other  

individuals who are brought to the board.    

 I t  would be absolutely ext raordinary i f  you said:   We 

have now uncovered examples of  ser ious misconduct  and we 

have decided,  instead of  deal ing wi th them for what they are 10 

and show Ms Gama’s dismissal  as an example of  how you 

t reat  people who commits ser ious misconduct .    

 Let  us f ind them and say:   Wel l ,  anyway.   We do not  deal  

wi th you because the new standard we have set  is  that  we 

do not  dismiss for  th ings l ike this.    

 So i t  real ly. . .  I  mean, I  am not  sure what to make of  i t .   I t  

looks prel iminary inter im.  But  i t  cer tainly is not . . .  i t  does not  

produce a basis to,  as i t  were,  cal led out  by i ts bootstraps 

the decision to reinstate Mr Gama.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  Mr Todd, my quest ion. . .  I  am 20 

dr iv ing in a di fferent  place.   I t  is pre l iminary.   You are r ight .   

I t  is l i t tered wi th  may.   But  th is was four months af ter the 

man had been reinstated.   That  is what I  am looking for you 

to comment on.  

MR TODD :    Yes,  wel l  four months later,  there is st i l l  no. . .  
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nothing that  persuades mister . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    . . .Mr Mkwanazi  that  there was actual ly any 

inconsistency.   So by doom, he st i l l  th inks there might  

possible have been inconsistency but  he is not  sure   

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR TODD :    That  also would rather. . .  be rather  fata l  to the 

content ion that  th is was the reason why the board reached 

the decision.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   I f  I  can then take you to the 10 

last  part  of  your evidence and I  am thankful  that  you are able 

to stay wi th us unt i l  we complete i t .   Could I  ask you please 

to turn to Bundle 1?  That  is the bundle containing a 

col lect ion of  aff idavi ts.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l . . .  I  am sorry,  Mr Myburgh.   Do not  

forget  where you were. . .  wanted us to go.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  just  see at  the end of  that  let ter  by Mr 

Mkwanazi  to the Publ ic Protector at  page 55 under 

condonat ion,  I  see what I  referred to ear l ier where he says:  20 

“ Insofar as the issue of  condonat ion is concerned,  

we advise that  Transnet  has a pol icy for  condonat ion 

avai lab le to al l  employees on appl icat ion by the  

employee concerned.”  

 That  part  of . . .  even in h is own let ter,  he says i t  is  
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avai lab le i f  an employee appl ies for i t .   And I  do not  

remember him point ing out  in th is  case where the proof  is 

where Mr Gama had appl ied for condonat ion.  

MR TODD :    To my knowledge, he have not .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR TODD :    And for  reasons I  have said,  he could not  have 

that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sorry.   Chairperson,  what page were 

you referr ing to? 10 

CHAIRPERSON :    [microphone not  switched on]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  towards the end? 

CHAIRPERSON :    [microphone not  switched on]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  I  have got .   Thank you.   So,  Mr 

Todd can I  take you to Bundle 1? 

MR TODD :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And I  would l ike to deal  f i rst  wi th the 

aff idavi t  of  Ms Nolwazi  Gcaba.  which you wi l l  f ind at  page 

199.   And I  am going to take you to a few highl ighted 

passages.    20 

 I f  you turn please to paragraph 41 at  page 220.   Now 

before that ,  she deals wi th the pr inciple of  consistency and 

at  41 she says:  

“ I  ment ion these pr incip les because they are di rect ly  

re levant  to what informed the decision to reinstate 
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Mr Gama pursuant to the set t lement  agreement.  

Indeed, the chai rperson furnished the board wi th a 

l ist  of  30 simi lar  t ransgressions at  the t ime that  I  

decided to support  the decision.  

Al though the KPMG and Conte(?) report  was not  

before us at  the t ime, the decision was made 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.   I  am sorry,  Mr Myburgh.   Did 

you say 222 page? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    220.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    220? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   paragraph 41? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So there,  she says:  

“The chai rperson furnished us wi th a l ist  of  30 

simi lar t ransgressions. . . ”  

 And she said:  

“Al though the KPMG and Conte report  was not  20 

before us,  i t  is i l luminat ing. . . ”  

 And she goes on to deal  wi th i t .   And then in re lat ion to  

th is l ist  of  30.   I f  I  could ask you please to go to paragraph 

44 over the page.   

“The issue of  Mr Gama’s reinstatement was f i rst  
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ra ised wi th the board to the best  of  my recol lect ion 

at  a board meet ing on the 25th of  January. ”  

 And she says that :  

“Mr Mkwanazi  indicated. . . ”  

 And then i f  you drop down to the foot  of  the page, she 

says:  

“ In response,  the chairperson stated that  he was 

occupied wi th 30 cases wi th simi lar al legat ions as 

those level led against  Mr Gama by Transnet  and he 

furnished the board wi th the l ist . ”  10 

 Then she says at  48 over the page:  

“The board met again on 16 February. . . ”  

 And i f  you go over the page to 224 at  paragraph 48.2,  

she says:  

“The chai rperson,  furthermore,  informed the board 

that  there was a l ist  of  cont ravent ions that  were 

comparable to the case of  Mr Gama.”  

 And then at  sub-three:  

“The board resolved that  i t  supported the act ing GC 

in i ts endeavours to set t le wi th Mr Gama.”  20 

 So I  wanted you to comment on this version that  the 

chairperson informed the board that  there was a l ist  of  

contravent ions that  were comparable to the case of  Mr 

Gama.  

MR TODD :    Ja.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    And that  i t  was then on that  basis that  

a decis ion was made.  

MR TODD :    Yes,  i t  is qui te extraordinary.   I t  refers to a l ist .   

I  am assuming that  i f  the board was informed that  there is a  

l ist .   I  am not  seeing a l ist .   I  am not  sure whether. . .   

 On what basis Mr  Mkwanazi  reached the conclusion that  

the l ist  re lated to cases simi lar to Mr Gama’s or what he 

thought would happen.   

 But  I  am af raid i t  leads to a rather important  quest ion 

that  the chai rperson of  the discipl inary inquiry said which is:   10 

What is the informat ion?  What are the facts?  Can you 

please show me what i t  is  show that  so and so is  said to 

have done?  And what do you going to. . .?   

 So that  you can make an appropriate decision what to  do 

i t  about  i t .   I  mean, i t  is very. . .  I  see that  that  is what  is said 

here.    

 I t  looks as though these are things that  might  have been 

tabled at  the board.   They are not  referred to in the board 

paper that  was prepared by Mr Mapoma or Denys Rei tz.    

 But  perhaps i t  is informat ion that  Mr Mkwanazi  was 20 

chair ing as in tabl ing at  the board or te l l ing them oral ly.   I t  is 

possible.   I  do not  know.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  also,  what is  st range.   Even assuming 

that  there were such cases.   What  is st range is,  i t  is not  Mr 

Gama or his at torneys approaching the board and saying:   
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Here are the cases I  am relying on the inconsistency which 

make my dismissal  unfai r.    

 I t  looks l ike the board is go ing out  of  i ts way to go and 

t ry and dig up as many old cases as possible and say:   Are 

they the same as Mr Gama’s?  Oh, yes,  they are the same.   

And therefore,  we must  set t le.    

 But  one does not  see any document f rom Mr Gama 

whose at torneys are saying:   Here is our case on 

inconsistent  discipl ine or t reatment .    

 But  also,  another problem.  The board does this in  10 

ci rcumstances where Mr Game being represented by 

at torneys and senior counsel  before a discipl inary inquiry,  

chaired by an independent chai rperson has had the ful l  

opportuni ty  to present  his case on inconsistency before the 

chairperson of  that  discipl inary inqui ry.    

MR TODD :    Yes,  Mr Chairperson.   And that  is  my 

assessment ei ther  of  how th is might  impact .   In fact ,  what i t  

seems to be the case is,  that  th is board member said:   Oh, I  

accept  th is as indicat ing unfai rness.   Therefore,  I  bel ieve the 

appropriate thing is to reinstate Mr Gama.   20 

 And I  am not  sure i f  thei r  reasoning was that  s imple.   

But  i t  looks that  s imple which to my mind would represent  a 

rather sorry state of  di l igence regarding the potent ia l  r isks 

associated wi th the reinstatement of  Mr Gama.   

CHAIRPERSON :    And i t  a lso seems that ,  i f  th is was the 
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approach there,  i t  seems there was no at tempt to say:   I f  we 

do set t le,  what are the opt ions?  Compensat ion,  

re instatement,  prospect ive reinstatement,  retrospect  i f . . .  

part ia l  retrospect ive reinstatement,  fu l l  ret rospect ive 

re instatement.    

 There seems to have been, i f  we re instate,  we just  

re instate wi th fu l l  ret rospect iv i ty.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then Mr Todd, at  page 225,  

paragraph 49,  the thi rd sentence,  the director says:  

“ I  acknowledge that  the Commission takes issue 10 

wi th th is decision in the request  but  I  can conf i rm 

that  I  d id so in the fol lowing ci rcumstances.   One,  

having considered Mr Todd’s wri t ten advise which 

was before the board.   And two, in the l ight  of  a l l  the 

informat ion avai lable to the board at  the t ime, which 

as I  have sa id,  went beyond Mr Gama’s case in  

isolat ion. ”  

 You wish to comment on that? 

MR TODD :    Wel l ,  i t  appears that  she is saying that  they. . .  

the board do in fact  have before i t  my wri t ten repor t  of  the 20 

process.   And I  do not  know what else they had in f ront  of  

them but  they say al l  the informat ion avai lable to the board.   

I f  they had our wri t ten advice and the l ist  of  30 people who 

the chai rman said were simi lar cases.   I  do not  know.   I  am 

not  sure what they had in f ront  of  them.   
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    From what you have read here,  was 

this department even in possession of  th is l ist?  

MR TODD :    I t  does not  say so.   I t  does not  say so here.   

She says e lsewhere at  48.2 for example on page 224: 

“The chairman fur ther informed the board that  there 

was a l ist  of  cont ravent ion that  were comparable to  

the case of  Mr Gama.”  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    So i t  appears to be that  the chairman was 

speaking,  not  even lay ing documents on the table but  10 

referr ing to informat ion that  he has at  his disposal .   Perhaps 

that  is what was used to persuade the board and that  is how 

the board was persuaded that  th is was a good idea.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   And then let  me take you to 

the next  aff idavi t .   I t  is the aff idavi t  of  Doris Tshepe.  Now 

the aff idavi t  of  the di rector you are deal ing wi th now and 

Tshepe’s aff idavi t  are very simi lar  having. . .  they are both 

represented by the same f i rm of  at torneys.  

MR TODD :    Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And her aff idavi t  starts,  and this is  20 

Tshepe, at  763.   I f  you perhaps just  deal  wi th one or two 

parts that  are di f ferent .   Could I  ask you please to go to  

page 783?   

MR TODD :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    At  paragraph 36,  you wi l l  see four  
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l ines down, there is the date referenced to the board on 

16 February.   She says:  

“The informat ion that  was considered at  the 

meet ing,  just i f ied my support  of  the set t lement as I  

explain in more detai l  below.  In summary,  I  

considered Mr Todd’s memo and noted that  i t  d id not  

address the issue of  inconsistency of  discipl ine and 

the facts ra ised by the chai rperson on this issue.  

I  was sat isf ied that  the issue of  inconsistency of  

discipl ine was weighty enough to just i fy set t lement. ”  10 

 And she also then goes on to explain at  37 and over the 

page at  37.2 that  there was a l ist .  

“The chairperson further conf i rmed that  there was a 

l ist . ”  

 You want to comment on that? 

MR TODD :    Wel l ,  i t  appears to bear out  the fact  that  the 

chairperson was informing board members that  there is  a l ist  

of  matters and that  he had sat isf ied himsel f  that  they were 

al l ,  as i t  were,  on al l  fours wi th Mr Gama’s case.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.    20 

MR TODD :    That  is what i t  appears to te l l  me and i t  appears 

to say that  the board members. . .  th is board member was 

sat isf ied wi th that  explanat ion f rom the chai rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now in  your evidence ear l ier,  I  

purposely did not  ask you to deal  wi th th is paragraph in your 
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opinion or memo as she cal ls i t .   Here she states that  you 

did not  deal  wi th  the issue of  inconsistency of  discipl inary.   

We know that  that  is ground up wi th the issue of  

condonat ion.    

 Could I  ask you p lease to go back to Fi le 3.   You could 

keep that  f i le open where i t  is.   But  go to back to  Fi le 3 and 

turn up page 86.    

MR TODD :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And I  would l ike to di rect  your  

at tent ion please to the second paragraph where you quote 10 

this f inding by Mr Ant robus.    

“ I t  was contended that  the f i rst  and second charges 

are ent i rely  new formulat ion of  Transnet  as i t  has 

never occurred in  the history of  that  company that  a  

CEO or a Senior Execut ive,  for that  matter,  has 

been held to have commit ted misconduct  for  

act iv i t ies and pract ices that  are usual ly  

automat ical ly condoned and accepted by var ious 

mechanisms and commit tees wi th in  Transnet . ”  

 Precisely the issue that  was been deal t  wi th there.    20 

“Apart  f rom the fact  that  there is no evidence to th is  

effect ,  i t  seems to me that  i f  the conduct  in quest ion 

amounts to misconduct  and then i t  is misconduct  

qui te regardless of  what mechanisms and 

commit tees wi thin  Transnet may have to say about 



15 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 284 
 

Page 206 of 224 
 

that .  

I f  th is submission is an at tempt to make out  any 

case of  inconsistency,  then i t  is necessary to say no 

more than have al ready concluded in the previous 

f indings and that  there is no meri t  in the case of  

al legedly inconsistency. ”  

 So what do you say then to  what  Ms Tshepe has to  say 

that  you in your memo do not  address the issue of  

inconsistency? 

MR TODD :    Yes,  I  mean one. . .  she may have not  read i t  very 10 

careful ly.   She may have thought that . . .  i t  sounds as though 

what the chai rperson is saying to board members is:   Yes,  

yes,  yes.   I t  is  al l  wel l  and good.  I  even agree wi th  

everything that  was done.   

 But  there is a whole lot  of  new stuff  that  you guys do not  

even know about and that  i t  is actual ly exact ly the same and 

we must ret ro f i t  that  and assume that  actual ly that  was al l  

appl ied and considered and you do not  need to know al l  the 

detai l .    

 In fact . . .   Wel l ,  I  do not  know.  He wi l l  have to say how 20 

he knew the detai l  of  these 30 cases.   Look,  i t  sounds very 

implausible to me.    

 Doris Tshepe is saying:   Wel l ,  I  read this report  but  I  d id  

not  th ink i t  deal t  wi th those other 30 cases.    Chai rperson,  I  

do not  real ly have much to add but  i t  is not  a sort  of  decision 
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making that  one would hope for  f rom a board in these 

ci rcumstances.    

 But  i f  I  can just  say this.   By June,  when in thei r  let ter  

you have just  referred me to a short  whi le  ago which Mr 

Mkwanazi  wrote to the Publ ic Protector,  there are two 

paragraphs.   And I  am af raid I  do not  have the page in f ront  

of  me   

 One, which deals wi th that  idea that  there a whole lot  of  

cases where there has been discipl inary act ion taken and 

therefore that  is. . .  that  appears al l  to be in order  that  10 

Transnet has acted consistent ly.    

 But  then there are cases where discipl inary act ion has 

not  been taken and that  there has been some pre l iminary 

establ ishment of  th is.    

 And then he refers to two examples,  not  30.   But  by 

June,  maybe the l ist  of  30 had been whi t t led down to two.   I  

am not  sure what the. . .  how.. .  what  to make of  that .    

 But  i t  seems to be extremely implausible that  Mr 

Mkwanazi  could have ident i f ied 30 cases of  s imi lar facts.   

And simi lar facts. . .   20 

 Also what is ext raordinary about that  is,  as he is ta lk ing 

about one thing that  went  wrong with Mr Gama.  There were 

three charges.   We have looked at  them.   

 So what he has to be saying is:   I  have looked at  30 

cases.   Or somebody has.   And . . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    And say how they compare or rela te to Mr 

Gama’s case.  

MR TODD :    Can they show that  they are on al l  fours wi th Mr 

Gama’s case and those 30 cases.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR TODD :    I f  he said that  to me as a board member,  I  would 

say:   Mr Chai r,  I  f ind i t  very hard to  bel ieve th is.   I  am sorry.   

I  do not  mean to disbel ieve that  you think that  but  could you 

please provide us wi th  some granular i ty  to  that  assert ion 

because i t  sounds implausible.    10 

 And in  fact ,  i t  sounds. . .  a l though la ter  i t  was said that  i t  

had subsequent ly  been establ ished that  there were cases 

where act ion should have been taken.    

 I t  does not  look l ike 30 or any remotely simi lar.   So i t  is  

very hard.   I t  real ly does Chai rperson look l ike this an 

at tempt to retro f i t  an explanat ion for a decision which was 

championed by Mr Mkwanazi  on this ground and board 

members accepted i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now in October 2010 and January 24,  

2011,  on a l l  s ides the legal  teams must have been ready.   At  20 

least  24 January,  they were ready to go unt i l  there was a 

request  for a postponement.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now at  that  stage,  on your understanding,  

that  is a  few days before January  24,  when the arbi t rat ion 
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would have started,  had Mr Gama’s at torneys provided your 

team with any 30 cases on any inconsistency that  they are 

going to rely on? 

MR TODD :    In preparing for the case?  I  go by recol lect ion.   

I  do not  bel ieve that  anything had been brought  to our  

at tent ion that  had not ,  on this topic,  that  had not  al ready 

been argued by Mr Gama previously.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    But  in fact ,  what mister. . .  what  the f inding of  the 

discipl inary chai rperson does show is that  reference had 10 

been made by Mr Gama to a l ist  of  45 condonat ions.   There 

is reference to i t  in one of  the f indings.    

 So that  is  one of  the way that  Mr Gama had at tempted to 

present  his case is,  he says:   Look,  here is a l ist  showing 

that  there had been 45 condonat ions granted for i r regular  

expendi ture.    

 To which this chairperson said:   Wel l ,  that  wel l  but  that  

is not  a basis for  me to conclude anything.   These might  be 

minor t ransgressions exact ly wi th in the ambit  of  the pol icy 

which should be condoned.   20 

 Or they might  be something else.   But ,  you know, you 

are going to have to share wi th me a bi t  more about your  

content ions rather  than just  say that  condonat ions have been 

granted across the business.   

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  
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MR TODD :    So whether i t  is that  l ist  that  had been whi t t led 

down to 30 that  Mr Mkwanazi  had,  I  do not  know.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  i t  is qu i te interest ing also because 

even on Deneys Rei tz ’ correspondence this does not  seem to 

be much of  that  one can see in the correspondence about 

th is condonat ion issue and consistency.    

 So mister. . .  in any event ,  Mr Gama and his at torney do 

not  appear to have worked hard to t ry and f ind cases on 

which to rely on.    

 But  the board seems, i f  there were 30 cases,  seemed to 10 

have been the one doing that  job.    

MR TODD :    Yes,  Mr Chai rman i t  is very st range again for 

that  reason.   I f  Mr Mkwanazi  was present ing the board wi th. . .  

i t  does not  sound l ike evidence.   I t  was just  he was tel l ing 

them.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    He d id not  te l l  h is lawyers and he certa inly did 

not  seek their  advice . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    . . .on whether th is was a good . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    . . .argument or not .   Otherwise,  I  would have 

expected to see i t  in a Deneys Rei tz memorandum that  we 

saw.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  
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MR TODD :    Unless,  he is. . .  they do not  refer to i t  and I  do 

not  bel ieve lawyers would have given advice that  th is an 

issue wi thout  understanding what those matters are and on 

what basis i t  is  suggested that  they are actual ly  compat ible  

to Mr Gama’s conduct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  Actual ly,  as we talk.   Mr 

Myburgh,  I  am going back to  Mr Mapoma’s evidence 

yesterday.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  cannot remember but  i t  wi l l  be 10 

interest ing to see what the date was of  the meet ing that  

Mr Mkwanazi  had,  I  th ink,  wi th Deneys Rei tz ’ legal  team and 

Mr Mapoma when he said:   I f  I  can get  a legal  op inion 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . that  says there was some unfai rness.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  was about to ask Mr Todd that .   That  

is on the 22n d of  January 2010.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Chairperson,  where you are qui te  20 

correct .   He actual ly stated that  his intent ion was to  

persuade the board . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .on the 16t h of  February 

. . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    To br ing Mr Gama back.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Because i f  at  that  date he had those 

30 cases,  one would have thought that  he would say:   I  know 

that  there was unfairness because I  found these cases.   But  

i f  he was st i l l  looking for some unfai rness at  that  t ime, i t  is 

interest ing.  

MR TODD :    Sorry,  I  d id not  have the 30 cases by then.   He 

did not  know the issue because otherwise he would have 

explained i t  to Deneys Rei tz.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    And in. . .  then i t  means that  he came across that  

issue somet ime af ter the 22nd of  January but  by which t ime 

he had al ready decided to reinstate Mr Gama and was 

s imp ly  look ing  fo r  a  bas is  to  persuade the  board  and  

somet ime between the  22  January  and the  15  or  16  

February  he  came in to  possess ion  o f  in fo rmat ion  wh ich  he  

be l ieved wou ld  persuade the  board  bu t  he  d id  no t  re fe r  i t  

to  h is  a t to rneys and ask the i r  adv ice  on  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then the  next  a f f idav i t  I  wou ld  l i ke  20 

to  take  you to  i s  the  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Malungan i  a t  page 861.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    861.  

CHAIRPERSON:    861.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now Mr  Malungan i  i s  one o f  the  
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d issenters  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  i t  i s  another  bund le?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  i s  bund le  1 ,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.   And page 861?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The a f f idav i t  s ta r ts  a t  861,  I  wou ld  

l i ke  to  go  to  page  865 p lease.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  you may proceed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  paragraph 16,  d i f fe ren t  to  the  two  

prev ious d i rec tors  tha t  we have dea l t  w i th ,  he  says:  

“ I  cannot  reca l l  the  p rec ise  de ta i l  o f  the  debate  tha t  10 

then ensued but  I  d id  c lear l y  remember  tha t  I  was 

opposed to  the  reso lu t ion  inso far  as  se t t lement  was 

concerned. ”  

17 .  Desp i te  the  l im i ted  in fo rmat ion  i n  and before  the 

board  meet ing ,  the  mot iva t ion  fo r  se t t lement  o f  the  

d ispute  was wh ich  e f fec t i ve ly  wou ld  do  away w i th  

the  lega l  p rocesses and recommendat ions made by 

independent  pa r t ies  and (what  seemed to  me)  the  

one-s ided demands made by  Mr  Gama which  were  

se t  ou t  in  the  dra f t  se t t lement  agreement  s imp ly  d id  20 

no t  seem r igh t  and I ,  togethe r  w i th  o thers ,  who I  

cannot  reca l l  o f fhand,  opposed the  reso lu t ion .   The 

minutes  o f  the  meet ing . . . ”  

Annexure  so  and so .  
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“ . . . cor rec t l y  records  tha t  there  was  a  m inor i t y  no t  in  

suppor t  o f  the  reversa l  o f  Mr  Gama’s  [ ind is t inc t  –  

d ropp ing  vo ice ] ”  

I  do  no t  know i f  you have any comment  on  tha t .   He does 

not  ta lk  about  …[ in tervenes]  

MR TODD:    No,  i t  i s  –  my on ly  comment  i s  I  am su rpr ised  

tha t  th is  v iew was the  m inor i t y  and not  the  major i t y  v iew 

but  I  do  no te  –  and I  mean,  i t  i s  f rom h i s  reco l lec t i on ,  bu t  

he  says a t  parag raph 15.2  on  page 864 tha t  the 

presenta t ion  –  par t  o f  the  presen ta t ion  he  reca l l s  i s  tha t  10 

the  Cha i rman had rece ived lega l  adv ice  tha t  the  sanct ion  

o f  d ismissa l  was too  harsh .   I  mean,  I  do  no t  know i f  he  is  

m isremember ing  or  whether  tha t  was the  sor t  o f  th ing  

wh ich  the  Cha i rman was say ing  in  the  meet ing  bu t  i t  i s  

c lea r ly  un t rue  i f  tha t  i s  what  the  –  i f  the  Cha i rman –  e i ther  

the  Cha i rman d id  no t  ac tua l l y  say  tha t  o r  he  d id  say i t  and 

what  he  sa id  was  patent ly  un t rue .   The adv ice  g iven to  the  

Cha i rman was the  oppos i te .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then the  next  a f f idav i t  and they 

increas ing ly  become shor te r  rea l l y  i s  the  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  20 

S ik isana(?)  a t  page 873.   There  you w i l l  see  a t  876 the  

deponent  a t taches some wa i t  to  the  KPM repor t  a t  

parag raph 6 .5 ,  6 .6 :  

“The ev idence in  KPMG Nkonk i  repor t  shows tha t  in  

respect  o f  the  procurement  i r regu lar i t ies  wh ich  Mr  
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Gama was found  gu i l t y  o f ,  charge 1 ,  he  was not  

g iven oppor tun i ty  to  app ly  fo r  condonat ion .    

And a t  6 .7 :  

“Notw i ths tand ing  the  fac t  tha t  the  conduct  was in  

fac t  i r regu lar  Transnet  had a  h is to ry  o f  condon ing  

such i r regu lar i t ies  and fu r thermore ,  no  d i sc ip l inary  

ac t ion  was taken aga ins t  ind i v idua ls . ”  

Do you have anyth ing  to  say about  tha t?  

MR TODD:    Wel l ,  I  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  you  were  read ing  f rom what  10 

page,  Mr  Myburgh?  

MR TODD:    Page  876,  parag raphs 6 .6  and 6 .7 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.  

MR TODD:    We l l ,  in  h is  own ev idence Mr  Gama h imse l f  

desc r ibed the  GNS cont rac t  as  a  f raudu len t  scam.   So I  

f ind  i t  very  d i f f i cu l t  to  accept  tha t  th is  board  member  was 

genu ine ly  o f  the  v iew tha t  there  wou ld  have  been 

condonat ion  gran ted but  pe rhaps th is  was the  so r t  o f  th ing  

wh ich  the  board  members  be l ieved.   I  f ind  i t  hard  to  

be l ieve .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then a t  the  end o f  the  a f f idav i t ,  

878,  under  the  head ing  Conc lus ion ,  8 .1 :  

“The above fac tors  in fo rmat ion  a t  the  board ’s  

d isposa l  as  we l l  as  the  lega l  op in ions sought  by  the  

board  were  cons idered dur ing  the  board  reso lu t ion  
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to  en ter  in to  the  se t t lement  ag reement  w i th  Mr  

Gama. ”  

Have you come across any lega l  op in ion  tha t  suppor ted  

tha t?  

MR TODD:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then i f  I  can  take  –  we have got  on l y  

two more  a f f idav i t s ,  to  the  a f f idav i t  o f  Mrs  Tshaba la la  a t  

page 891.   Have  you had an oppor tun i ty  o f  s tudy ing  th is  

a f f idav i t?  

MR TODD:    I  have not  s tud ied  i t .   I  be l ieve  i t  was  10 

fu rn ished to  me,  I  may have read i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  Ms Tshaba la la  a t  page 899 a t  

parag raph 23 says tha t :  

“Mr  Todd was a  l awyer  f rom Bowman Gi l f i l l an  dur ing  

the  d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing . ”  

Then i f  you drop down to  the  las t  f i ve  l ines  she says tha t :  

“ In  any event ,  a t  a  po in t  in  December  and January  

the  Transnet  board  had sought  independent  lega l  

adv ice  f rom another  in te rna t iona l  reputab le  f i rm to  

adv ise  on  the  mat te r. ”  20 

Presumably  tha t  was Deneys Re i tz .  

“The board  had seen i t  f i t  to  take  out  emot ions and  

b ias  in  the  mat te r  and t ry  and eva lua te  the  mat te r  in  

to ta l i t y  fo r  Transnet . ”  

Want  to  comment  on  tha t?  
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MR TODD:    Wel l ,  tha t  looks l i ke  a  way o f  say ing  what  I  

desc r ibed ea r l ie r  was ask ing  fo r  a  f resh  pa i r  o f  eyes  on  the  

mat te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    Bu t  wh ich  i t  i s  –  I  do  see tha t  she says  a lso  a t  

parag raph 9  a t  page 893 tha t  na tura l l y  the  board  had 

sought  lega l  adv ice  and op in ion  based on Mr  Gama’s  

p lead ings lodged  a t  the  barga in ing  counc i l  and she says 

she does not  have the  lega l  op in ion  in  her  possess ion  bu t  

the  Group Execut ive  wou ld  have secured same fo r  10 

d iscuss ion  by  the  board .    

 Aga in ,  I  do  no t  know what  op in ion  is  be ing  re fer red  

to ,  the  on ly  ones I  have seen are  Deneys  Re i tz ’s  

s ta tements  tha t  i t  had adv ised tha t  d ismissa l  was fa i r  and I  

have not  seen  any lega l  op in ion  tha t  dea ls  w i th  

condonat ion  or  the  30  cases or  anyth ing  e l se  tha t  seems to  

have been d i scussed a t  the  board  meet ing .   So i t  seems 

tha t  she in tended  to  re ly  on  lega l  adv ice  bu t  i t  i s  mystery  

what  lega l  adv i ce  tha t  was or  how i t  suppor ted  the  

dec is ion .   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then in  paragraph 24 in  the  las t  

th ree  l ines  on  page 899 she ta lks  o f  the  fac t  tha t  the  board  

appo in ted  Nkonk i  and KPMG to  look in to  mat te rs  and then  

she repor ts  on  what  they found.   Of  course  we know tha t  

tha t  came la te r.  
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MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  25 :  

“The board  o f  Transnet  took i t s  f iduc ia ry  du t ies  ve ry  

ser ious ly  in  the  Gama mat te r.   I t  s topped an 

in jus t i ce  tha t  was be ing  per fo rmed when there  was  

an overzea lous pursu i t  o f  one ind i v idua l . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR TODD:    Wel l ,  she  c lear l y  d i f fe rs  w i th  the  dec i s ion  o f  

the  H igh  Cour t  on  th is  top ic  and I  do  no t  know i f  she had 

read my repor t  on  i t  bu t  i s  rea l l y  –  appears  to  assoc ia te  10 

herse l f  fu l l y  w i th  Mr  Gama’s  percept ion  on  the  mat te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then f ina l l y  we have the  

…[ in tervenes]  

MR TODD:    I  mean -  I f  I  may jus t  add?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    She goes fu r ther  i n  paragraph  26 to  say tha t  i t  

cannot  be  tha t  those who are  be ing  persecuted fo r  be ing  

upr igh t  and s tand ing  up to  bu l l y ing  l i ke  Mr  Gama.   So she 

is  conv inced tha t  Mr  Gama was  be ing  bu l l ied  fo r  –  Mr  

Gama was be ing  persecuted fo r  s tand ing  up to  bu l l y ing .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    And …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  wonder  what  she wou ld  say i f  she  –  

we l l ,  tha t  in te res t ing  because she wou ld  have been par t  o f  

the  board  when  Mr  Gama had  accepted tha t  he  was 
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p roper ly  found gu i l t y  o f  these ac t s  o f  m isconduct .   Where  

wou ld  the  bu l l y ing  have been?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You ment ioned ear l ie r  in  your  

ev idence there  were  th ree  d i rec tors  who reappo in ted  on  

the  new board .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now can you remember  the  names o f  

those peop le?  

MR TODD:    I  be l ieve  tha t  one o f  them was Mr  Peter  Moyo.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  10 

MR TODD:    And one Ms Nt j inge la .   I  cannot  remember  who 

the  th i rd  was because those were  the  two who d id  no t  

oppose the  l i t iga t ion  brought  by  Mr  Gama to  in te rd ic t  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  p rocess.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The las t  a f f idav i t  then is  the  a f f idav i t  

o f  Mr  Moyo,  tha t  you f ind  a t  page 903.  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now Mr  Moyo adopts  a  s l igh t ly  

d i f fe ren t  approach and tha t  i s ,  I  suppose,  in  summary,  tha t  

he  was a lways o f  the  v iew r igh t  f rom the  ve ry  ou tse t  tha t  20 

Mr  Gama’s  suspens ion  and d ismissa l  was unfa i r.   Do you  

conf i rm tha t?  

MR TODD:    Yes,  he  does say tha t .   I  d id  no t  know tha t ,  I  

knew tha t  he  had not  jo ined the  l i t iga t ion  bu t  I  d id  no t  know 

tha t . . .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    I s  there  anyth ing  in  tha t  a f f idav i t  

tha t  you w ish  to  h igh l igh t?  

MR TODD:    Ja ,  I  mean,  he  says a t  paragraph 10 tha t  on  

the  issue o f  a  secur i t y  cont rac t  i t  was no rmal  fo r  Transnet  

to  go  th rough a  condonat ion  process i f  an  execut ive  

exceeded the  l im i ts  o f  the i r  au thor i t y  and he was aware  

tha t  the  Exco and the  Group CEO had condoned  conduct  

f rom o ther  execut ives  and in  some ins tances fo r  la rger  

amounts .   But  he  does not  seem to  have read e i ther  the  

fu l l  t ransc r ip t  o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  o f  even a  10 

summary o f  i t  to  –  i f  tha t  i s  the  v iew tha t  he  i s  ab le  to  take  

o f  the  GNS conduct  fo r  wh ich  Mr  Gama was charged and 

he cer ta in ly  has no t  read enough to  rea l i se  tha t  Mr  Gama 

h imse l f  regarded the  cont rac t  as  comple te ly  f raudu len t  and 

a  scam.    

So I  see tha t  and  –  bu t  i t  i s  no  doubt  so ,  i t  must  be  

so  tha t  Mr  Moyo d id  no t  be l ieve  tha t  i t  was appropr ia te  to  

d isc ip l ine  Mr  Gama.   That  i s  what  he  rea l l y  says.   He re fers  

to  Ms Nt j inge la  a t  paragraph 15,  tha t  was the  o the r  board  

member  who chose to  be  represented by  d i f fe ren t  lawyers  20 

f rom the  res t  o f  the  board .  because we d id  no t  fu l l y  agree  

w i th  how the  d isc ip l inary  process had been hand led .   That  

i s  a t  page 906.   And he then says tha t  when a  new board  

was appo in ted  he  re i te ra ted  h is  v iews.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  th is  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Moyo he 
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appears  on ly  to  dea l  w i th  the  secur i t y  cont rac t  and the  50  

l i ke  new locomot ives .   Do you f ind  any re ference here  to  

th i rd  charge,  d ismissa l  fo r  hav ing  cr i t i c i sed the  board  and  

execut ives?  

MR TODD:    No.   I t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  he  regards tha t  as  

en t i re l y  jus t i f iab le  i f  h is  v iew was  tha t  Mr  Gama was be ing  

unfa i r l y  d isc ip l ined,  I  do  no t  know,  bu t  he  does not  seem to  

re fer  to  i t ,  you  are  r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then,  Mr  Todd,  I  want  to  end o f f  your  

ev idence or  sub jec t  to  any quest ions the  Cha i rperson may 10 

have,  by  tak ing  you back to  Mr  Mkhwanaz i ’s  a f f idav i t  and 

th is  i s  in  bund le  4A.  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    4A .   Cou ld  I  ask  you to  tu rn  to  page  

19 p lease,  one n ine .   Paragraph 10.1 ,  Mr  Mkhwanaz i  says  

tha t :  

“When Br ian  Mole fe  jo ined the  Transnet  board  he  

was ins t ruc ted  to  take  d isc ip l inary  ac t ion  aga ins t  a l l  

o f f i c ia ls  imp l ica ted  in  the  KPMG and Nkonk i  repor t . ”  

Now I  jus t  wanted to  ge t  your  v iew,  i s  tha t  a  way tha t  you 20 

can dea l  w i th  incons is tency i f  i t  a r i ses?  I  mean,  does i t  

necessar i l y  fo l low tha t  the  on ly  way to  dea l  w i th  

incons is tency is  to  no t  take  d isc ip l inary  ac t ion  aga ins t  an  

o f fender  o r  to  re ins ta te  an  o f fender?  

MR TODD:    Cer ta in ly,  th is  i s  what  –  i f  my adv ice  had been  
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sought  I  wou ld  have adv ised them tha t  i f  you  f ind  conduct  

tha t  war ran ts  d isc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  by  sen ior  execut ives  and 

i f  you f ind  conduct  s im i la r  to  tha t  o f  Mr  Gama then you are  

dea l ing  w i th  execut ives  who are  no t  f i t  fo r  o f f i cer  and 

shou ld  be  removed f rom o f f i ce  in  the  same way.   So tha t  

wou ld  have been the  adv ice  I  wou ld  have g iven and  I  th ink  

tha t  i s  good to  see.   What  i s  surpr is ing  is  t ha t  you wou ld  

f i rs t  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama… 

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then take  ac t ions aga ins t  o thers .  10 

MR TODD:    And then take  s teps aga ins t  o the rs  who,  in  

respect  o f  whom,  you now se t  –  I  mean i t  i s  –  you get  in to 

an  ch icken and an egg because i f  in  fac t  you shou ld  be  

d isc ip l in ing  and d ismiss ing  the  o thers  then you th ink  oh ,  

we l l  now I  have re ins ta ted  Gama to  be  cons is ten t  w i th  th is  

bu t  I  had bet te r  d ismiss  h im aga in  because I  ac tua l l y  want  

to  d ismiss  th i s  pe rson.   I  mean i t  rea l l y  jus t  does not  make 

any sense.    

 Wel l ,  10 .1  makes a  lo t  o f  sense  but  i t  comple te l y  

undermines any  exp lanat ion  tha t  these invest iga t ions  20 

war ran ted the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And a lso ,  I  mean,  to  your  

cons is tency po in t ,  wou ld  i t  have been poss ib le  to  d ismiss  

any o f  these peop le  g iven what  happened to  Mr  Gama? 

MR TODD:    You  found conduct  on  a l l  fours  o f  Mr  Gama,  
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your  own devot ion  to  cons is tency wou ld  requ i re  you to  g ive 

them a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  fo r  s i x  months .  

 So tha t  i s  the  prob lem tha t   we had h igh l igh ted  to  

them,  you se t  a  new s tandard  w i th in  Transnet  o f  conduct  

w i th in  Transnet  o f  sen ior  execut ives  and how we t rea t  

conduct  o f  tha t  k ind  and tha t  i s  what  they d id  when they 

chose to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama.  

MR TODD:    Mr  Cha i rman,  tha t  comple tes  my examinat ion  

o f  Mr  Todd.   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you ve ry  much,  Mr  Todd,  and 10 

thank you fo r  be ing  ava i lab le  t i l l  th is  t ime to  ass is t  the  

Commiss ion ,  we  apprec ia te  i t  very  much.   I  th ink  your  

ev idence has rea l l y  he lped to  en l i gh ten  some o f  the  areas 

tha t  m ight  have  been unc lear  par t i cu la r ly  because you  

have the  background o f  hav ing  been the  a t to rney who was  

invo lved a t  the  t ime.   Thank you very  much,  you are  now 

excused.  

MR TODD:    Thank you very  much.  

CHAIRPERSON:    We wi l l  ad journ  now.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    And then tomorrow we wi l l  hea r  Mr  

Mkhwanaz i ’s  ev idence.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  Cha i rperson,  you w i l l  reca l l  tha t  

he  is  go ing  to  g ive  ev idence by  way o f  a  v ideo l ink .   

A r rangements  have been put  in  p lace .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And we are  go ing  to  have a  tes t  run  

a t  n ine  o ’c lock  tomorrow morn ing  so  hopefu l l y  we  w i l l  be  

ready fo r  you a t  ten .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t .    Okay,  we ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 16 OCTOBER 2020  
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